# STRUCTURE AND FUNCTION OF DESMOSOMES

Bastian Holthöfer,\* Reinhard Windoffer,\* Sergey Troyanovsky,<sup>†</sup> and Rudolf E. Leube<sup>\*</sup>

#### Contents

1. Introduction	66
2. Morphology	67
2.1. Ultrastructure of desmosomes	67
2.2. Morphological diversity of desmosomes and related juncti	ons 70
3. Molecular Architecture	72
3.1. Desmosomal cadherins	72
3.2. Desmosomal plaque components	80
3.3. Cell type specificity of desmosomal composition	89
4. Biogenesis	97
4.1. Desmosome formation during development	97
4.2. Experimental analysis of desmosomal biogenesis	98
5. Dynamics	100
5.1. Desmosome dynamics during interphase and mitosis	100
5.2. Calcium-dependent alterations of desmosomes	101
5.3. Phosphorylation-dependent alterations of desmosomes	106
5.4. Regulators of desmosomal adhesion	107
6. Imbalance of Desmosomal Protein Synthesis in Transgenic Mic	e 108
6.1. Reduced production of desmosomal proteins	108
6.2. Overproduction and ectopic synthesis of wild-type and mu	tant
desmosomal proteins	117
7. Interplay Between Desmosomes and Other Cell Components	118
7.1. Crosstalk with adherens junctions	118
7.2. Crosstalk with cytoskeletal filaments	120
7.3. Crosstalk with the nucleus	121
8. Desmosomes and Disease	123
8.1. Genetic diseases	123
8.2. Autoimmune diseases	129

 \* Department of Anatomy and Cell Biology, Johannes Gutenberg University, 55128 Mainz, Germany
 <sup>†</sup> Department of Internal Medicine (Dermatology), Washington University Medical School, St. Louis, Missouri 63110

International Review of Cytology, Volume 264	© 2007 Elsevier Inc.
ISSN 0074-7696, DOI: 10.1016/S0074-7696(07)64003-0	All rights reserved.

8.3. Bacterial toxins	132
8.4. Cancer	133
9. Concluding Remarks	135
Acknowledgments	135
References	136

#### Abstract

Desmosomes are prominent adhesion sites that are tightly associated with the cytoplasmic intermediate filament cytoskeleton providing mechanical stability in epithelia and also in several nonepithelial tissues such as cardiac muscle and meninges. They are unique in terms of ultrastructural appearance and molecular composition with cell type–specific variations. The dynamic assembly properties of desmosomes are important prerequisites for the acquisition and maintenance of tissue homeostasis. Disturbance of this equilibrium therefore not only compromises mechanical resilience but also affects many other tissue functions as becomes evident in various experimental scenarios and multiple diseases.

*Key Words:* Desmoglein, Desmocollin, Plakoglobin, Plakophilin, Desmoplakin, Cadherin, Pemphigus, Cancer. © 2007 Elsevier Inc.

# 1. INTRODUCTION

Cell–cell adhesions are crucial for the function of multicellular organisms by providing mechanical stability and facilitating signal transmission between neighboring cells. Among the numerous cell–cell adhesion structures desmosomes are probably those that are most dedicated to mechanical coupling. Their high degree of adhesive strength is based on multiple and extremely strong noncovalent interactions between its molecular constituents. This architecture requires highly coordinated mechanisms of assembly to avoid premature association during synthesis and ectopic aggregation in various cell compartments during transport of its individual polypeptide components. Complex regulatory pathways exist to attenuate adhesive strength to specific requirements by coordinating the balance between assembly and disassembly and by controlling polypeptide turnover and degradation.

Desmosomes are especially abundant in skin and cardiac muscle, both of which have to withstand considerable mechanical stress. If these multiple "spot welds," referred to as maculae adhaerentes, are weakened either by mutation of their proteinaceous components or by environmental factors such as autoantibodies or specific microbial proteases, blisters form in the epidermis and rupture of cardiomyocytes occurs in the heart. The mechanical stability depends in large part on the tight association of desmosomes with the intermediate filament cytoskeleton (Fig. 3.1A). While the biomechanical aspects of desmosomal function are clearly in the foreground, desmosomes are not only inert intercellular Velcro but are dynamically integrated into cell communication and signaling thereby determining properties of cell assemblies as distinct morphogenetic and functional entities that are capable of adapting to specific environments. These properties are becoming more and more apparent as *in vivo* experimentation using transgenic cell and animal systems increases in sophistication, revealing unexpected contributions of desmosomal components to diverse tissue functions.

Given the cornucopia of excellent reviews on cell-cell adhesion and, in particular, on desmosomes (Burdett, 1998; Cheng and Koch, 2004; Chidgey, 2002; Coulombe, 2002; Dusek et al., 2007; Garrod et al., 2002; Getsios et al., 2004b; Green and Gaudry, 2000; Huber, 2003; Jamora and Fuchs, 2002; Kottke et al., 2006; Kowalczyk et al., 1999a; Yin and Green, 2004), we will especially focus on the complexity of desmosomal composition in different cell types, concentrate on the phenotypes observed in transgenic animals with defined molecular alterations of desmosomal components, and summarize the current knowledge on human diseases that are caused by specific desmosomal deficiencies. We intend to portray desmosomes as dynamic structures that are subject to modulation and are integrated into cellular-signaling cascades. Particular emphasis will be on the contribution of desmosomal cadherins to desmosomal function, since they are at the core of these adhesion sites not only participating directly in the adhesive process by transcellular interactions but also by providing the scaffolding onto which cytoplasmic polypeptides are recruited to mediate the anchorage of the intermediate filament cytoskeleton and to initiate manifold intracellular events.

# 2. MORPHOLOGY

# 2.1. Ultrastructure of desmosomes

The Italian medical doctor Bizzozero detected desmosomes in the nineteenth century as tiny nodules by light microscopy (Bizzozero, 1864). He also recognized their bridging function between cells (Bizzozero, 1870), which had been postulated a few years before by Schrön (1865). The term desmosome, which is derived from the Greek words ó  $\delta\varepsilon\sigma\mu$ óς (tie) and τὸ  $\sigma\omega\mu\alpha$  (body), was introduced by Schaffer in 1920. Upon the availability of transmission electron microscopes, the conspicuous ultrastructural morphology of desmosomes and their attached material in epidermis and other multilayered epithelia caught the attention of several morphologists (Horstmann and Knoop, 1958; Karper, 1959; Kelly, 1966; Odland, 1958; Porter, 1956). These early reports described quite accurately the insertion of densely packed "tonofibrils" into the electron-dense plaque region and the



**Figure 31** Detection of desmosomes by immunofluorescence microscopy (A) and electron microscopy (B, C). (A) Spontaneously immortalized murine mammary epithelial cells of line EpH4 (Fialka *et al.*, 1996) were reacted with monoclonal desmoplakin antibodies DP 2.15/2.17/2.20 (from Progen, Heidelberg, Germany) in combination with Cy2-conjugated secondary antibodies, with rat monoclonal antikeratin intermediate filament antibody TROMA1 (Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank, University of Iowa) in combination with Cy3-labeled secondary antibodies, and with DAPI (nuclear stain). Note the anchorage of keratin intermediate filaments at desmosomal junctions thereby creating a transcellular cytoplasmic network. Bar: 10  $\mu$ m. (B, C) Electron microscopy of human epidermis depicting multiple desmosomes cut at different angles in the survey (B) and at higher magnification (C). The position of the characteristic midline (ML) dividing the extracellular desmoglea in the desmosomal cleft between the adjacent plasma membranes (PM) with distinct filamentous substructures and the

presence of defined substructures in the intercellular space with a prominent midline. While suprabasal epidermal keratinocytes are decorated by multiple desmosomes throughout their entire surface, polarized epithelial cells produce desmosomes as part of a defined tripartite junctional complex (Farquhar and Palade, 1963). This complex consists of two circumferential belts, the zonula occludens, also referred to as the tight junction, and the zonula adhaerens or intermediary junction, in combination with the button-like maculae adhaerentes (i.e., the spot desmosomes) (Farquhar and Palade, 1963). The three different adhesion sites are arranged in an apicobasal order. This classical arrangement is typically found in the intestinal mucosa, but also occurs in the mucosal epithelium of the stomach, gallbladder, uterus, and oviduct, and was identified in other polarized glandular and duct epithelia of the liver, pancreas, salivary glands, stomach, and thyroid gland as well as in epithelial cells of the nephron (Farquhar and Palade, 1963; Kelly, 1966; Staehelin, 1974). It was soon realized that desmosomes are not restricted to epithelia but are also present in the junctional complexes of the disci intercalares of cardiomyocytes including cardiac Purkinje fiber cells (Fawcett and Selby, 1958; Sjostrand et al., 1958), in meningeal cells (Gusek, 1962), and in follicular dendritic cells of lymph nodes (Muller-Hermelink and Caesar, 1969; Swartzendruber, 1965).

All desmosomes share distinct morphological hallmarks (Fig. 3.1B and C). The abutting plasma membranes are separated by a defined intercellular cleft of  $\sim 24$  nm (range 22 to 50 nm in vertebrates), which is slightly more than that observed in the zonula adhaerens (Farguhar and Palade, 1963). The intercellular space, which is penetrable by water and ions, is filled with electron-dense material, the desmoglea. In mature desmosomes a distinct stratum can be discerned in the middle that is unique to desmosomes and is referred to as the midline (Odland, 1958). Often cross bridges between the midline and the plasma membrane are discernible with intercalated particles that are spaced 7 to 8 nm apart and are best seen after lanthanum infiltration (Kelly, 1966; Rayns et al., 1969; Staehelin, 1974). High-resolution electron tomography of plastic sections revealed intertwined and presumably flexible cross bridges (He et al., 2003), whereas micrographs of native vitrified material depicted straight staggered filamentous structures with a 5-nm periodicity (Al-Amoudi et al., 2004, 2005). Interestingly, wounding leads to loss of the midline and reduction of the intercellular cleft in desmosomes of adjacent cells in epidermis and cultured monolayers (Garrod et al., 2005; Wallis et al., 2000).

location of the outer dense plaque (ODP) that is separated from the keratin filamentanchoring inner dense plaque (IDP) by a zone of reduced staining are all demarcated in C'. Bars: 250 nm (B); 50 nm (C). (The electron micrographs were kindly provided by Dr. Jastrow, Department of Anatomy and Cell Biology, Johannes Gutenberg University, Mainz.)

Plaque diameters range between 0.2  $\mu$ m and 0.5  $\mu$ m in most instances but may be as small as 0.1  $\mu$ m or as large as several micrometers (Moll *et al.*, 1986; Staehelin, 1974). They are discoid or oval shaped. An inner, less dense plaque facing the cytoplasm and an outer, denser plaque that is adjacent to the plasma membrane, best seen in desmosome-rich tissues, are also distinguished (Burdett, 1998; Kowalczyk *et al.*, 1999a; North *et al.*, 1999). Both plaque partitions are 15 to 20 nm in size and are separated by a 10- to 20-nm gap. The desmosome-associated intermediate filament bundles converge on the inner plaque where they fray out into protofilamentous subunits. They loop in a more-or-less wide arc through the electron-dense material 40 to 70 nm away from the plasma membrane, but do not end there (Kelly, 1966; North *et al.*, 1999). Often, multiple desmosomes are linked by filament bundles (Lentz and Trinkaus, 1971; Tamarin and Sreebny, 1963; Troyanovsky *et al.*, 1993).

# 2.2. Morphological diversity of desmosomes and related junctions

All adhering junctions are characterized by prominent cytoplasmic plaques and attached cytoskeletal filaments. They can be subdivided into two major groups: desmosomes and adhaerens junctions. It is generally accepted that the term desmosome (macula adherens) should be used exclusively for the spot-like adhesion sites that anchor intermediate filaments and that are the topic of this chapter. In contrast, the other adhering junctions, which, on the basis of their morphology, have been referred to as belt desmosomes (zonulae adhaerentes), puncta adhaerentia, or fasciae adhaerentes, and anchor actin filaments are grouped as adherens or intermediate junctions.

Desmosomes vary in size despite their overall uniform appearance. Small desmosomes and those lacking a distinct midline and plaque morphology have been referred to as nascent, immature, or simplified desmosomes assuming that they represent primitive junctions. Accordingly, these small desmosomes have been detected in early embryonic stages and *in vitro* during desmosome assembly (Dembitzer *et al.*, 1980; Jackson *et al.*, 1980). Growth of desmosomes may occur by coalescence of such precursors (Gloushankova *et al.*, 2003; Windoffer *et al.*, 2002). Desmosomal size and morphology vary between tissues and different situations (for direct comparison see, e.g., Cowin *et al.*, 1985). Large desmosomes are generally present in tissues that are subject to intense mechanical stress. In addition, size differences have been noted between different epidermal body sites and strata (Wan *et al.*, 2003). Furthermore, desmosome morphology is subject to regulation during terminal differentiation in the epidermis leading to the formation of transition desmosomes, which further mature into

corneodesmosomes in the stratum corneum (Al-Amoudi *et al.*, 2005; Skerrow *et al.*, 1989). Conversely, desmosomes lacking a distinct midline were detected in wounded epidermis and cultured cells that may represent dedifferentiated desmosomes with reduced adhesive properties (Garrod *et al.*, 2005; Wallis *et al.*, 2000). Interestingly, it has been observed that carcinomas with a low degree of differentiation and poor prognosis appear to present smaller desmosomes (Oliveira Crema *et al.*, 2005).

It has long been known that removal of calcium in culture media or proteolytic treatment of cultured cells results in desmosomal dissociation and formation of half desmosomes in the cytoplasm that remain associated with intermediate filaments (Demlehner *et al.*, 1995; Duden and Franke, 1988; Kartenbeck *et al.*, 1982; Mattey and Garrod, 1986). Furthermore, complete desmosomal entities have been detected in the cytoplasm of skin keratinocytes upon wounding, in carcinomas, and, occasionally, in normal keratinocytes (Garrod *et al.*, 2005; Komura and Watanabe, 1975; Schenk, 1975). While the physiological function of these intracellular desmosomal fragments is not clear at present, such findings indicate that epithelial cells are able to endocytose large areas of their intercellular contacts including even entire adjoining desmosomal halves (see also below).

Hemidesmosomes—not to be confused with cytoplasmic desmosome halves—are morphologically but not compositionally related to desmosomes (Litjens *et al.*, 2006). They are adhesion sites occurring in basal cells of stratified and complex epithelia mediating the attachment of basal keratinocytes to the extracellular matrix. Similar to desmosomes they anchor keratin filaments that loop through an electron-dense plaque.

Recent observations suggest that the hitherto recognized adhering junctions do not fully represent the *in vivo* complexity of these adhesion sites. With the advent of molecular markers, multitudes of compositionally and structurally distinct entities have emerged. Examples include the complexus adhaerentes occurring in special vascular endothelia, notably the retothelial cells of lymph nodes (Schmelz and Franke, 1993; Schmelz *et al.*, 1994; Valiron *et al.*, 1996), the contactus adhaerentes detected in the cerebellar granule layer (Hollnagel *et al.*, 2002; Rose *et al.*, 1995), the area composita in the intercalated discs of cardiomyocytes (Borrmann *et al.*, 2006; Franke *et al.*, 2006), the junctions between photoreceptors and adjacent Müller glia cells (Paffenholz *et al.*, 1999), and the complex cortex adhaerens of lens fiber cells (Straub *et al.*, 2003).

The presence of desmosomes is not restricted to mammals. Desmosomes have been described in all vertebrates examined to date including the clawed frog *Xenopus laevis* and the zebrafish *Danio rerio*, both of which produce desmosomal components with high sequence similarities to their mammalian counterparts (Martin and Grealy, 2004; Ohga *et al.*, 2004). Desmosome-like structures have been reported in other nonvertebrate species as well, extending all the way to the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*,

whose continuous adhesion belts are part of the apical junction that shares structural and compositional features with the zonula adhaerens. These sites contain the E-cadherin ortholog HMR-1 and the  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -catenin orthologs HMP-1 and HMP-2, respectively, in their apical subunit (Knust and Bossinger, 2002). Furthermore, punctate adhesion sites are present in the hypodermis of *C. elegans* anchoring the intermediate filament cytoskeleton to the extracellular matrix in a hemidesmosome-type fashion, thereby providing mechanical continuity between muscle cells on one site and the cuticle on the other (Michaux *et al.*, 2001).

# 3. MOLECULAR ARCHITECTURE

Desmosomes are tightly packed assemblies of specific polypeptides that can be grouped into the membrane-spanning desmosomal cadherins and the cytoplasmic desmosomal plaque constituents. The transmembrane components comprising the desmogleins (Dsgs) and desmocollins (Dscs) bridge the extracellular space and are embedded in the cytoplasmic plaques. As such, they are dual-function molecules that are instrumental in the direct association with corresponding molecules in the neighboring cells and provide, at the same time, platforms for desmosomal plaque assembly in the adjacent cytoplasms. In addition, their strategic location may aid in signal transmission either outside-in or inside-out. The plaque components mediate the anchorage of the cytoplasmic intermediate filaments and promote clustering of the desmosomal cadherins. Two types of plaque molecule are distinguished. One type is characterized by multiple repeats of the so-called arm-motif and performs various functions in different cellular compartments. This group includes plakoglobin (PG) and several plakophilin isoforms (PPs1-3). The other plaque molecules are large cytoskeletal linker molecules that are referred to as plakins. Desmoplakin (DP) is the major desmosomal plakin. A schematic diagram of the main desmosomal polypeptides and their arrangement is presented in Fig. 3.2. Given that these interactions occur in three-dimensional space, that they are not static, that different binding partners may compete for the same or mutually exclusive binding domains, and, finally, that these interactions are subject to regulation, it is possible to obtain a glimpse of the true in vivo complexity of the resulting adhesion sites and their dynamics in health and disease.

#### 3.1. Desmosomal cadherins

The desmosomal single-pass type I transmembrane glycoproteins are encoded by two multigene families, the desmocollins and desmogleins, that are synthesized in context-dependent combinations (Garrod *et al.*, 2002; Getsios *et al.*, 2004b). These proteins belong to the cadherin superfamily of



**Figure 3.2** Scheme presenting the hypothetical arrangement of major desmosomal components. The scheme encompasses the symmetrical cytoplasmic plaques with inner and outer dense substructures, the plasma membranes (PM), and the intercellular cleft that is filled with the electron-dense material of the desmoglea and that is subdivided by the central midline (ML). Desmosomal cadherins of the desmoglein type (red) and desmocollin type (orange) are drawn as  $\lambda$ -, W-, and S-shaped multimers according to He *et al.* (2003). They bind to the globular plaque components plakoglobin (blue) and plakophilin (yellow), which, in turn, associate with the elongated desmoplakin dimers (blue). For simplicity, only the smaller desmoplakin variant II is integrated into the scheme, which connects the inner and outer desmosomal plaque (IDP, ODP) and probably binds to untwisted intermediate filaments (green).

calcium-dependent cell–cell adhesion molecules. In addition to the two groups of desmosomal cadherins, classical type I and atypical type II cadherins can be distinguished, all of which share characteristic extracellular cadherin (EC) domains (Nollet *et al.*, 2000). According to the consensus nomenclature (Buxton *et al.*, 1993) the desmosomal cadherin genes are referred to as DSC1, DSC2, and DSC3 coding for desmocollins (Dscs) and as DSG1, DSG2, DSG3, and DSG4 encoding the four desmogleins (Dsgs; scheme in Fig. 3.3). They are synthesized in a cell type– and development-dependent fashion. Furthermore, each of the DSC genes gives rise to variants a and b, which result from differential splicing of the last exons leading to Dscs differing only in their most carboxy-terminal domain.



**Figure 3.3** Genomic organization of desmosomal cadherins in human and mouse. The maps of the desmosomal cadherin gene clusters on the long arm of human chromosome 18 and the long arm of murine chromosome 18 are shown. Note that the direction of transcription for DSCs (top) and DSGs (bottom) is in an opposite orientation, while the various isoforms are transcribed in the same orientation. The murine gene cluster contains three DSG1-related gene loci that originated most likely from gene duplications. DSG1 $\alpha$  is also occasionally referred to as DSG1, DSG1 $\beta$  as DSG5, and DSG1 $\gamma$  as DSG6.

All desmosomal cadherin genes are directly adjacent to each other on the long arm of chromosome 18 in humans with opposite directions of transcription for the DSC and DSG genes (see Fig. 3.3; Cowley *et al.*, 1997). A very similar arrangement is also found on mouse chromosome 18, which, however, presents two additional DSG genes that are most closely related to DSG1 (see Fig. 3.3). They are referred to as DSG1 $\beta$  (alternatively DSG5) and DSG1 $\gamma$  (alternatively DSG6) and are distinguished from the human DSG1 ortholog DSG1 $\alpha$ /DSG1 (Kljuic and Christiano, 2003; Pulkkinen *et al.*, 2003; Whittock, 2003). Overall, it is safe to conclude that the desmosomal cadherin genes arose by divergent evolution of duplicated genes. Desmosomal cadherins have been observed in many vertebrate species including X. *laevis*, in which case cross-reactivity of antibodies against bovine Dsgs was reported (Ohga *et al.*, 2004).

The phylogenetic tree in Fig. 3.4 highlights features of desmosomal cadherin evolution presenting comparisons of isoforms identified in human, chimpanzee, mouse, rat, cow, and dog (see also Suzuki, 1996;



**Figure 3.4** Phylogenetic tree of desmosomal cadherins from *Homo sapiens* (hsa), *Pan troglotydes* (ptr), *Mus musculus* (mmu), *Rattus norvegicus* (rno), *Bos taurus* (bta), and *Canis familiaris* (cfa). For comparison the two classical human cadherins E-cadherin (E-cad) and N-cadherin (N-cad) are included. The tree was rooted with the unrelated human protocadherin (Proto-cad). The phylogenetic tree underscores the common ancestry of the various Dsg and Dsc isoforms that are approximately equidistant to each other and the classical

Nollet *et al.*, 2000). The comparisons demonstrate the conserved nature of each desmosomal cadherin family and their divergence from classical and type II cadherins as well as the equidistant relationship of desmosomal and classical cadherins from protocadherins. It is interesting to note, however, that on the basis of comparing the first extracellular domain, desmosomal cadherins are less distant from classical cadherins than type II cadherins from classical cadherins (Nollet *et al.*, 2000). The specific isoform assignments of several DSG- and DSC-like gene sequences from chicken (predicted DSG2-like XM\_42608, predicted DSG4-like XM\_426082, and DSC2-like XM\_426081) were not conclusive given the existing ambiguities in the proposed gene structure and questionable sequence fidelity. Yet, an overall sequence correlation was readily apparent (not shown).

The domain structures of desmosonal cadherins are exemplified in Fig. 3.5 for Dsg2 and Dsc2. Most prominent are the EC domains E1–E4 [the extracellular anchor region (EA) is also referred to as EC5]. EC domains have been crystallized in the case of the three different classical cadherins (Boggon *et al.*, 2002; Overduin *et al.*, 1995; Shapiro *et al.*, 1995) and also of the three type II cadherins (Patel *et al.*, 2006). The resulting structural data revealed that the EC domains of these two rather distant cadherin families with less than 50% sequence similarity share the same basic design: They are folded into seven-stranded  $\beta$ -barrels. The EC domains are connected by flexible linkers forming calcium-binding pockets each of which accommodates up to three calcium ions. Molecular modeling allows an easy fit of these experimentally determined structures onto the corresponding Dsc2 domains (Garrod *et al.*, 2005). Despite these apparent structural similarities, the extracellular domains of the desmosomal cadherins present several unique features. Most striking is the observation that structural changes induced by

cadherins. It is based on amino acid alignment of the extracellular domains by a neighborjoining algorithm using the PAM matrix and Dayhoff's model of amino acid evolution with pairwise deletion and 1000 replications. The bar at the bottom equals 0.5 PAM distance and the numbers at the branch points represent the supporting bootstrap values. The following accession numbers were used for the calculations: Dsg1-hsa: NM.001942.1; Dsg1-ptr: XM.523899.2; Dsg1a-mmu: XM.484705.3; Dsg1b-mmu: NM.181682.1; Dsg1cmmu: NM.181680.1; Dsg1a-rno: XM.001054208.1; Dsg1c-rno: XM.214616.4; Dsg1-bta: NM.174045.1; Dsg1-cfa: NM.001002939.1; Dsg2-hsa: NM.001943.1; Dsg2-ptr: XM.512079.2; Dsg2-mmu: NM.007883.1; Dsg2-rno: XM.001054396.1; Dsg3-hsa: NM.001944.1; Dsg3-ptr: XM.523900.2; Dsg3-mmu: NM.030596.2; Dsg3-rno: XM.001054333.1; Dsg3-cfa: NM.001002983.1; Dsg4-hsa: NM.177986.2; Dsg4-ptr: XR.021674.1; Dsg4-mmu: NM.181564.2; Dsg4-rno: NM.199490.1; Dsg4-cfa: XM.850325.1; Dsc1-hsa: NM.024421.1; Dsc1-ptr: XM.512078.2; Dsc1-mmu: X97986.1; Dsc1-bta: NM.174044.1; Dsc1-cfa: XM.547623.2; Dsc2-hsa: NM.024422.2; Dsc2-ptr: XM.512077.2; Dsc2-mmu: L33779.1; Dsc2rno: BC101864.1; Dsc2-bta: XM.615164.2; Dsc2-cfa: XM.861837.1; Dsc3-hsa: NM.001941.2; Dsc3-ptr: XM.512076.2; Dsc3-mmu: NM.007882.2; Dsc3-rno: XM.001053804.1; Dsc3-bta: L33774.1; E-cad-hsa: NM.004360.2; N-cad-hsa: NM.001792.2; Proto-cad-hsa: NM.019120.2.



Domain structure of major desmosomal components (only one isoform is Figure 3.5 shown for each polypeptide family). The molecules are drawn as if they were linear unfolded polypeptides (amino acid scale bars are shown in the upper and lower parts of the figure). The desmosomal cadherins (Dsg2, Dsc2a, and Dsc2b) share the same extracellular features comprising an amino-terminal precursor-specific segment (P) that is cleaved off in the endoplasmic reticulum, four  ${\sim}110$  amino acid-long calcium-binding domains (E1-E4), and an extracellular anchor domain (EA) next to the membranespanning region (TM). The intracellular anchor domain (IA) is followed by the intracellular catenin-binding and cadherin-like sequence (ICS) in Dsc splice variants a and in Dsgs. The Dsc splice variants b lack this domain. Dsgs present additional segments including a short, proline-rich linker (L), the variable repeated unit domains (RUDs), and a carboxy-terminal domain (T). The plaque components PG and PPs differ in the number of their arm-repeats (A) and present divergent amino acid sequences in their terminal domains. Two alternatively spliced DP variants are shown at the bottom presenting globular amino-terminal and carboxy-terminal domains. The carboxy-terminal IF-binding regions are composed of homology units A, B, and C.

calcium depletion in Dsg1 cannot be reversed by calcium replenishment (Hanakawa *et al.*, 2003), pointing to differences in conformational stability in comparison to classical cadherins.

On the other hand, the structural similarities between classical and desmosomal cadherins can be taken as strong indications of shared functional properties such as the formation of strand dimers via the conserved tryptophane residue W2 in EC1, which was observed for C-cadherin (Boggon *et al.*, 2002). There is compelling evidence that such dimers play a pivotal role in classical cadherin-mediated adhesion (Troyanovsky, 2005). Much less is known, however, about intercadherin interactions in desmosomes. The complexity of desmosomal cadherin composition and the insolubility of desmosomes have been major impediments for standard biochemical approaches to study protein-protein interactions in desmosomes. Nevertheless, the formation of Dsg-Dsc heteromeric complexes in nonepithelial HT-1080 cells was detected by coimmunoprecipitation (Chitaev and Troyanovsky, 1997), demonstrating that desmosomal cadherins are capable of a stable dimeric association as is the case for classical cadherins. Furthermore, examination of homophilic and heterophilic interactions between Dsg and Dsc in solution showed that they are comparatively weak, which is also in accordance with observations on classical cadherins (Syed et al., 2002). The determination of the exact structure of desmosomal cadherin adhesion, however, requires further studies.

The tripeptide HAV has been identified as a crucial element in the adhesion of classical cadherins (Blaschuk *et al.*, 1990). Administration of peptides containing this motif, which is referred to as the CAR (cell adhesion recognition) site, was shown to interfere with cadherin-based adhesion. The exact reason why such peptides are able to destroy cadherin-mediated adhesion is not understood, however. Evidence for the existence of a CAR site is even less clear in the case of the desmosomal cadherins, which contain only a rather divergent sequence of the candidate site (YAT or RAL; Tselepis *et al.*, 1998). It was reported, however, that blocking peptides corresponding to the CAR sites of desmosomal cadherins interfered with proper cell type–specific positioning of luminal and myoe-pithelial cells in a three-dimensional culture system of mammary epithelial cells (Runswick *et al.*, 2001).

High-resolution imaging of frozen samples by electron tomography has considerably enhanced our ideas about the arrangement of extracellular desmosomal cadherin domains *in vivo* (He *et al.*, 2003). Groups of desmosomal cadherins connected to each other by a series of discrete knots via their amino-terminal domains were observed. Three alternative configurations were detected: W, S, and  $\lambda$  shapes. It was demonstrated that the known X-ray structure of human C-cadherin could be superimposed on these images. By further molecular modeling a crucial role could also be assigned to W2-dependent strand–dimer interactions for desmosomal

cadherin multimerization in these specific spatial arrangements. Yet, much work needs to be done to understand the molecular details regulating homooligomerization versus heterooligomerization and *cis*- versus *trans*-multimerization. Even more, it is not known why the adhesive force differs among the different desmosomal cadherins. How do different relative levels of the two types of desmosomal cadherins and the presence of different isoforms affect desmosomal stability and adhesive strength? What happens to the extracellular domains when desmosomes become calcium independent (Garrod *et al.*, 2005; Kimura *et al.*, 2006)?

The extracellular desmosomal cadherin domains are connected to the membrane-spanning segment by a short and not very well conserved extracellular anchor domain (EA and TM in Fig. 3.5). The cytoplasmic domains also exhibit an overall high degree of sequence divergence except for a short element, the intracellular 72-amino acid-long cadherin-typical sequence (ICS). This element has been shown to bind to PG, one of the major linker molecules of desmosomes that is also present in other adhering junctions (Mathur *et al.*, 1994; Roh and Stanley, 1995; Troyanovsky *et al.*, 1994a,b). Interestingly, this sequence motif is present in all Dsgs and in all Dsc splice variants a but is absent in the alternatively spliced Dsc b isoforms that are not capable of associating with PG (Troyanovsky *et al.*, 1994a), but instead interact with the plaque protein PP3 (Bonne *et al.*, 2003).

Regardless of the striking similarities between the ICS of desmosomal and classical cadherins, their binding properties differ significantly, presenting unique features. In normal epithelial cells, classical cadherins bind to both PG and  $\beta$ -catenin, whereas desmosomal cadherins associate exclusively with PG. Even more, it was observed in cultured cells that Dsg2 is unable to interact with  $\beta$ -catenin even in the absence of PG (Chitaev and Troyanovsky, 1997), although such interactions have been observed in keratinocytes of PG knockout animals (Bierkamp *et al.*, 1999). The molecular details of the interfaces between desmosomal cadherins and desmosomal plaque proteins will be described below.

Further intracellular desmosomal cadherin domains are the juxtamembranous anchor region (IA), the proline-rich linker (L), the Dsg-specific repeated unit domains (RUDs), and the terminal domain (TD; see Fig. 3.5). The juxtamembranous region plays an important function in classical cadherins, providing a binding site for the *arm*-repeat protein p120 and bearing several other motifs such as the dileucine motif that may be responsible for correct trafficking (Miranda *et al.*, 2003). It is likely that the corresponding regions in desmosomal cadherins have similar functions. Therefore, the reported binding of Dsc splice variants b to PP3 (Bonne *et al.*, 2003) and probably also PP2 (Chen *et al.*, 2002) may be mediated by the membraneproximal region and may extend to other members of the plakophilin family. Furthermore, we have shown that the IA region of Dsc1a contains a DP-binding element (Troyanovsky *et al.*, 1994b). The functions of the L and RUD segments are not clear at present but probably determine isoform- and isotype-specific properties of desmosomal cadherins.

#### 3.2. Desmosomal plaque components

#### 3.2.1. Arm-repeat domain molecules

These molecules are characterized by multiple repeats of a 42 amino acid domain that was first identified in the segment polarity gene *armadillo* in the fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster* (Peifer and Wieschaus, 1990; Riggleman *et al.*, 1989) and is hence referred to as the *arm*-repeat domain. The structure of this domain was solved for three members of this superfamily, namely for  $\beta$ -catenin (Huber *et al.*, 1997), PP1 (Choi and Weis, 2005), and importin- $\alpha$  (Kobe, 1999). It was found that each repeat is composed of three  $\alpha$ -helices and that the repeats are packed together forming a superhelix (i.e., the *arm*-repeat domain). This superhelix is bent by nonhelical inserts to different degrees and has either a positively charged groove in the case of  $\beta$ -catenin and PP1 or a negatively charged groove in the case of importin- $\alpha$ , which spans the entire domain. These grooves serve as perfect surfaces for binding to either acidic or basic protein ligands in the form of extended peptides.

Desmosomes contain several arm-repeat proteins, namely the obligatory PG encoded by the JUP gene (Aberle et al., 1995) and various plakophilins (PPs) that are encoded by corresponding single PKP genes in different chromosomal locations (Bonne et al., 1998) and are synthesized in a cell type-specific pattern (Hatzfeld, 2006; Schmidt and Jager, 2005). Multiple binding partners have been identified for these molecules that reside in various junctions, in the cytoplasm, and in the nucleoplasm, thereby resulting in complex subcellular distribution patterns depending on cell type and cell function. Even within desmosomes, a plethora of binding sites has been characterized, contributing to an association with practically all other components. Thus, they are linking molecules par excellence, and it will be a continuing challenge to order the different binding reactions with respect to each other considering that they are governed by different affinities, that they are regulated by specific protein modification, and that they most likely influence each other. A particularly attractive scenario is that the various binding sites are sequentially exposed as the arm-domain molecules change their conformation within the context of developing desmosomes and thereby provide multiple connections between the various desmosomal components resulting in their subsequent compact dense clustering.

PG, also referred to as  $\gamma$ -catenin, is a typical *arm*-repeat domain molecule. Its central *arm*-repeat domain, which is very similar to that of  $\beta$ -catenin, is flanked by the amino- and carboxy-terminal tail domains. Some authors distinguish 12 repeats in analogy to  $\beta$ -catenin (Huber *et al.*, 1997), whereas others distinguish 13 (Getsios et al., 2004b; Wahl et al., 1996; A1-A13 in Fig. 3.5). The positively charged groove of the PG arm-repeat domain provides binding sites for various ligands such as desmosomal cadherins (see above), classical cadherins (Aberle et al., 1994; Sacco et al., 1995), and components of the wnt signaling pathway such as the adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) protein (Ozawa et al., 1995; Rubinfeld et al., 1995), axin (Kodama et al., 1999; Kolligs et al., 2000), and TCF/LEF family transcription factors (Miravet et al., 2002). Each ligand is characterized by specific binding features to the arm-repeat domain resulting in different binding affinities (Choi et al., 2006). More importantly, different PG ligand complexes expose different secondary binding sites. Phosphorylation of PG and its ligands further increases the variability of complex formation (Hu et al., 2001; Miravet et al., 2003). Finally, intramolecular interactions of PG's aminoand/or carboxy-termini with the arm-repeat domain additionally enlarge the spectrum of PG-binding properties and interactions (Troyanovsky et al., 1996).

Structural analyses of the E-cadherin– $\beta$ -catenin complex showed that an extended stretch of 14 residues (region III) of E-cadherin is crucial for the interaction with the positively charged groove of the *arm*-repeat domain of  $\beta$ -catenin (Huber and Weis, 2001). Since the corresponding region III of the desmosomal cadherins share significant similarities with E-cadherin, it is not surprising that the *arm*-repeat domains of both  $\beta$ -catenin and PG are capable of interacting with Dsg. Yet, the amino– and carboxy-termini of  $\beta$ -catenin completely inhibit this interaction and may therefore explain the exclusive *in vitro* binding of Dsg and PG and the absence of Dsg– $\beta$ -catenin association (Troyanovsky *et al.*, 1996; Wahl *et al.*, 2000).

Detailed molecular analyses of the PG-binding site of Dsg1 identified several hydrophobic amino acids that presumably interact with nine hydrophobic amino acids in the arm-repeats 1-3 of PG, which are located outside the positively charged groove (Chitaev et al., 1998). This hydrophobic element of PG is also needed for the interaction with Dsc2a (Chitaev et al., 1998). Interestingly, the hydrophobic portion of Dsg that was found to be involved in the interaction with PG corresponds to the so-called "hydrophobic cap" of E-cadherin, which is located in the carboxy-terminus downstream of region III (Huber and Weis, 2001). Taken together, these observations suggest that the assembly of the PG-Dsg complex is initiated by the interaction between the hydrophobic cap of Dsg and the hydrophobic PG element. In support of this, point mutations in both regions abolished the formation of the Dsg-PG complex (Chitaev et al., 1998). Yet the same PG mutants still form a complex with E-cadherin. Furthermore, binding of Dsg to PG shields the  $\alpha$ -catenin-binding site of PG located in the same region (Aberle et al., 1996; Chitaev et al., 1998; Miravet et al., 2003; Sacco et al., 1995), thereby preventing integration of  $\alpha$ -catenin into the Dsg-PG complex.

In a consecutive step of desmosome assembly, the region adjacent to the hydrophobic portion of the Dsg tail, which corresponds to the E-cadherin region III, itself may interact with the positively charged groove of the PG arm-repeat domain, which may have been covered during the initial association step described in the previous paragraph. It was thus shown that an 11-amino acid-long stretch in the PG carboxy-terminus (K673-Q683) is important for preventing the interaction of the positively charged groove with Dsg (Troyanovsky et al., 1996). Interestingly, in 19 patients suffering from the desmosomal Naxos disease, a premature termination was noted in the middle of this element at W679 (McKoy et al., 2000). Furthermore, expression of carboxy-terminally deleted PG was shown to induce alterations in desmosome structure (Palka and Green, 1997). The transition of the Dsg-PG complex from one conformation to the next may open binding sites for other desmosomal plaque proteins such as DP or PPs. Such binding site alterations may be crucial for desmosomal assembly. Intramolecular binding of the positively charged groove to the acidic carboxy-terminal transactivation domain is interesting in light of the interdependency of the various binding domains and their different accessibility in certain situations and topologies (Zhurinsky et al., 2000). The amino- and carboxy-termini may therefore have important regulatory functions for ligand specificities, which was also suggested to be the case for the related  $\beta$ -catenin (Solanas et al., 2004).

Interactions of PG with other desmosomal components have been described including DP (Kowalczyk et al., 1997), PP2 and PP3 (Bonne et al., 2003; Chen et al., 2002), p0071 (Hatzfeld et al., 2003), and even keratins (Smith and Fuchs, 1998), although specificity and precise interfaces of these interactions have not been determined conclusively. In addition, an association of PG with DP has been shown to be influenced by Src-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation (Miravet et al., 2003). Tyrosine phosphorylation, however, induced by association with the epidermal growth factor receptor, prevents interaction with DP and favors binding to Dsgs (Gaudry et al., 2001; Hoschuetzky et al., 1994). These effects may be counteracted by phosphatases such as the leukocyte common antigen-related (LAR) protein tyrosine phosphatase (Muller et al., 1999) and protein tyrosine phosphatase kappa (Fuchs et al., 1996). In addition, PG interacts with the DF3/MUC1 transmembrane oncoprotein (Li et al., 2003; Yamamoto et al., 1997). The latter association has been shown to be subject to regulation by heregulin and epidermal growth factor (EGF), leading to nucleolar localization of the MUC1/PG complex (Li et al., 2003).

The PG-related *armadillo* gene product in *Drosophila* is involved in signal transduction in the canonical *wnt* pathway and serves a dual function as a signaling and a structural molecule that is implicated in human cancer as worked out in detail for the vertebrate ortholog  $\beta$ -catenin (Behrens, 2005; Brembeck *et al.*, 2006; Giles *et al.*, 2003). Similar to  $\beta$ -catenin and *armadillo*,

83

the amino-terminal domain of PG is subject to phosphorylation of S28 by glycogen synthase kinase-3 $\beta$  (GSK), a cytoplasmic mediator of the *wnt* signaling pathway (Kodama et al., 1999). The carboxy-terminus of PG, on the other hand, contains a transcriptional activation domain that in a complex with LEF1/TCF transcription factors facilitates gene transcription (Hecht et al., 1999; Huber et al., 1996; Maeda et al., 2004; Miravet et al., 2002; Simcha et al., 1998). In addition, PG associates with the F-box protein  $\beta$ -TrCP of the SCF E3 ubiquitin ligase complex (Sadot *et al.*, 2000). While these interactions are possibly important in *wnt*-dependent signaling, the role of PG in this process continues to be a matter of debate (Ben-Ze'ev and Geiger, 1998). Despite the apparent similarities between PG and  $\beta$ -catenin, there are also significant differences (Ben-Ze'ev and Geiger, 1998) concerning desmosomal localization, which is reserved to PG, stability, transcriptional activation, proliferative effects, and binding properties to various partners (Solanas et al., 2004). It is therefore not a surprise that mutation of either polypeptide leads to very different overall phenotypes (Bierkamp et al., 1996; Giles et al., 2003; Haegel et al., 1995; Heasman et al., 1994; Kofron et al., 1997; Ruiz et al., 1996), and caution should be taken not to extrapolate observations for one to the other.

PP1 was originally described in desmosomal preparations of bovine muzzle as the sixth largest Coomassie Blue-stained polypeptide band by sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) ("band 6 protein" of Mr 75,000; Kapprell et al., 1988). PPs are basic, positively charged desmosomal components whose main residence is in the nucleus. Based on structural analyses PPs contain probably only 9 and not 10 arm-repeats as previously suggested (cf. Hatzfeld, 2006; A1-A9 in Fig. 3.5). To date three PP isoforms are being distinguished (Hatzfeld, 1999, 2006; Schmidt and Jager, 2005). A more distantly related group of armproteins includes 120<sup>ctn</sup>, ARVC,  $\delta$ -catenin/NPRAP, and p0071 (also occasionally referred to as PP4), which are localized to adherens junctions. This group together with the PPs are referred to as the plakophilin-p120<sup>ctn</sup> family. PPs 1-3 localize to desmosomes but also occur in nuclei of many different cell types. All major desmosomal components have been identified as potential PP-binding partners including the desmosomal cadherins Dsgs1-3, Dscs1-3 splice variants a, and Dsc3 splice variant b (Bonne et al., 2003; Chen et al., 2002; Hatzfeld et al., 2000; Smith and Fuchs, 1998), DP (Hofmann et al., 2000; Kowalczyk et al., 1999a; Smith and Fuchs, 1998), PG (Bonne et al., 2003), and keratins (Bonne et al., 2003; Hatzfeld and Nachtsheim, 1996; Hatzfeld et al., 1994, 2000; Hofmann et al., 2000; Kapprell et al., 1988; Kowalczyk et al., 1999a; Smith and Fuchs, 1998). Therefore PPs are prime candidates to act as desmosomal crosslinkers. It has been reported that PPs are involved in the recruitment of DP to cell borders, and it was proposed that they provide lateral interactions between DPs (Kowalczyk et al., 1999b). Accordingly, lack of PPs results in cytoplasmic

DP aggregate formation and reduction of size and number of desmosomes (McMillan *et al.*, 2003; South *et al.*, 2003). This is, in turn, associated with a reduction of the calcium stability of desmosomes and an increase in the migration of cultured keratinocyte cell sheets (South *et al.*, 2003). Binding to the nondesmosomal linker  $\beta$ -catenin was also reported (Chen *et al.*, 2002). One surprising feature of the PP subfamily is that the known molecular interactions of all members are mediated via their amino-termini (Hatzfeld, 2006). So far, the only known function of the *arm*-repeat domain is its influence on the dynamics of the actin cytoskeleton (Hatzfeld *et al.*, 2000). Future research is needed to identify ligands of the *arm*-repeat domain groove and to examine details of the complex relationship between PPs and the cytoskeleton.

Further associations were described between PPs and signaling molecules (Chen *et al.*, 2002; Muller *et al.*, 2003) and with factors affecting RNA metabolism (Hofmann *et al.*, 2006; Mertens *et al.*, 2001) pointing to multiple, nondesmosome-related functions of PPs.

#### 3.2.2. Plakins

Plakins are humongous polypeptides that crosslink the different cytoskeletal filaments and attach them to membrane-associated complexes (Jefferson et al., 2004). They were originally identified as tethers that attach the keratin intermediate filaments to cell-cell and cell-matrix junctions (Ruhrberg and Watt, 1997). Plakins share several basic architectural features (Jefferson et al., 2004; Leung et al., 2002): The conserved plakin domain, which is responsible for interactions with plasma membrane components, is the most characteristic feature of the plakin family. It is a globular region consisting of  $\alpha$ -helical bundles that are located in the amino-terminal part of the respective molecules. The crystal structure of the plakin domain of the bullous pemphigoid antigen 1 (BPAG1) shows that it consists of two pairs of spectrin repeats that are interrupted by a putative Src-homology 3 (SH3) domain (Jefferson et al., 2007). Next to the plakin domain is the central coiled-coil rod domain, which is important for dimerization and is present in most, though not all plakins. It is flanked at the carboxy-terminus by a variable number of plakin repeat domains (PRDs) that bind to intermediate filaments. A considerable variety of this basic scheme exists among the various plakin types and the multiple splice variants of individual isoforms. In addition, actin-binding calponin-homology regions, spectrin repeats, and microtubule-binding sites may be present. Taken together, plakins are modular molecules consisting of different combinations of various binding domains.

Interestingly, plakins have been identified in the fruit fly *D. melanogaster* (Gregory and Brown, 1998) and the nematode *C. elegans* (Bosher *et al.*, 2003). The *Drosophila* gene was originally termed *kakapo* and is now referred to as *shortstop* encoding the polypeptide Shot (short for Shortstop;

Leung *et al.*, 2002). Different splice variants participate in diverse processes such as neuronal process formation, attachment of the dorsal and ventral wing surfaces, and, most importantly, junctional attachment of epidermis and muscle (Gregory and Brown, 1998; Lee *et al.*, 2000; Prokop *et al.*, 1998). A major mechanical function concerning cytoskeletal anchorage has also been reported in *C. elegans* where the plakin VAB-10 occurs as two isoforms, VAB-10A and VAB-10B, that mediate the attachment of the hypodermis to the cuticle and muscle (Bosher *et al.*, 2003).

Several plakins have been localized to desmosomes depending on the tissue type and precise cellular localization. DP is certainly the most prominent desmosomal plakin and is an obligatory desmosomal component. It is well established that DP serves as a linker between the transmembrane complex and intermediate filaments of the keratin, vimentin, and desmin type, all of which may be anchored to desmosomes depending on the cell type (e.g., Kartenbeck *et al.*, 1983, 1984; Fig. 3.6 presents typical DP immunofluorescence patterns in liver and heart). DP, however, is not only present in desmosomes but has also been detected in related junctions such as the complexus adhaerentes of specialized endothelial cell junctions (Schmelz and Franke, 1993).

The two splice variants DPI and DPII differ only in the length of their central  $\alpha$ -helical coil-coil domain but share amino- and carboxy-terminus (Fig. 3.5). Rotary shadowing electron microscopy revealed flexible dumbbelllike structures of up to 180 nm for purified DPI and up to 93 nm in the case of DPII (O'Keefe et al., 1989). While the longer splice variant DPI has been detected in all desmosome-bearing tissues, DPII mRNA could not be detected in cardiac muscle (Angst et al., 1990). This central coiled-coil domain separates the amino-terminal plakin domain from the carboxyterminal tail. The latter contains three globular PRDs, termed A, B, and C, each of which consists of 4.5 copies of a unique 38-amino acid repeat motif. Crystal structure analyses of DP-PRDs (Choi et al., 2002) revealed that this motif is composed of an 11-residue  $\beta$ -hairpin that is followed by two antiparallel  $\alpha$ -helices that are typically 8 and 14 residues long, thereby forming a groove that is lined with basic residues contributing to intermediate filament binding in cooperation with the other PRDs. Additional sequence elements within or close to the multiple tripeptide GSR repeats that are located even further downstream also contribute to intermediate filament binding in a phosphorylation-dependent manner involving specifically S2849 (Fontao et al., 2003; Stappenbeck et al., 1994).

The amino-terminal plakin domain of DP, similar to domains of other plakins, interacts with the plasma membrane-attached structure (i.e., in this instance the desmosomal plaque). Almost all desmosomal plaque components, namely the *arm*-proteins PP1, PP2, and PG, and intracellular regions of the desmosomal cadherins exhibit binding activity in various assays (Bornslaeger *et al.*, 2001; Setzer *et al.*, 2004; Smith and Fuchs, 1998;



**Figure 3.6** Indirect immunofluorescence microscopy of bovine liver (A) and rat heart (B) detecting desmosomes with murine monoclonal desmoplakin antibodies DP 2.15/2.17/2.20 (from Progen, Heidelberg, Germany). Note the decoration of bile canaliculi between hepatocytes (A) and the labeling of intercalating discs between cardiomyocytes (B). Bars: 100  $\mu$ m in A; 50  $\mu$ m in B. (The micrographs were kindly provided by Dr. Jürgen Kartenbeck, German Cancer Research Center, Heidelberg, Germany)

Troyanovsky *et al.*, 1994b). In endothelial cells DP may link to the head domain of p0071, which is, in turn, coupled to VE-cadherin (Calkins *et al.*, 2003). Additional testing is needed to further substantiate the versatility of the plakin domain of DP in an *in vivo* context. Another important issue to be clarified is the coordination between the amino-terminal plakin domain and the carboxy-terminal intermediate filament-binding domains.

The large and ubiquitous cytoskeletal crosslinker plectin is another plakin that has been localized to desmosomes (Wiche *et al.*, 1983) but appears to occur primarily in hemidesmosomes (Litjens *et al.*, 2006). Intermediate filament-binding sites were also mapped to its PRDs (Nikolic *et al.*, 1996). In contrast to the three PRDs found in DP, however, plectin contains six PRDs (Leung *et al.*, 2002). Interactions of plectin with DP were also reported (Eger *et al.*, 1997).

Envoplakin (Ruhrberg *et al.*, 1996) and periplakin (Ruhrberg *et al.*, 1997) are other plakins that were localized to desmosomes by electron microscopy. They contain either one PRD (envoplakin) or none (periplakin). Both are constituents of desmosomes and the cornified envelope of suprabasal epidermal keratinocytes (see also Leung *et al.*, 2002).

#### 3.2.3. Additional components

Further desmosomal polypeptides have been previously described, most of which have gained only limited recognition. Desmosomal specificity was demonstrated in most instances by immunolocalization of their epitopes to desmosomal junctions in suprabasal keratinocytes. It is necessary to keep in mind, however, that the surface of these cells is in large part occupied by closely spaced desmosomes and that desmosomal specificity is therefore difficult to assess conclusively. The following polypeptides have been described.

- **Desmocalmin:** This ~240-kDa polypeptide was originally isolated from bovine muzzle epidermal desmosomes (Tsukita, 1985). It binds calmodulin in a calcium-dependent manner and interacts with keratin filaments (Tsukita, 1985). Further attempts to clone and identify it have not been successful to date.
- **Keratocalmin:** This  $\sim$ 250-kDa polypeptide is also a calmodulin-binding polypeptide that has been localized to desmosomes in human epidermis (Fairley *et al.*, 1991).
- **Desmoyokin:** This is a large, ~680-kDa peripheral desmosomal protein in the upper strata of stratified bovine epithelia (Hashimoto *et al.*, 1993; Hieda and Tsukita, 1989) whose human ortholog AHNAK was originally identified as a downregulated gene in neuroblastoma and was reported to be present in the cytoplasm and nucleoplasm of cells lacking desmosomes (Shtivelman *et al.*, 1992). Detailed localization studies of desmoyokin in keratinocytes further suggested that it may not be a true desmosomal component (Masunaga *et al.*, 1995).
- Pinin: This ~140-kDa phosphoprotein was described as a facultative component of mature desmosomes (Ouyang and Sugrue, 1992, 1996) that may link keratin filaments to the desmosome (Shi and Sugrue, 2000). Its localization could not be confirmed by others who detected it primarily in the nucleus residing in nuclear "speckles" that are likely involved in RNA processing (Brandner et al., 1997, 1998). In addition, the recently described pinin RNAi-induced reduction of corneal cell–cell adhesion is most likely due to transcriptional alterations (Alpatov et al., 2004; Joo et al., 2005).
- **Erbin:** This ~180-kDa polypeptide binds via its PDZ domains to p0071, was partly colocalized with DP along the plasma membrane, and has been shown to be essential for epithelial integrity (Izawa *et al.*, 2002; Jaulin-Bastard *et al.*, 2002).



**Figure 3.7** Indirect immunofluorescence microscopy detecting desmosomal components in human tissues including the multilayered squamous epithelium lining the esophagus (A), the complex pseudostratified tracheal epithelium (B), the simple mucosal epithelium of the colon (C), and simple glandular epithelium from bovine snout (D; tangential section on top, transverse section through acinus on bottom; lu, lumen). Note also the abundance of desmosomes in an extensive squamous cell metaplasia of the

**Corneodesmosin:** This 52- to 56-kDa phosphorylated glycoprotein was detected in upper layers of human epidermis and the inner root sheath of hair follicles (Levy-Nissenbaum *et al.*, 2003; Simon *et al.*, 2001). It is secreted and becomes integrated into the desmosomal gap in the upper granular and cornified layers of the epidermis (Simon *et al.*, 1997, 2001). It may stabilize desmosomes by acting as a homophilic adhesion molecule (Jonca *et al.*, 2002) and is covalently associated with the cornified envelope (Simon *et al.*, 1997). Its progressive proteolytic degradation further suggests a function in desquamation (Simon *et al.*, 1997, 2001).

# 3.3. Cell type specificity of desmosomal composition

Broad-reactive antibodies against the major desmosomal polypeptides have been used to determine the distribution of desmosomes in various normal tissues and also in metaplastic or cancerous lesions (examples are shown in Fig. 3.7). The polypeptide composition of desmosomes, however, varies among different tissue types and even within certain subcompartments of a given tissue. This variability is due to synthesis of different isoforms of obligatory desmosomal components and to the facultative presence of additional, nonessential constituents. Although the knowledge of the cell type–dependent composition of desmosomes has increased considerably during the past few years, its significance for specific desmosomal properties remains largely unknown.

Table 3.1 summarizes results for the tissue-specific synthesis of the desmosomal cadherins in human, cow, and mouse. Differences in the reported patterns of synthesis can be accounted for by various explanations. First and most important, the various detection methods used differ considerably in their respective sensitivity (e.g., reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction [RT-PCR] versus Northern blot hybridization) and their specific limitations (e.g., Northern blot versus immunoblot or immunoblot versus immunofluorescence). Second, tissues often present variable differentiation features depending on their precise location and functional requirements (e.g., foreskin epidermis versus trunk epidermis or palmar/plantar epidermis). Third, species differences have to be taken into account (e.g., the differing histology of the stomach of ruminating and nonruminating animals). Even when keeping these aspects in mind, it is very difficult to delineate distinct "expression rules" as has been suggested earlier (Getsios *et al.*, 2004b).

bronchial epithelium (E) and a tumor islet of a pulmonary squamous cell carcinoma (F). In each instance, surrounding connective tissue (ct) is negative. Primary antibodies used were murine monoclonal DP antibodies DP 2.15/2.17/2.20 and monoclonal Dsg antibodies DG 3.10 (from Progen). Bars: 25  $\mu$ m in D; 50  $\mu$ m in A–C, E, F. (Figure 3.7D was provided by Dr. Jürgen Kartenbeck.)

	Dsg1/Dsg1α	Dsg1β/ Dsg5	Dsg1γ/ Dsg6	Dsg2	Dsg3	Dsg4	Dsc1	Dsc2	Dsc3
blastocyst E7 E11/E11.5 E12.5 E13.5	$\begin{array}{c} -22;27;32\\ -22;27;32\\ (+)^{10c,d,c}/-^{10g}\\ +^{10c,f;11}/-^{4;10a,b}\end{array}$	27;32 27;32	32 32	+7+22;32+22;32+10c,d,e,f,g+10a,b,e,f	$^{+22;32}_{+22;32}_{(+)^{10c}/+^{10c}/-^{10d,g}_{+^{10c}/-^{10a,b}_{+^{10c}}}$	-5 + 32 + 32 + 32	$^{-10c,d,e,g}_{(+)}$	+ $^{4,5}$ + $^{10c,d,e,f_{R}}$ + $^{10a,b,e,f}$ + $^{10a,b,e,f}$	$+^{4}/-^{4}$ (+) <sup>5</sup> + <sup>5;106,d,e</sup> /- <sup>10g</sup> + <sup>5;10b,e,f</sup> /- <sup>8a</sup>
E14/E14.5	$(+)_{g}^{10c}/+{}^{3;10a,d,f}/-{}^{10b,}$	$+^{3}$	$+^{3}$	$+^{10a,b,c,d,f,g}$	$(+)^{10c,d}_{10b}/+^{3;10a,f,g}/$		$+^{10f}/-^{10a,b,c,d,g}$	$+^{10a,b,c,d,f,g}$	$+\frac{5;10a,b,c,d,f}{10g}/$
E15/15.5	$+^{10a,b,c,d,e;11;22;27;32}$	_27;32	-32	$+^{10a,b,c,d,e;22;32}$	$(+)^{10c}_{d;22;32}/^{10a,b,}_{10e}$	+32	+ <sup>10e;11</sup> / <sub>10a,b,c,d</sub>	$+^{10a,b,c,d,e}$	$+^{5;10a,b,c,d,e}$
E16.5/17 stomach rumen	$+\frac{10g,f;11;22;27;32}{-2^{9}/-^{3}}$	$+^{27;32}_{_3}$	$+^{32}$ + <sup>3</sup>	$+^{10g,f;22;32}_{+^{29;30}}$	$+^{10g,f;22;32}_{29}$	$+^{32}_{-13}$	$+\frac{10f;11}{25;26}/-\frac{10g}{19}$	$+^{10f,g}$ $+^{25}/+^{20}$ $+^{19}$	$+^{5;8f_{gg}}_{-^{25;26}}$ $+^{19}_{10}$
intestine small large liver	$-\frac{29}{-3}/-\frac{29}{-29}/-\frac{3}{-29}/-\frac{3}{-3}$ $(+)^{29}/+\frac{22;32}{-3;13;14;27}/-\frac{29}{-29}$	_3 _3 _3;27;32	$+^{3}$ + <sup>3</sup> + <sup>13;14</sup> / 3;32	$+^{29}/+^{29}$ + $^{29}$ + $^{29;30}/+^{22;32}$	$\begin{array}{c} -\frac{29}{29} \\ -\frac{29}{29} \\ -\frac{29}{29} \\ -\frac{29}{29} \\ +\frac{22}{-32} \\ -\frac{32}{-29} \end{array}$	$-{}^{13}$ $-{}^{33}/(+){}^{13}/$ $-{}^{13;32}$	$+^{19}$ -25;26 -25;26 -25;26/+ <sup>19</sup>	$+\frac{20}{-19}$ +25 +25 +25/+20/-19	$\begin{array}{c} -19 \\ -25;26 \\ -25;26 \\ -25;26 \\ -25;26 \\ -19 \end{array}$
pancreas gall bladder uterus kidney	$\begin{array}{c} -3 \\ -3;13;14 \\ -29/-3;13;14;27;32/ \\ (+)^{22}/-^{29} \end{array}$	$-^{3}$ $+^{3}_{-^{3;27;32}}$	$+^{3}$ $+^{3;13;14}_{3;13;14;32}$	+ <sup>29</sup> /+ <sup>22;32</sup> /+ <sup>29</sup>	$-\frac{29}{(+)}$	$+^{13}$ $-^{33}$ $+^{13}/-^{33}/$ $-^{13;32}$	_19 _19 _ <sup>25</sup> /_ <sup>19</sup>	$+^{19}_{-^{19}}$ $+^{25}/+^{20}/+^{19}$	_19 _19 _25/_19
thyroid gland testis	$-\frac{29}{+}^{22;27;32}/-^{3}$	- <sup>27;32</sup> /	+ <sup>3;32</sup>	$+^{29}_{+^{22;32}}$	$-\frac{29}{+^{22}/-^{32}}$	$-{}^{33}_{+{}^{33}/-{}^{13;32}}$			
epididymis seminal vesicle prostate gland salivary gland sebaceous gland	$ \begin{bmatrix} 3 \\ -3 \\ -29 \\ -29 \\ -3 \\ -3 \end{bmatrix} $	$+^{3}$ $+^{3}$ $-^{3}$ $+^{3}$	$-{}^{3}$ + ${}^{3}$ + ${}^{3}$ + ${}^{3}$	$+^{29}$ + $^{29;30}$	_29 _29	$^{+33}_{(+)^{33}}$	26 25	+ <sup>25</sup>	+ <sup>26h</sup> + <sup>25</sup>
acinus middle duct							$-\frac{26}{26}$		$+\frac{26}{+}$

 Table 3.1
 Cell type-specific synthesis of desmosomal cadherins in human, cow, and mouse tissues (Holthoefer *et al.*, 2007)

upper duct lung trachea urothelium esophagus	$+^{22}/(+)^{27}/-^{3;32}$ $-^{29}/-^{3}/-^{29}$ $+^{29}/-^{3}/+^{29}$	$-^{3;27;32}$ $-^{3}$ $+^{3}$	_ <sup>3;32</sup> _ <sup>3</sup> + <sup>3</sup>	$+^{22;32}$ $+^{29;30}/+^{29}$ $+^{29;30i}/+^{29}$	$+^{22}/-^{32}$ $-^{29}/-^{29}$ $+^{29}/+^{29}$	$-\frac{13;33}{33}/-\frac{13;32}{33}$	$\begin{array}{c} -26 \\ -19 \\ -26 / -19 \\ -26 / -19 \\ -12; 25; 26; 31 / \\ (1)^{19} \end{array}$	$+\frac{20}{+}+\frac{19}{+}$ $+\frac{20}{-}-\frac{19}{+}$ $+\frac{225;31h,j}{+}$ $+\frac{20j}{+}+\frac{19j}{+}$	$\begin{array}{c} -26 \\ -19 \\ +26h/-19 \\ +26h/-19 \\ +125;26h,j/ \\ +19h \end{array}$
exocervix vagina gingival epithelium junctional sulcular oral	$+\frac{28k}{-91}$ +91 +91			$+\frac{30i}{30i;28k}$ $-\frac{91}{91}$ +91	$+\frac{28k}{9}$ +9 +9 +9 +9	+ <sup>28k</sup>	-12;31 -26 +28k	$+^{12;31h,j}$ $+^{28k}$	+12 +26h,j +28k +28k
buccal mucosa tongue	$+^{29}/+^{3}/+^{29}$	+3	+3	$+^{29}/+^{29}$	$+^{29}/+^{29}$		$-\frac{12}{+}^{16;19}$	$+^{12}_{+^{20j}/+^{16;19}}$	$+^{12}_{15;19}$
eye buib cornea limbus conjunctiva epidermis	$\begin{array}{c} -23 \\ -23 \\ -23 \\ +2;16;21;29;34 \\ +3;13;14;32 \\ +29 \end{array}$	+ <sup>3;32</sup>	+ <sup>3;13;14;32</sup>	$ \begin{array}{c} +^{23} \\ +^{23} \\ +^{23} \\ +^{23} \\ +^{2;21;29;30;34} / -^{16} / \\ \\ +^{32} / +^{29} \end{array} $	$^{-23}_{+23}_{+23}_{+22}_{+2;21;29;34}/+^{32}/+^{29}$	+ <sup>2;13;21;33</sup> /	$\begin{array}{c} -23 \\ -23 \\ -23 \\ +12;25;26;31 \\ +16;19;24 \end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{c} + \frac{23}{+23} \\ + \frac{23}{+23} \\ + \frac{12;25;31}{+20} / \\ + \frac{16;19}{+20} / \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} -23 \\ +^{23} \\ +^{23} \\ +^{12;25;26} \\ +^{12;19;24;35} \end{array}$
basal	$+^{21}/+^{3}$	_ <sup>3</sup>	_3	$+^{2;21;30;34}$	+ <sup>2;21;34</sup>	_2;13;21	$-\frac{12;26;31}{-24}$	$+^{12;31}/-^{20}$	$+^{12;26}/_{+^{15;24;35}}$
suprabasal	$+^{2;21;34}/+^{3}$	$+^{3}$	$+^{3}$	2;30;34	2;34	$+^{2;13;21}$	$+^{12;26;31}/+^{24}$	$+^{12;31}/+^{20}$	$+^{12;26}/_{+^{15;24;35}}$
hair irs ors	$+\frac{2;6;18;34}{+^{34}/+^{3}}$	$+^{3}_{+^{3}}$	$+^{3}_{+^{3}}$	2;18;34 + $2;34$ + $2$	2;18;34 + $2;34;17/+^{17}$	$+^{2;13}/+^{13}$ $+^{13}/+^{13}$	$+^{26}$ + $^{18;26}$ - $^{26}$	_ <sup>18</sup>	$+^{26}_{+18;26}_{+26}_{+26}$
cl cc	+ 18 + 18 + 18 + 18			+18 -18 -18	+18 + $18$ + $18$ - $18$		$-{}^{18}_{-{}^{18}}$ + ${}^{18}$	$+^{18}$ $+^{18}$ $-^{18}$	$+^{18}_{+18}_{+18}_{+18}$
lower: bc cl cc	$-{}^{18}$ + ${}^{18}$ + ${}^{18}$			$+^{18}$ $+^{18}$ $-^{18}$ $+^{2}$	$+^{18}$ + $^{18}$ + $^{18}$ + $^{2}$	2	18 18 18	$(+)^{18} + ^{18} + ^{18} (+)^{18}$	$+^{18}$ + $^{18}$ + $^{18}$
cortex matrix cells/ trichocytes	$(+)^{18}/-^{2;21}$			$^+_{-^2}$ (+) <sup>2;18;34</sup>	$+$ _2 + <sup>2;18;34</sup>	+ +2;18 +2;13/+13	_18	+ <sup>18</sup>	+ <sup>18</sup>

(continued)

#### Table 3.1 (continued)

	Dsg1/Dsg1a	Dsg1β/ Dsg5	Dsg1γ/ Dsg6	Dsg2	Dsg3	Dsg4	Dsc1	Dsc2	Dsc3
medulla	$+^{18}$			18;34	+ <sup>18;34</sup>		- <sup>18</sup>	$+^{18}$	+18
heart	$-\frac{29}{-\frac{3;13;14;27;32}{2}}/{\frac{22}{-\frac{29}{2}}}/$	_3;27;32	_3;13;14;32	$+^{8;29;30}/+^{22;32}/+^{8;29}$	$-\frac{29}{+}^{22}/-\frac{32}{-}^{29}$	-13;33/-13;32	$-\frac{25;26}{16;19}/(+)/$	$+\frac{8;25}{19}/+\frac{20}{-16}/$	$-\frac{26}{-19}$
skeletal muscle	$-\frac{3;13;14;22;32}{(+)}^{27}$	_3;27;32	$+^{13;14}_{3;32}$	+ <sup>22;32</sup>	_22;32	$+^{13}/^{-33}/_{13;32}$	19	_19	19
lymph node spleen	$-\frac{29}{1}/+\frac{22;27}{-3;32}$	3;27;32	3;32	$+^{30m}_{+^{29}/+^{22;32}/+^{29}}$	$-\frac{29}{1}/+\frac{22}{-32}/-\frac{29}{-29}$	$+^{13}/-^{33}/-^{13}$	+ <sup>25</sup>	+ <sup>25</sup>	_25
arachnoid mater thymus	$-^{3}/-^{29}$	_3	$+^{3n}$	$+^{1}$ $+^{29}$	$+^{29}$	$+^{13}_{33}/-^{33}/-^{13}$	$+^{26n}$	+'	$+^{10}$ + $^{26n}$
brain	$-^{3;13;14;27;32}/(+)^{22}$	_3;27;32	$+^{13;14}_{3;32}$	+ <sup>22;32</sup>	$+^{22}/-^{32}$	$+^{13}/-^{33}/-^{13}$			
cerebellum fetal	_3	_3	_3			33 33 33			
ovary	_3	_3	_3			-			+ <sup>5*</sup>

<sup>*a*</sup> oral epithelium;

<sup>b</sup> tongue;

<sup>c</sup> dental epithelium;

<sup>d</sup> lip furrow; <sup>e</sup> nasal epithelium;

<sup>f</sup> pad epidermis;
 <sup>g</sup> gastric epithelium;

<sup>h</sup> basal;

<sup>*i*</sup> only basal;

<sup>*j*</sup> suprabasal;

<sup>k</sup> a mixture of monoclonal antibodies against Dsgs and Dscs was used; <sup>l</sup> the antibody against Dsg1 showed crossreactivity with Dsg2;

<sup>*m*</sup> dendritic reticulum cells;

<sup>n</sup> Hassall bodies;

° dural border cells only

\* staining is limited to the oozyte

*italic* letters mark the earliest expression of the gene in question in the given tissue

<sup>1</sup> Akat *et al.*, 2003: immunohistology

- <sup>2</sup> Bazzi et al., 2006: immunohistology
- <sup>3</sup> Brennan et al., 2004: immunohistology
- <sup>4</sup> Collins et al., 1995: RT–PCR
- <sup>5</sup> Den et al., 2006: Northern Blot and immunohistology
- <sup>6</sup> Donetti *et al.*, 2004: quantitative immunoelectron microscopy
- Eshkind et al., 2002: immunohistology
- Franke et al., 2006: quantitative immunoelectron microscopy 8
- Hatakeyama et al., 2006: immunohistology 9
- 10 King et al., 1997: in situ hybridization
- <sup>11</sup> King *et al.*, 1996: only the *in situ* hybridization results are included in the table
- <sup>12</sup> King et al., 1995: in situ hybridization and immunohistology
- 13 Kljuic et al., 2003a: RT-PCR, immunohistology, in situ hybridization
- <sup>14</sup> Kljuic et al., 2003b: RT–PCR
- 15 Koch et al., 1991: Northern Blot
- 16 Koch et al., 1992: Northern Blot
- 17 Koch et al., 1998: immunohistology
- 18
- Kurzen *et al.*, 1998: immunohistology Legan *et al.*, 1998: RT–PCR, Northern Blot and *in situ* hybridization Lorimer *et al.*, 1994: RT–PCR and *in situ* hybridization 19
- 20
- <sup>21</sup> Mahoney et al., 2006: immunohistology
- <sup>22</sup> Mahoney et al., 2002: RT-PCR

- <sup>23</sup> Messent *et al.*, 2000: immunohistology and immunoblotting
   <sup>24</sup> North *et al.*, 1996: quantitative immunoelectron microscopy
   <sup>25</sup> Nuber *et al.*, 1995: Northern Blot and RNAse protection assay
- <sup>26</sup> Nuber et al., 1996: immunohistology
- <sup>27</sup> Pulkkinen et al., 2003: RT-PCR
- <sup>28</sup> Sawa et al., 2005: immunohistology
- 29 Schafer et al., 1994: RNAse protection assay
- 30 Schafer et al., 1996: immunohistology
- 31 Theis et al., 1993: in situ hybridization
- Whittock, 2003: RT-PCR 32
- 33 Whittock and Bower, 2003: RT-PCR
- <sup>34</sup> Wu et al., 2003: immunohistology
- <sup>35</sup> Yue *et al.*, 1995: immunohistology and immunoblotting

The methods used to detect the different Dsg and Dsc isoforms are given along with the appropriate citations. Signals were classified as either absent -, weak (+), or strong +. irs: inner root sheath; ors: outer root sheath; bc: basal cell layer; cl: central cell layer; cc: companion cell layer.

In particular, the generally assumed exclusive synthesis of Dsg2 and Dsc2 in simple epithelia (e.g., Nuber *et al.*, 1995; Schafer *et al.*, 1996) is not supported by all observations reported to date. Thus, Dsg1 (Dsg1 $\gamma$ /Dsg6) was shown to be present in the mucosal lining of the stomach, intestine, and uterus as well as in the glandular epithelia of pancreas and liver of mouse (Brennan *et al.*, 2004; Kljuic and Christiano, 2003; Kljuic *et al.*, 2003a) and also in human liver (Schafer *et al.*, 1994). In addition, Dsg4 is detectable in human liver and pancreas (Kljuic *et al.*, 2003a) and Dsc1 in bovine intestine and liver (Legan *et al.*, 1994). Most unexpected was the recent description of Dsc3 production during the earliest stages of embryogenesis also including cells lacking desmosomes (Den *et al.*, 2006), reminiscent of the detection of Dsg3 and Dsg4 synthesis in E7 embryos preceding the formation of complex and stratified epithelia by several days (Mahoney *et al.*, 2002; Whittock, 2003).

It should be stressed that Dsg2 and Dsc2 are certainly the predominant isoforms during development. Both are detectable from the morula or the very early blastocyst stage (E3.5) onward (i.e., just prior to the formation of the desmosome-containing trophectoderm) (Collins *et al.*, 1995; Fleming *et al.*, 1991; Jackson *et al.*, 1980). An example of Dsg immunoreactivity in blastocysts is presented in Fig. 3.8A that coincides with DP at the plasma membrane (Fig. 3.8B), but appears to be somewhat more extensive including cytoplasmic staining that is most prominent in the inner cell mass. In addition, a presumably maternal pool of Dsc2 and of Dsc3 has been detected in unfertilized eggs and in cleavage stages up to the early eight-cell stage (Collins *et al.*, 1995; Den *et al.*, 2006). A detailed and quite comprehensive description



**Figure 3.8** Whole-mount confocal immunofluorescence microscopy of murine blastocysts detecting desmosomal proteins Dsg2 (A) and DP (B; same antibodies as in Fig. 3.7). Bar: 10  $\mu$ m. (The micrographs are taken from Fig. 2 of Eshkind *et al.*, 2002, with permission from Elsevier.)

of the temporospatially regulated occurrence of desmosomal cadherins in murine epithelia using *in situ* hybridization can be found in King *et al.* (1997) demonstrating individual patterns of regulation for each polypeptide and specific correlations to ongoing epithelial differentiation. Thus, unique and complex patterns of coexpression are generated. In general, the first desmosomal cadherin to be synthesized is Dsg2 and the latest, which is produced only in suprabasal layers of keratinizing epithelia, is Dsc1.

While the expression of Dsg1, 3, and 4 and of Dsc1 and 3 is somewhat variable in simple and complex epithelia (also including the urothelium), a consistent and strong synthesis of these polypeptides is noted in all stratified epithelia with the exception of the corneal and conjunctival epithelium lacking Dsg1 as well as Dsc1 (Table 3.1). Furthermore, Dsc3 and Dsg3 production is restricted to the limbus but is absent in the cornea proper, demonstrating that Dsc2 and Dsg2 suffice to support stratified epithelia on their own (Messent et al., 2000). In the other stratified epithelia, isoforms 2 and 3 are most strongly expressed in the basal compartment with highest protein levels for isoforms 2, whereas isoforms 1 and Dsg4 show an inverse concentration gradient reaching highest levels in the suprabasal cell layers (Getsios et al., 2004b). In general, the expression patterns of the respective isoforms 1 and 3 of each desmosomal cadherin type often coincide. Yet, minor differences are readily apparent (e.g., Dsc3 positivity in human urothelium in the absence of Dsg3 [Nuber et al., 1996; Schafer et al., 1994] or the inverse detectability of Dsg1 and Dsc1 in liver of human and cow [Legan et al., 1994; Nuber et al., 1996; Schafer et al., 1994]), arguing against a strict transcriptional coregulation of DSG and DSC genes.

The distribution of desmosomal cadherins in different layers of the epidermis has been studied in detail: Dsc2 mRNA is localized primarily in the basal and lower levels of suprabasal cell layers whereas Dsc1 mRNA is restricted to suprabasal cells with the highest concentration in the spinous cell layer (Arnemann *et al.*, 1993; King *et al.*, 1995; Legan *et al.*, 1994; Theis *et al.*, 1993). Dsc3 synthesis is strongest in basal cells but extends into the first few suprabasal cell layers (Arnemann *et al.*, 1993; Legan *et al.*, 1994). These results could be corroborated by using isoform-specific antibodies directed at Dscs 1 and 3 (North *et al.*, 1996; Nuber *et al.*, 1996), especially emphasizing an inverse relationship between both isoforms, and further demonstrating that individual desmosomes may contain both isoforms. Similarly, the Dsg2 immunosignal was almost exclusively restricted to the basal compartment of epidermis (Arnemann *et al.*, 1993; Schafer *et al.*, 1996).

The most complex distribution patterns were observed in human hair, demonstrating unique profiles of desmosomal cadherins for individual layers and cell types (see Table 3.1). While Dsc3 was noted in all epithelial cell types, Dsc1 and Dsc2 exhibited an almost inverse and exclusive distribution (Kurzen *et al.*, 2003). In contrast, partial overlap was noted between the inversely distributed Dsg2 and Dsg1/3 (Kurzen *et al.*, 2003).

Desmosomes in nonepithelial tissues, most notably in cardiomyocytes, meningeal cells of the arachnoid mater, and dendritic reticulum cells of lymph nodes, all contain Dsg2 and Dsc2 (see Table 3.1). Other desmosomal cadherins are either detected only in trace amounts by RT-PCR or are restricted to certain cell layers such as DSC3 to dural border cells of the arachnoid mater (Akat *et al.*, 2003). The significance of spurious detection of various desmosomal cadherins in tissues lacking typical desmosomes is currently not clear. It remains to be shown whether these findings are due to contaminating desmosome-bearing tissue fragments or are an indication of the presence of alternative adhesion structures and/or cell compartments harboring desmosomal cadherins.

The information on Dsc splice variant expression is incomplete. Occasionally, double bands of equal intensity were resolved in Northern blots (Koch *et al.*, 1992). By RT-PCR both Dsc2 splice variants were detected in many different tissues at variable relative amounts (Nuber *et al.*, 1995). A further layer of desmosomal cadherin complexity is added by the coassembly of different desmosomal cadherin isoforms within single desmosomes (North *et al.*, 1996; Nuber *et al.*, 1996). The characterization of regulatory elements determining cell type–specific gene transcription is still in its infancy and few studies have addressed these issues in any depth (Marsden *et al.*, 1997).

So far, no strict correlations have been established for other desmosomal components that would suggest a strictly coregulated expression of specific combinations.

Differential synthesis of the arm-containing desmosomal linker proteins has been examined in case of the PPs revealing different levels of expressional complexity concerning cell type specificity and subcellular localization. In the absence of desmosomes these polypeptides are soluble and primarily nucleoplasmic, whereas in the presence of desmosomes a certain proportion is recruited into cell adhesion sites (Bonne et al., 1999; Mertens et al., 1996; Schmidt et al., 1997). The signals that determine the subcellular localization are poorly understood at present. Interestingly, however, PP1b resides exclusively in the nucleus, whereas PP1a exhibits a nuclear and desmosomal distribution (Schmidt et al., 1997). Both splice variants differ just by a 21 amino acid-encoding exon that is present only in splice variant b. A complete distribution map has not been established to date. But PP1a has been primarily detected in desmosomes of stratified and complex epithelia (Hatzfeld et al., 1994; Heid et al., 1994; Kapprell et al., 1988; Schmidt et al., 1997), whereas PP2 splice variants a and b have been identified predominantly in desmosomes of simple epithelia and nonepithelial tissues such as myocardium or dendritic reticular cells of lymph nodes, but were also found in certain complex and stratified epithelia (Mertens et al., 1996, 1999). PP3 has been reported to be the most epithelium specific and has been localized in desmosomes and the nucleus of simple and stratified epithelia but not in hepatocytes and myocardium (Schmidt et al., 1999). In contrast to

individual PPs, PG has been identified in all desmosomes and is also a universal component of other adhaerens junctions, thereby presenting a very broad distribution pattern (Cowin *et al.*, 1986; Kapprell *et al.*, 1987).

Both DP splice variants have been shown to be present in simple and stratified epithelia, although DPII could not be detected in cardiac muscle (Angst *et al.*, 1990), and there is some controversy on the presence/absence of DPII in certain epithelia (Cowin *et al.*, 1985). However, there is agreement that DPI is present in all desmosome-bearing cells/tissues and pathological alterations derived therefrom (examples are shown in Figs. 3.6 to 3.8). DP also localizes to the complexus adhaerens in vascular endothelia (Schmelz and Franke, 1993). In heart, it was recently shown to localize to both the desmosome-like and fascia adhaerens-type junctions as is the case for PP2 (Borrmann *et al.*, 2006; Franke *et al.*, 2006; Grossmann *et al.*, 2004). Since both types of junctions are molecularly and morphologically intermixed in the intercalated disc, it was recently suggested to be a junction type on its own, for which the name *area composita* was coined (Borrmann *et al.*, 2006; Franke *et al.*, 2006).

The precise expression patterns of the various accessory desmosomal proteins that are present only in cell type–specific contexts have not been examined systematically and have been cursorily mentioned above.

It should be noted that the production of desmosomal polypeptides is not restricted to normal tissues but is also detectable in tumors originating from desmosome-bearing tissues. As such, their detection has become a valuable additional criterion in the histodiagnosis of carcinomas and meningiomas (Akat *et al.*, 2003; Moll *et al.*, 1986).

# 4. **BIOGENESIS**

#### 4.1. Desmosome formation during development

Desmosomes are first detected together with keratin filaments in the trophectoderm during the blastocyst stage of preimplantation mouse embryos (Collins and Fleming, 1995; Collins *et al.*, 1995; Ducibella *et al.*, 1975; Eshkind *et al.*, 2002; Fleming *et al.*, 1991; Jackson *et al.*, 1980), suggesting that desmosome formation strengthens adhesion to maintain tissue integrity in the presence of increasing mechanical stress imposed by the accumulating blastocoele fluid. Noticeably, adherens junctions and tight junctions are formed prior to desmosomes, indicative of a hierarchy of junctional complex formation (Fleming *et al.*, 1994). In addition to this temporal order, a spatial order is also evident early, as the different junctions become arranged in the characteristic junctional complex in which desmosomes are localized to the basolateral cell–cell borders. The typical midline structure and electron-dense intermediate filament-anchoring plaques as diagnostic desmosomal hallmark features are already detectable at the blastocyst stage (Fleming *et al.*, 1991). By immunohistological examination desmosomal components can be detected as puncta at the lateral membrane contact sites between the trophectoderm cells from the 32-cell stage onward (Fleming *et al.*, 1991). Recently, a novel type of Dsg2-positive nondesmosomal punctate adhesion site was identified in embryonic stem cells (Eshkind *et al.*, 2002). It will be interesting to find out whether these adhesions represent specific desmosomal precursors. In addition, it will be informative to understand the significance of desmosomal cadherin synthesis noted in inner cell mass derivatives (Collins *et al.*, 1995; Eshkind *et al.*, 2002) and the lagging formation of desmosomes. Remarkably, desmosomes still assemble in the absence of keratin filaments in embryonal bodies (Baribault and Oshima, 1991) and in hepatocytes (Magin *et al.*, 1998), although alterations in DP distribution were noted in the latter instance (Loranger *et al.*, 2006).

In early postimplantation mouse embryos, desmosomes are present in the two major embryonic epithelia (i.e., the embryonic ectoderm and the visceral/proximal endoderm) (Jackson *et al.*, 1981). Molecular analyses corroborated the initial morphological studies and revealed that desmosomal protein synthesis precedes the morphogenesis of desmosomes (Fleming *et al.*, 1991). The advent of stratified epithelia during mouse embryogenesis is accompanied by changes in desmosomal cadherin synthesis (King *et al.*, 1997). The originally synthesized isoforms Dsg2 and Dscs2/3 are complemented by Dsg isoforms 1, 3, and 4 and by Dsc1 (see Table 3.1) probably furnishing additional desmosomal qualities.

# 4.2. Experimental analysis of desmosomal biogenesis

Studies of the synthesis of desmosomal components during embryogenesis suggest that desmosome formation is contingent on the presence of desmosomal cadherins, arm-repeat-containing polypeptides, and DP. Multiple attempts have been undertaken to put the essential components together in in vitro systems to examine the molecular requirements and the interactive surfaces participating in this process. Probably the most informative attempt has been presented by Koeser and colleagues (2003). They were able to reconstitute desmosome-like cell adhesion complexes together with anchored intermediate filaments in fibrosarcoma-derived HT-1080 cells. These desmosome-free cells synthesize the desmosomal cadherin Dsg2 in the absence of any Dsc and desmosomal plaque proteins. It was shown that all three major plaque proteins (i.e., DP, PG, and PP2) are necessary and probably sufficient to form structurally and functionally competent desmosomes, even in the absence of detectable amounts of Dsc. Interestingly, PG was essential for the segregation of desmosomal and adherens junction components whereas PP2 was able to efficiently recruit DP to cell-cell junctions. In the absence of PG, however, this recruitment was not specific to desmosomes and resulted in misdirection of DP into adherens junctions. By using a tailless DP mutant lacking the intermediate filament binding sites it was also shown that desmosome assembly occurs independently of the intermediate filament system in accordance with various *in vitro* and *in vivo* situations in which desmosomes are present in the absence of an intact intermediate filament network (Baribault and Oshima, 1991; Bornslaeger *et al.*, 1996; Denk *et al.*, 1985; Loranger *et al.*, 2006; Magin *et al.*, 1998).

The aforementioned experiments extend earlier experiments in which reconstitution of desmosomal adhesion was attempted either in nonepithelial or in epithelial cells. The first approach was hampered by the fact that in contrast to the classical cadherins, adhesive properties cannot be efficiently conferred by either Dsg or Dsc alone in nonepithelial cells (Amagai et al., 1994; Chidgey et al., 1996), not even when combined individually with PG (Kowalczyk et al., 1996). Instead, strong adhesion requires Dsgs, Dscs, and PG in a specific ratio (Dusek et al., 2007; Getsios et al., 2004a; Marcozzi et al., 1998; Tselepis et al., 1998). The second approach exploited the presence of desmosomal components, known and unknown, by employing desmosome-containing epithelial cells. An attempt was made to recruit and redirect desmosomal polypeptides to morphologically and immunologically distinct membrane sites in desmosome-rich vulvar carcinoma-derived A-431 cells (Chitaev et al., 1996, Troyanovsky et al., 1993, 1994a,b). To accomplish this, connexin transmembrane segments were fused to desmosomal cadherin tails thereby enriching them in ultrastructurally defined gap junctions. It was shown that connexin 32-Dsc1a cytoplasmic tail hybrids indeed induced the formation of large gap junctions that recruited DP- and PG-positive electron-dense plaque material and served as keratin filament anchorage sites (Troyanovsky et al., 1993, 1994b). On the other hand, a comparable connexin 32-Dsg1 cytoplasmic tail hybrid was not only incapable of such an assembly but acted as a dominant-negative mutant interfering with connexin clustering and endogenous desmosome formation (Troyanovsky et al., 1993, 1994a) possibly due to an altered balance between the different PG pools (Norvell and Green, 1998). Both paradigms, however, could be used to map the respective PG-binding sites (Troyanovsky et al., 1994a,b). In addition, Dsc determinants for DP recruitment were identified (Troyanovsky et al., 1994b). In a similar approach hybrids consisting of the four membranespanning domains of the synaptic vesicle protein synaptophysin were fused to PG to examine the molecular binding determinants of the latter to desmosomal cadherins and the desmosomal plaque region (Chitaev et al., 1996; Troyanovsky et al., 1996).

Another completely different approach to examine desmosomal biogenesis was taken by several laboratories using live cell imaging of fluorescently labeled desmosomal components (Gloushankova *et al.*, 2003; Godsel *et al.*, 2005; Windoffer *et al.*, 2002). The most comprehensive study was done by Godsel and coworkers (2005) using fluorescent DP hybrids and examining

desmosome formation after scratch wounding in cultured cell lines. Based on their observations a multistep process was proposed. Within a few minutes of cell-cell attachment DP-positive puncta are recruited to the newly formed contact zones presumably from a rapidly available cytoplasmic DP pool. This pool may correspond to the discrete and insoluble cytoplasmic particles that were previously identified by immunohistology in the absence of cell-cell contacts and was rapidly depleted upon cell-cell contact formation (Pasdar and Nelson, 1988b). Soon afterward, DP particles form in the cytoplasm that are associated with PP2 and translocate in an actin-dependent fashion to the plasma membrane, probably contributing to the enlargement of the existing DP-positive membrane sites. Much work needs to be done to further substantiate this rough working hypothesis, especially with regard to the other desmosomal components that appear to team up only at the plasma membrane (e.g., Pasdar et al., 1991). It also should be noted, however, that desmosomal halves assemble even in the absence of direct cell-cell contact (i.e., in cells continuously grown in low calcium medium) (Demlehner et al., 1995).

It is of interest that desmosome assembly may differ between different cell types and may even differ in the same cell type depending on the circumstance. Thus, it was reported that Dsg1 and Dsc1 are not recruited into desmosomes in cultured simple or squamous epithelial cells (Chitaev et al., 1998; Ishii et al., 2001) demonstrating desmosomal cadherin isotype specificity. Other striking examples of the context-dependent complexity of desmosome assembly are the apparent differences concerning the contribution of PG in vitro and in vivo. On the one hand, PG was shown to be absolutely required for desmosome formation in the *in vitro* HT-1080 culture system (Koeser *et al.*, 2003), and several studies presented evidence that the PG-binding site of Dsg is vital for normal function of this protein (Andl and Stanley, 2001; Palka and Green, 1997). On the other hand, ultrastructurally normal desmosomes are formed in epithelial cells of mice lacking PG (Ruiz et al., 1996). These apparent contradictions imply that the pathways of desmosome assembly are much more limited in cultured cells than in cells that are embedded in a complex tissue context. It is likely that other cell-cell contact structures affect and coordinate desmosome assembly (see later), and their absence may result in the elimination of specific desmosomal assembly pathways that may be exclusively used in the *in vitro* situation.

# 5. DYNAMICS

# 5.1. Desmosome dynamics during interphase and mitosis

An important issue of desmosomal adhesion is how desmosomes can maintain their structural function while allowing dynamic cell behavior that requires cell-cell contact rearrangements as is the case (e.g., during
migration, differentiation, and tissue regeneration). Mechanisms must exist to attenuate desmosomal adhesive strength to local requirements. Regulation of desmosomal size may be one way to fulfill such a task. In support of this, immature "nascent" desmosomes are small, whereas desmosomes in tissues that are subjected to increased mechanical stress are rather large. Such growth of desmosomes from small precursor particles has been observed by live cell imaging (Gloushankova *et al.*, 2003; Godsel *et al.*, 2005).

Alteration in molecular composition is another way to modulate desmosomal adhesive properties by changing the isoforms present and/or the relative amounts of Dscs and Dsgs. The stratum-specific desmosomal composition in epidermal cell layers supports this notion and may contribute to the tight association of suprabasal cells contrasting with the capacity of basal cells to move to upper layers by asymmetric mitotic division.

Live cell imaging experiments revealed another aspect of desmosome dynamics (Windoffer *et al.*, 2002). Although individual desmosomes could be followed for many hours, a very rapid exchange of its constituents was observed including even the desmosomal cadherins (Fig. 3.9). In this way, minor modification of adhesive strength could be accomplished without complete disruption of adhesion sites. It is attractive to speculate that signal-dependent protein modification is involved in the regulation of turnover kinetics.

Interestingly, desmosomes are maintained during the entire cell cycle providing continuous anchorage to neighboring cells and cytoplasmic intermediate filaments even during cell division (Baker and Garrod, 1993; Shimizu *et al.*, 2000; Windoffer *et al.*, 2002). Yet, desmosomal stability was shown to be considerably altered in dividing cells exhibiting increased fusion of desmosomal particles into large plaque areas that were often concentrated around the cleavage furrow (Windoffer *et al.*, 2002). Simultaneously, increasing dispersion of desmosomal cadherins was noted during prophase. The characteristic finely punctate desmosomal fluorescence was reestablished after cytokinesis concomitant with loss of the diffuse distribution.

#### 5.2. Calcium-dependent alterations of desmosomes

The classical method to examine desmosomal dynamics involves calciumshift experiments. Reduction of extracellular calcium results in disassembly of desmosomes and uptake of desmosomal material into the cell interior (Fig. 3.10; Kartenbeck *et al.*, 1982, 1991; Mattey and Garrod, 1986). Cytoplasmic vesicles were identified containing complete desmosomal assemblies together with their adhering intermediate filaments. The uptake of desmosomal particles into the perinuclear area was shown to be dependent on both actin filaments (Fig. 3.11; Holm *et al.*, 1993; Windoffer *et al.*, 2002) and microtubules (see Fig. 3.11). It is, however, independent of clathrin (Holm *et al.*, 1993). Although the particles may initially reach a nonlysosomal compartment (Holm *et al.*, 1993) and may therefore



Figure 3.9 Time-space diagram of desmosomal motility (A) and image series from a fluorescence recovery after photobleaching (FRAP) experiment (B) of cell lines producing fluorescent Dsc2. (A) Derived from a 10 h epifluorescence recording of a desmosomal array in canine kidney MDCK-derived MDc-2 cells (recording intervals 5 min). The time is plotted along the y-axis in hours (h), the movement in the two-dimensional space dimension along the x- and z-axes in micrometers ( $\mu$ m). The trajectories of the time surface of desmosomal fluorescence highlight the coordinated movement of desmosomes whose overall arrangement, size, and shape remain mostly the same for the entire period. In contrast, the interdesmosomal distance varies considerably, albeit in a coordinated fashion (compare, e.g., the two time points that are marked by arrows) as if they are arranged on an elastic string. (B) The confocal fluorescence image series was taken from hepatocellular carcinoma PLC-derived PDc-13 cells that were subjected to intense photobleaching in the boxed area. The pictures depict the desmosomal fluorescence prior to bleaching (B1), immediately after bleaching (B2), and after a 30-min recovery period. Note the considerable recovery of fluorescence in the bleached desmosomes indicating that despite the overall longevity of single desmosomal entities (see A), a high turnover of integral desmosomal polypeptides occurs. Bar: 10  $\mu$ m. (The figures are taken from Figs. 4 and 11 of Windoffer et al., 2002.)

potentially retranslocate to the cell surface, experimental evidence rather suggests that they are not directly reused but either degraded (Burdett, 1993; Mattey and Garrod, 1986) and/or disassembled into nondesmosomal subunits/polypeptides (Windoffer *et al.*, 2002). A recent study examining the effect of pemphigus vulgaris serum also showed that desmosomal components are targeted first to an endosomal and subsequently to a lysosomal compartment (Calkins *et al.*, 2006). In this instance, however, the Dsg3–PG complex detached from DP and keratin filaments prior to uptake.



**Figure 3.10** Immunofluorescence microscopy of colon carcinoma-derived CaCo-2 cells before (A) and 30 min after depletion of calcium (B, cf. Windoffer *et al.*, 2002) detecting the distribution of DP using monoclonal antibodies DP 2.15/2.17/2.20. Nuclei are stained with DAPI. Note the displacement of DP-positive puncta from the cell periphery to a cytoplasmic, perinuclear domain after calcium removal. Bar: 25  $\mu$ m.

The uptake of desmosomal particles in low calcium medium depends on various parameters such as cell type, passage number, and time after plating (Mattey and Garrod, 1986; Wallis *et al.*, 2000; Watt *et al.*, 1984; Windoffer *et al.*, 2002). Interestingly, calcium sensitivity of desmosomal uptake can be transmitted to neighboring cells by protein kinase C-dependent signaling (Wallis *et al.*, 2000). It has been suggested that desmosomes reach a state of hyperadhesion whose signet feature is calcium independence and confers high stability (Garrod *et al.*, 2005). It is subject to regulation, however, and can transit to a calcium-dependent condition in situations that require reduced adhesion as is the case upon wounding (Wallis *et al.*, 2000).

Furthermore, endocytosis may not be the direct cause but rather a consequence of desmosomal destabilization in the absence of calcium. In support of this, live cell imaging revealed a rapid dissolution of desmosomal cadherin particles in the plane of the plasma membrane upon calcium depletion with only very little uptake of desmosomal particles into cytoplasmic carriers (Windoffer *et al.*, 2002). These observations could be interpreted as an overall reduction of desmosomal coherence resulting either in diffusion within the plasma membrane, in uptake of molecular assemblies that were below the detection limit, or in rapid degradation.

The calcium-switch system has also been used to examine desmosome formation by shifting cells from low to high calcium media. The resulting



**Figure 3.11** Indirect immunofluorescence microscopy of Madin–Darby canine kidney cells (MDCK) after transfer to a calcium-depleted medium (Windoffer *et al.*, 2002). In some instances, cells were preincubated for 15 min in standard medium in the presence of either 1 mM nocodazole (noco) or 5  $\mu$ M cytochalasin D (cyto D). Subsequent incubation in calcium-depleted medium in the absence (co) or presence of drugs lasted 30 min prior to fixation in methanol/acetone. Desmosomal plaque protein DP was detected

experimental evidence suggests that desmosomes assemble at the plasma membrane, most likely by maturation of enlarging particles (Hennings and Holbrook, 1983; Pasdar and Nelson, 1989; Watt et al., 1984; Windoffer et al., 2002). It was found that desmosome assembly in MDCK cells upon calcium shift can be grouped into two phases (Burdett and Sullivan, 2002): During the first 30 min 60-nm vesicles containing mostly Dsc2 were found while at later time points larger vesicles of ~200 nm with Dsg, E-cadherin, PG, and  $\beta$ -catenin were directed to presumptive nucleation sites. The essential contribution of Dsc during early stages of desmosomal assembly was further underscored by observations in HaCaT cells producing aminoterminally deleted Dsc3. These cells presented impaired assembly of adherens junctions and desmosomes, whereas a comparable Dsg3 mutant affected only desmosome formation (Hanakawa et al., 2000). The capacity of the Dsc mutant to bind to both  $\beta$ -catenin and PG may explain the observed differences. It will be interesting to find out how these processes relate to the delivery of DP to newly forming desmosomal adhesion sites (Godsel et al., 2005). The current view is that DP and desmosomal cadherins are delivered separately to the plasma membrane based on their separate distribution in the insoluble pool (Pasdar et al., 1991), their different distribution patterns in the cytoplasm (Pasdar and Nelson, 1988b; Pasdar et al., 1991), and the actin-dependent delivery of DP (Godsel et al., 2005) that appears to be associated with intermediate filaments (Pasdar et al., 1991) while Dsg colocalized with microtubules (Pasdar et al., 1991). It should be noted, however, that neither intermediate filaments nor microtubules are essential for desmosome assembly (Baribault and Oshima, 1991; Magin et al., 1998; Pasdar et al., 1992).

Some controversy exists with respect to the importance of vesicular halfdesmosomes in cells grown for many passages in low calcium medium. It is unquestionable that such structures are formed under these conditions in different cell types (Demlehner *et al.*, 1995; Duden and Franke, 1988). However, vesicular localization may apply to only a small percentage of desmosomal proteins synthesized under such conditions (Burdett, 1993; Windoffer *et al.*, 2002), and biochemical analyses demonstrate an elevated solubility of desmosomal cadherins in this situation (Pasdar and Nelson, 1989; Penn *et al.*, 1987), suggesting that at least this biochemically defined fraction is not part of large assemblies.

with murine monoclonal antidesmoplakin 1/2 antibody mix DP-2.15/DP-2.17/DP-2.20, microtubules (mt) with monoclonal anti  $\alpha$ -tubulin antibodies (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Freiburg, Germany), actin filaments (act) with Texas Red-conjugated phalloidin (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR), and keratin filaments (ker) with murine monoclonal antibodies against keratin 8 (clone Ks8–17.2 from Progen). Note that disruption of microtubules and actin filaments interferes with desmosomal uptake. Bar: 10  $\mu$ m.

An interesting aspect of calcium-dependent adhesion site dynamics was recently reported for E-cadherin that may also be of relevance for desmosomal adhesion (Troyanovsky *et al.*, 2006). Blocking endocytosis by ATP depletion or by hypertonic sucrose led to a rapid increase in adhesive E-cadherin dimers coinciding with acquisition of calcium resistance of intercellular contacts. It was suggested that endocytosis is needed for disassembly of the surprisingly stable cadherins' adhesive dimers.

#### 5.3. Phosphorylation-dependent alterations of desmosomes

The importance of phosphorylation for desmosomal functions and dynamics has only been rudimentarily investigated, although most if not all desmosomal components are subject to phosphorylation (Amar *et al.*, 1999; Gaudry *et al.*, 2001; Miravet *et al.*, 2003; Pasdar *et al.*, 1995a; Shibamoto *et al.*, 1994; Stappenbeck *et al.*, 1994; Yin and Green, 2004). The relevance of phosphorylation is, once again, becoming apparent in disease. Thus, desmosomal cadherins become phosphorylated upon pemphigus vulgaris (PV) antibody ligation (Aoyama *et al.*, 1999). In this situation, Dsg3 is serine phosphorylated and dissociates from PG.

Multiple tyrosine phosphorylation sites have been identified in PG (Miravet et al., 2003); however, these have different effects on its binding properties (Yin and Green, 2004). Therefore, tyrosine phosphorylation of PG was shown to allow association with Dsgs but to prevent interaction with DP (Gaudry et al., 2001; Miravet et al., 2003; Yin et al., 2005). This may explain why EGFR inactivation promotes desmosomal assembly (Lorch et al., 2004) and, conversely, why EGF as well as HGF/SF induce cell scattering (Shibamoto et al., 1994). Other studies have revealed, however, that tyrosine phosphorylation of other PG sites may lead to increased binding to DP and simultaneous reduction of affinity to E-cadherin and  $\alpha$ -catenin and vice versa (Miravet et al., 2003). Furthermore, phosphorylation of PG may affect its solubility (Pasdar et al., 1995b). Taken together, PG phosphorylation appears to be an important mechanism to regulate junctional localization and to determine desmosomal adhesive strength. In addition, PG phosphorylation modulates its transcriptional activation properties (Miravet et al., 2003) and affects its targeting to the proteasomal degradative pathway. Interestingly, O-GlcNAc addition at the aminoterminal catenin-like "destruction box" counteracts phosphorylation, probably preventing consecutive degradation and, conversely, enhancing signal transduction, silencing gene transciption, and regulating multimolecular protein assembly (Hatsell et al., 2003; Hu et al., 2006). Therefore, alterations in the phosphorylation patterns finetune the balance of the multiple PG functions.

Phosphorylation of the other desmosomal *arm*-repeat proteins has been reported. Phosphorylation of PP2 by a CDC25C-associated kinase

(C-TAK-1) alters the interaction of PP with 14-3-3 proteins, thereby allowing entry of PP into the nuclear compartment (Muller *et al.*, 2003).

Phosphorylation of the DP carboxy-terminus, specifically of S2849, which is a potential protein kinase A target site, appears to affect keratin and desmin filament association and assembly into desmosomes (Fontao *et al.*, 2003; Godsel *et al.*, 2005; Lapouge *et al.*, 2006; Meng *et al.*, 1997; Stappenbeck *et al.*, 1994). Furthermore, an S299R mutation has been identified in the amino-terminal domain of DP in patients with arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy, which leads to altered PG binding (Rampazzo *et al.*, 2002).

In more general terms, the effects of nonspecific modulators of phosphorylation on overall desmosome dynamics have been examined. The serine-threonine phosphatase inhibitor okadaic acid was shown to prevent the formation of ultrastructurally recognizable desmosomal plaques in the calcium switch paradigm, although the trafficking of desmosomal components to the membrane was not affected (Pasdar et al., 1995a). In contrast, the protein kinase inhibitor H-7 (and also staurosporine) did not inhibit desmosome assembly but rather stimulated it (Shabana et al., 1998). In addition, an increased granular labeling was noted for major desmosomal proteins in the presence of a highly selective protein kinase C (PKC) inhibitor (Amar et al., 1998; Shabana et al., 1998). On the other hand, H-7 interfered with calcium-dependent disassembly and internalization after desmosomal splitting (Denisenko et al., 1994; Pasdar et al., 1995a). It was therefore suggested that the different sensitivities are mediated by calcium-dependent intracellular signal transduction pathways (Pasdar et al., 1995a), most likely by PKC (Citi, 1992; Sheu et al., 1989). Probably one of the most compelling examples of regulation of desmosomal properties and dynamics has been provided by Wallis et al. (2000). They presented evidence that wounding-induced, PKCa-mediated signaling alters the responsiveness of desmosomes to calcium reduction.

In addition to phosphorylation, other modifications have been shown to occur and to be of functional relevance for keratinocyte adhesion. Of note is the reported O-glycosylation of plakoglobin leading to posttranslational stabilization with a coincident increase in cadherin binding and adhesiveness (Hu *et al.*, 2006). The underlying mechanism might be competition with glycogen synthase kinase-3 phosphorylation for the amino-terminal threo-nine 14 (Hatsell *et al.*, 2003), which would result in protection against proteasomal degradation.

#### 5.4. Regulators of desmosomal adhesion

Comparatively little information is available on the overall transcriptional regulation of desmosomal gene expression (Adams *et al.*, 1998; Marsden *et al.*, 1997; Potter *et al.*, 2001; Smith *et al.*, 2004). It has been shown that the

zinc-finger family of transcription factors (slug) disrupts desmosomes during epithelial–mesenchymal transition and during wound healing, possibly by direct effects on the promoters of desmosomal genes (Savagner *et al.*, 1997, 2005). Another report has identified members of the CCAAT/enhancer binding proteins (E/EBP) as important factors for DSC1 and DSC3 expression in keratinocytes (Smith *et al.*, 2004). It was further observed that a 525-bp DSC2 promoter fragment was active in kidney epithelial cells and early mouse embryos (Marsden *et al.*, 1997). Interestingly, the DSC3 promoter is aberrantly methylated in breast cancer cell lines and DSC3 transcription is enhanced by p53 (Oshiro *et al.*, 2003). Finally, methylprednisolone treatment increased Dsg1 and 3 as well as E-cadherin synthesis (Nguyen *et al.*, 2004). Simultaneously, methylprednisolone inhibited the PV antigen-induced increase in phosphorylation of PG and Dsg3 as well as of E-cadherin and  $\beta$ -catenin (Nguyen *et al.*, 2004).

In addition to desmosomal protein modifications that were discussed in the previous section, desmosome formation is regulated by protein stability. It has been known for a long time that cell contact formation alters the halflife of desmosomal constituents considerably (Pasdar and Nelson, 1988a, 1989). The shift in protein stability probably reflects the integration of these polypeptides into cell-cell contacts. On the other hand, proteolytic processing has been described for desmosomal proteins that may be active during differentiation, wound healing, or apoptosis. Thus, desmosomal cadherins and PG have been identified as targets of caspases in apoptotic cells (Brancolini et al., 1998; Dusek et al., 2006a; Weiske and Huber, 2005), and, even more importantly, desmosomal cadherins are cleaved on their extracellular domains by metalloproteinases resulting in shedding of these domains. Such a mechanism may be of relevance for metastatic tumor cells by contributing to loss of adhesion (Dusek et al., 2006a; Weiske and Huber, 2005; Weiske et al., 2001). The importance of proteolytic degradation is also observed in Netherton syndrome, a keratinizing disorder that is caused by a defect in the serine protease inhibitor Kazal-type 5 gene (SPINK5). The absence of this inhibitor leads to increased desmosomal cadherin degradation leading to fragility and a decrease of corneodesmosomes (Descargues et al., 2006).

## 6. IMBALANCE OF DESMOSOMAL PROTEIN SYNTHESIS IN TRANSGENIC MICE

#### 6.1. Reduced production of desmosomal proteins

The phenotypes of desmosomal gene knockouts are summarized in Table 3.2. Most unexpected were probably the observed consequences of DSC3 ablation (Den *et al.*, 2006). Embryonic lethality was observed prior to

Gene(s)/Genetic alteration	Phenotype	Reference
Knockouts		
<b>DSG2:</b> constitutive inactivation	<ul> <li>embryonic periimplantation lethality</li> <li>defect in embryonal stem cell proliferation</li> </ul>	Eshkind et al., 2002
<b>DSG3:</b> constitutive inactivation	- intraepithelial lesions in mucous epithelia	Koch <i>et al.</i> , 1997
	- crusted skin erosions upon trauma	Koch <i>et al.</i> , 1998
	<ul> <li>– suppurative conjunctivitis with suprabasilar blisters of eyelids and mucocutaneous conjunctiva</li> </ul>	Hanakawa <i>et al.</i> , 2004
	<ul> <li>hair loss during telogen 3–4 weeks postpartum with separation of cells within outer root sheath, reduced number of desmosomes, and occurrence of separated half- desmosomes surrounding the hair bulb</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>additional inactivation of Dsg1 by exfoliative toxin A leading to loss of anagen hair with separation between outer and inner root sheath at plane of companion layer</li> </ul>	
DSG3 and P-cadherin:	– postnatal lethality	Lenox et al. 2000
constitutive inactivation	<ul> <li>severe blister formation with "row of tombstones" in epidermis and oral mucosa together with desmosomal separation</li> </ul>	
<b>DSC1:</b> constitutive inactivation	skin:	Chidgey et al., 2001
	<ul> <li>localized acantholysis in stratum granulosum occasionally leading to ulcerating lesions and chronic dermatitis</li> <li>flaky skin</li> <li>neutrophil invasion</li> <li>parakeratosis</li> </ul>	

## Table 3.2 Summary of phenotypes observed in desmosomal transgenesis in mice (Holthoefer et al., 2007)

(continued)

## Table 3.2 (continued)

Gene(s)/Genetic alteration	Phenotype	Reference
<b>DSC1:</b> constitutive inactivation resulting in carboxyterminally truncated Dsc1a and b isoforms lacking binding sites for PG and PP1	<ul> <li>compromised barrier function</li> <li>hyperproliferation (increased K6/16 and Ki67 reactivity)</li> <li>localized and permanent hair loss with development of utriculi and dermal cysts</li> <li>improved wound healing</li> <li>normal skin!</li> <li>Dsc1 incorporation into normal desmosomes</li> <li>increased Dsc2 mRNA in suprabasal cell layers without up regulation of Dsc2 protein synthesis</li> </ul>	Cheng <i>et al.</i> , 2004
DSC3: constitutive inactivation DSP: constitutive inactivation	<ul> <li>embryonic lethality before E2.5</li> <li>embryonic postimplantation lethality (E6.5)</li> <li>defect in elongation of egg cylinder elongation due to dissociation of extraembryonic tissues</li> <li>reduced proliferation in all embryonic and extraembryonic tissues</li> <li>reduced number and size of desmosomes</li> <li>collapse of keratin filament network</li> <li>no endothelial chord formation in ES cell-derived embryoid bodies</li> <li>tetraploid rescue of extraembryonic tissues → postgastrulation lethality with defects in heart, neuroepithelium, skin, and blood vessels (reduced number of capillaries and disrupted capillaries)</li> </ul>	Den <i>et al.</i> , 2006 Gallicano <i>et al.</i> , 1998, 2001
<b>DSP:</b> conditional inactivation in epidermis	<ul> <li>blistering</li> <li>absence of inner desmosomal plaque</li> </ul>	Vasioukhin <i>et al.</i> , 2001

	<ul> <li>disturbed keratin filament attachment to desmosomes and perinuclear keratin filament aggregates</li> <li>reduced adherens junctions</li> <li>immunohistology: reorganization of actin filaments, reduced PG, increased PP3</li> <li>immunoblotting: reduced PP2, DSC1; increased DSC1, PP3</li> <li>increased solubility of PG, PP1, DSC1, Dsg1, Dsg3</li> </ul>	
plectin: constitutive	– postpartal lethality	Andra <i>et al.</i> , 1997
inactivation	<ul> <li>– skin blistering with reduced hemidesmosomes but normal desmosomes</li> </ul>	
	- focal disruption of sarcomeres in skeletal muscle	
	- disintegration of intercalated discs in heart	
<b>envoplakin:</b> constitutive inactivation	- slight delay in epidermal barrier formation	Maatta et al., 2001
<b>periplakin:</b> constitutive inactivation	– no apparent phenotype	Aho et al., 2004
JUP: constitutive inactivation	- embryonic lethality from E10.5 onward until birth	Bierkamp <i>et al.</i> , 1996, 1999
	– heart rupture and absence of desmosomes in cardiomyocytes	Ruiz et al., 1996
	<ul> <li>redistribution of desmoplakin to all plaque-bearing junctions in cardiac muscle</li> </ul>	Isac et al., 1999
	- reduced compliance of heart fibers	
	- skin blistering due to subcorneal acantholysis	
	<ul> <li>reduced and abnormal desmosomes in skin and intestinal mucosa</li> </ul>	

(continued)

## Table 3.2 (continued)

Gene(s)/Genetic alteration	Phenotype	Reference
<b>PKP2:</b> constitutive inactivation	<ul> <li>association of β-catenin with Dsg and localization of β-catenin to residual skin desmosomes</li> <li>increase of apoptosis in cultured keratinocytes</li> <li>embryonic lethality (E10.5 - E11)</li> <li>heart defects: reduced trabeculation, atrial wall thinning, perforations of cardiac walls</li> <li>DP mislocalisation in cytoplasmic granular aggregates</li> <li>reduced Dsg2 immunofluorescence and immunoblot signals</li> <li>increased Triton X-100 solubility of DP, Dsg2, PG</li> </ul>	Grossmann <i>et al.</i> , 2004
<b>desmoyokin/AHNAK</b> : constitutive inactivation	– no apparent phenotype	Kouno et al., 2004
<b>Increased Synthesis</b> <b>JUP:</b> full length, FLAG epitope-tagged cDNA and cDNA coding for N- terminally deleted (80 amino acids), myc epitope-tagged PG, keratin 14 promoter- driven transgenes	<ul> <li>reduced proliferation of epidermal and hair follicle keratinocytes</li> <li>stunted hair growth: premature termination of growth phase</li> </ul>	Charpentier <i>et al.</i> , 2000
Production of Mutants DSG3: cDNA coding for FLAG epitope-tagged Dsg3ΔN (deletion of extracellular domain), keratin 14 promoter-driven transgene	<ul> <li>swollen paws and digits</li> <li>flaky skin (dorsolateral)</li> <li>epidermal hyperproliferation</li> <li>reduced and abnormal desmosomes</li> <li>widening of intercellular spaces</li> <li>altered integrin expression</li> </ul>	Allen <i>et al.</i> , 1996

<b>DSP:</b> cDNA coding for FLAG epitope-tagged N-terminal mutants (v30M, Q90R), α-myosin heavy chain promoter-driven transgene	<ul> <li>inflammation</li> <li>progressive self-amputation of tail</li> <li>embryonic lethality</li> </ul>	Yang <i>et al.</i> , 2006
<b>DSP:</b> cDNA coding for FLAG epitope-tagged C-terminal mutant (R2834H), α-myosin heavy chain promoter-driven transgene	<ul> <li>– cardiomyocyte apoptosis</li> <li>– cardiac fibrosis and lipid accumulation</li> <li>– ventricular enlargement and cardiac dysfunction</li> <li>– interrupted DP-desmin interactions</li> </ul>	Yang et al., 2006
Ectopic Synthesis		
<b>DSG2:</b> full-length FLAG epitope-tagged cDNA, involucrin promoter-driven transgene	<ul> <li>– epidermal hyperkeratosis</li> <li>– epidermal hyperplasia</li> <li>– enhanced keratinocyte survival <i>in vitro</i></li> <li>– spontaneous papillomatous skin lesions and increased susceptibility to chemically induced carcinogenesis</li> </ul>	Brennan <i>et al.</i> , 2007
<b>DSG3:</b> full-length FLAG epitope-tagged cDNA, involucrin promoter-driven transgene	<ul> <li>perinatal lethality due to severe dehydration</li> <li>skin barrier defect</li> <li>no epidermal hyperproliferation</li> <li>disturbance of epidermal stratum corneum with gross scaling and lamellar morphology typical of mucous epithelia</li> <li>corneocyte separation with premature dissolution of desmosomes</li> <li>abnormal skin differentiation: flaking, pustules, thinning of hair</li> <li>protection against pemphigus foliaceus antibody-induced blistering</li> </ul>	Elias <i>et al.</i> , 2001
<b>DSG3:</b> full-length cDNA, keratin 1 promoter-driven transgene	– no perinatal lethality – normal skin barrier	Merritt et al., 2002

## Table 3.2 (continued)

Gene(s)/Genetic alteration	Phenotype	Reference
<b>DSC3a</b> and <b>DSC3b:</b> full-length cDNA, keratin 1 promoter-driven transgene	<ul> <li>hyperproliferation: acanthosis, hypergranulosis, hyperkeratosis, localized parakeratosis, increased Ki67 staining, induction of K6/16</li> <li>late onset (&gt;12 weeks) phenotype in skin and hair: flaky skin with pustules containing inflammatory cells and thinning of hair with abnormal hair follicles</li> <li>altered terminal differentiation: suprabasal K14, increased filaggrin, loricrin, involucrin</li> <li>widened intercellular spaces</li> <li>localized progressive ventral alopecia with considerable variability: degenerated hair follicles (utriculi) filled with sebum and keratinized dermal cysts presenting ectopic K1 and loricrin expression indicative of interfollicular transdifferentiation</li> <li>delayed ventral and dorsal hair growth after plucking</li> <li>thickened epidermis in regions of alopecia: acanthosis, hypergranulosis, hyperkeratosis, increased basal and suprabsal keratinocyte proliferation with suprabasal K14 expression and strong K6 expression</li> </ul>	Hardman <i>et al.</i> , 2005
	leading to increased cyclin D1 levels	
<b>DSC1a:</b> full-length cDNA, keratin 14 promoter-driven transgene	– no apparent phenotype	Henkler et al., 2001

implantation in this instance. Only 3% of homozygous mutants could be detected in E2.5 embryos at the 8 to 16 cell morula stage that were obtained from a heterozygous intercross. This demonstrates convincingly that Dsc3 fulfills crucial nondesmosomal functions, at least during this early developmental phase. One possibility is that its presence regulates compaction in some unknown way. Similarly, a nondesmosomal function is also likely for Dsg2, since its deletion prevented survival of embryonal stem cells that are derived from desmosome-free inner mass cells but did not induce defects in the desmosome-positive trophectoderm layer (Eshkind et al., 2002). The provocative conclusion is that Dsg2 also fulfills, at least under certain circumstances, nondesmosomal functions that are essential for cell proliferation. The elucidation of the molecular mechanism that leads to the decrease in PP2 levels in DSG2+/- embryonal stem cells and its consequences on cytoskeletal organization and gene expression may help to unravel this mystery. It will be of interest to find out whether similar changes occur in the absence of Dsc3.

The slightly later embryonic lethality of DP-deficient mice at E6.5 appears to be caused by different defects (Gallicano et al., 1998). A trophectoderm is formed, implantation takes place, but extraembryonic tissues do not develop properly and an overall defect in proliferation occurs. Remarkably, desmosomal-like structures were still detectable in embryonal endoderm and the ectoplacental cone, albeit at reduced number and size resulting in a collapse of the keratin filament network. Formally, it has not been excluded that partial transcripts of the mutant DSP gene are still generated giving rise to amino-terminally deleted polypeptide mutants and thereby explaining the surprising residual desmosome formation. Another bottleneck was identified for DP function by tetraploid rescue of the extraembryonic defects. In this case, lethal postgastrulation defects were noted around E10 affecting heart function, neuroepithelium, skin, and capillaries (Gallicano et al., 2001). Knockdown experiments further showed that the presence of DP is important for tube formation by investigating capillary formation in vitro (Zhou et al., 2004). To examine DP function in adult skin, epidermis-specific knockout animals were prepared (Vasioukhin et al., 2001). Although the number of desmosomes was not significantly altered, they lacked keratin filaments, and mechanical stress led to intercellular blister formation. Cultivating keratinocytes from these animals further revealed defects in epidermal sheet formation demonstrating that DP is needed for functional desmosome assembly and, even more, reinforcement of stable intercellular adhesion.

Inactivation of the plakoblobin-encoding JUP gene and the plakophilin 2-encoding PKP2 gene induced embryonic lethality at E10.5 primarily due to heart defects (Bierkamp *et al.*, 1996; Grossmann *et al.*, 2004; Isac *et al.*, 1999; Ruiz *et al.*, 1996). The absence of these *arm*-repeat polypeptides led to redistribution of DP into granular aggregates and other junctions.



**Figure 3.12** Microscopy of reduced desmosomal adhesion in DSG3 knockout mice (DSG3-KO; A, B, D) and pemphigus vulgaris patients (PV; C). Light microscopy of hematoxylin and eosin-stained sections of epidermis reveals intraepidermal blister formation (A, B). By electron microscopy half-desmosomes are readily apparent in DSG3 knockout mice (B, D) with adhering desmoglea (arrows in D) and large intercellular spaces (double arrows in C). Bars: A, 40  $\mu$ m (same magnification in C); 0.5  $\mu$ m in B; 50 nm in D. (The figures are taken from Figs. 4E and G and 5B and C of Koch *et al.*, 1997, by copyright permission of The Rockefeller University Press.)

In addition, skin blistering was noted in PG mutants with a reduced number of morphologically abnormal desmosomes and retracted intermediate filaments (Bierkamp *et al.*, 1996). It appears that in the absence of PG  $\beta$ -catenin can take over some of its functions, since it was localized to the residual desmosomes in this situation (Bierkamp et al., 1999). On the other hand, PG cannot fully compensate for the loss of  $\beta$ -catenin, which induced ectoderm defects during the gastrulation stage and subsequent lethality (Haegel et al., 1995; Huelsken et al., 2000), although it is upregulated in heart upon  $\beta$ -catenin depletion to maintain apparently normal cardiac structure and function (Zhou et al., 2007). Similarly, different phenotypes were elicited in X. laevis. Depletion of PG resulted in a partial loss of adhesion, and a loss of embryonic shape, but did not affect dorsal signaling (Kofron *et al.*, 1997), whereas downregulation of  $\beta$ -catenin inhibited dorsal mesoderm induction in early embryos (Heasman et al., 1994). In addition, overexpression of PG in X. laevis induced anterior axis duplication upon nuclear accumulation (Karnovsky and Klymkowsky, 1995).

In contrast to the strong phenotypes induced by the absence of obligatory desmosomal components, gene ablation of other components has generally led to less severe defects. In the case of the desmosomal cadherins, pathologies were mostly noted in skin and its appendages (DSC1, DSG3) as well as in mucous epithelia (DSG3) as detailed in Table 3.2. The phenotypes correlate well with the known expression patterns (Chidgey et al., 2001; Koch et al., 1997, 1998). They also highlight the important contribution of these adhesion molecules to mechanical stability of desmosomes, since split half-desmosomes were seen at the cell surface in blistered skin (Fig. 3.12). It is of note, however, that alterations result not only from reduced cell-cell adhesion but also include changes in cell proliferation (Chidgey et al., 2001). Cooperative effects were observed between desmosomal and classical cadherins (Lenox et al., 2000). Surprisingly little phenotypic changes were noted in a DSC1 deletion mutant lacking the Dsc1a- and Dsc1b-specific regions including the PG-binding site in Dsc1a (Cheng et al., 2004). Finally, depletion of the facultative plakins resulted in variable deficiencies in desmosome-bearing tissues ranging from skin blistering and disintegration of the intercalated discs in myocardium in the case of plectin (Andra et al., 1997), a slight defect in epidermal barrier formation for envoplakin (Maatta et al., 2001), to the absence of detectable dysfunctions for periplakin (Aho et al., 2004). Similarly, no defects were noted in desmoyokin<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Kouno et al., 2004).

# 6.2. Overproduction and ectopic synthesis of wild-type and mutant desmosomal proteins

Orthotopic overexpression and ectopic production of desmosomal components as well as expression of mutant desmosomal components have been achieved by injecting specific gene constructs into the male pronuclei of murine zygotes and by examining the transgenic offspring. The resulting complex phenotypes are listed in Table 3.2. Although some of the reports contradict each other in part, several important conclusions can be drawn from these experiments. Dysbalance of desmosomal protein synthesis affects tissue homeostasis by altering tissue differentiation with coincident weakening of cell–cell adhesion and by altering proliferation. While the adhesive defects were expected, although they turned out to be rather mild-natured and affected primarily hair (Allen et al., 1996; Charpentier et al., 2000; Hardman et al., 2005; Merritt et al., 2002), changes in proliferation were much more difficult to understand. Reduced proliferation was noted in situations of PG overexpression (Charpentier et al., 2000), whereas increased proliferation was observed in mice producing elevated levels of Dsg2 (Brennan et al., 2007), or mice synthesizing either amino-terminally deleted Dsg3 or full length Dsg3 and Dsc3a/b in suprabasal epidermal cell layers (Allen et al., 1996; Hardman et al., 2005; Merritt et al., 2002). The most plausible explanation is that the levels of available PG affect cell proliferation via its suppressor function on c-MYC gene expression

(Williamson et al., 2006). Such a dysbalance may also be the underlying reason why reduced proliferation has been reported in Dsg2 and DP knockout mice (Eshkind et al., 2002; Gallicano et al., 1998) but does not readily explain the increased proliferation in Dsc1-deficient animals (Chidgey et al., 2001). The complex crosstalk among the various plaque polypeptides of different junctions and their partially opposing effects on gene transcription in different cell types, all of which relies on specific stoichiometric ratios, remain to be elucidated to provide a molecular understanding of the underlying pathophysiological mechanisms. In addition, it is becoming clear that desmosomal cadherins present isotype-specific functions. In accordance, severe though variable defects were induced by increased suprabasal production of Dsg3 and Dsc3 that are normally restricted to the more basal compartment of the epidermis (Elias et al., 2001; Hardman et al., 2005; Merritt et al., 2002), or ectopic production of Dsg2 in suprabasal keratinocytes (Brennan et al., 2007). These situations also highlight the importance of the relative quantitative levels of desmosomal cadherins for epithelial proliferation and differentiation.

## 7. INTERPLAY BETWEEN DESMOSOMES AND OTHER CELL COMPONENTS

#### 7.1. Crosstalk with adherens junctions

Junction formation appears to be organized in a hierarchical fashion with respect to temporal and spatial coordination. Therefore, adherens junctions initiate cell–cell contacts that are later stabilized by desmosomes. During embryonic development, desmosomes are established only after adherens junctions are formed (see above). Similarly, the same order was observed in cultured MDCK cells employing the calcium switch system in combination with specific inhibitory antibodies (Gumbiner *et al.*, 1988). Also, cadherin function has been shown to be essential for desmosome assembly in keratinocytes (Amagai *et al.*, 1995a; Lewis *et al.*, 1994; Wheelock and Jensen, 1992). Detailed analysis of epithelial sheet formation revealed that this process starts with zippering of actin–containing junctions at the tips of early membrane contacts and that desmosome formation originates in flanking regions where cells were in apposition (Vasioukhin *et al.*, 2000).

Important molecular regulators of desmosome formation may be PG, p0071, and even  $\beta$ -catenin, which are, at least under certain circumstances, components of both types of adhaerens junctions (Hatzfeld *et al.*, 2003; Lewis *et al.*, 1997; Palka and Green, 1997; Setzer *et al.*, 2004). In addition, PPs may be of particular importance, because, in addition to their dual junctional localization, they affect actin organization (Chen *et al.*, 2002; Hatzfeld *et al.*, 2000). Furthermore, signaling mechanisms may contribute

to the crosstalk as suggested by the observation that  $\alpha$ -catenin-mediated junction assembly can be bypassed by PKC to establish junctional complexes in colon carcinoma cell lines (van Hengel *et al.*, 1997).

Specifically, it has been shown that PG is required in a complex with E-cadherin to initiate desmosome assembly in A-431 cells (Lewis et al., 1997). Similarly, introduction of PG into SCC9 cells lacking PG and E-cadherin led to an increase in expression and stability of N-cadherin and a decrease in the level and stability of  $\beta$ -catenin, which in turn induced desmosome formation (Parker et al., 1998). An interesting example of crosstalk between desmosomes and adherens junctions in the context of overall cell behavior was provided by analyses of p0071/PP4 (Setzer et al., 2004). Overexpression of this polypeptide in A-431 cells resulted in increased adherens junction assembly and reduced desmosome assembly that were accompanied by keratin filament retraction. These cells exhibited reduced migration in an *in vitro* wounding system without noticeable alterations in overall adhesive strength. It was suggested that PP4 regulates PG availability. Experimental evidence has also been accrued to suggest that PP2 mediates crosstalk between desmosome formation and  $\beta$ -catenin signaling. It was shown that PP2 binds to  $\beta$ -catenin *in vitro* and that upregulation of PP2 enhances  $\beta$ -catenin signaling (Chen *et al.*, 2002). On the other hand, PPs have been identified as Dsc-binding partners (Bonne et al., 2003). Hence, the increased levels of  $\beta$ -catenin transcriptional activity observed in mice producing increased levels of Dsc3 under the K1 promoter suggest a link between both via a PP signaling activity (Hardman et al., 2005).

Taken together, it appears that each *arm*-molecule contributes in a specific way to the delicate balance between adherens junctions and desmosomes: p120ctn together with p0071 increase the assembly and stability of adherens junctions, whereas p0071 negatively affects desmosome assembly and stability. On the other hand, PP1 increases desmosomal assembly and stability (Hatzfeld *et al.*, 2000; Sobolik-Delmaire *et al.*, 2006; Wahl, 2005). In out-of-balance situations *arm*-proteins may substitute for each other. Therefore,  $\beta$ -catenin has been localized to desmosomes of PG knockout mice (Bierkamp *et al.*, 1999).

Conversely, disruption of desmosomal functions also weakens adherens junctions. This has been noted in DP-deficient keratinocytes (Vasioukhin *et al.*, 2001). Here, DP was shown to be essential for the maturation of adhaerens junctions by clamping down the transient zippering "courtship" of classical cadherins and thereby promoting the maturation of puncta adhaerentia-type junctions and affecting cortical actin remodeling. Similarly, cells producing a DP mutant lacking its rod and IF-binding domains presented reduced mechanical resilience despite the continued presence of other adherens junctions (Huen *et al.*, 2002).

Crosstalk between desmosomes and adherens junctions also includes the transmembrane complexes. In support of this, the presence of Dsgs in nondesmosomal junctions has been reported in embryonal stem cells (Eshkind *et al.*, 2002). In addition, Dsgs were found in association with  $\beta$ -catenin in PG-deficient keratinocytes (Bierkamp *et al.*, 1999). Desmosomal cadherins may even associate in *cis* with E-cadherin as suggested by *in vitro* observations in low calcium conditions (Troyanovsky *et al.*, 1999). Also, altered adherens junctions were found in transgenic mice synthesizing amino-terminally deleted Dsg3 (Allen *et al.*, 1996). Another recent report provided evidence for the presence of an N-cadherin–catenin–vimentin complex that appears to promote cell–cell adhesion in fibroblast L-cells (Kim *et al.*, 2005).

## 7.2. Crosstalk with cytoskeletal filaments

#### 7.2.1. Intermediate filaments

Even though intermediate filaments and desmosomes are attached to each other, they are not essential for the morphogenesis of the other. Therefore, desmosomes are formed in the absence of an intact intermediate filament cytoskeleton (Baribault and Oshima, 1991; Magin *et al.*, 1998) and keratin filament networks exist in the absence of desmosomes, although they are usually collapsed around the nucleus and do not withstand mechanical stress (Gallicano *et al.*, 1998; Troyanovsky *et al.*, 1993, 1994a; Vasioukhin *et al.*, 2001). Interestingly, desmosome-anchored intermediate filaments are more resistant to phosphatase inhibitors and are more long lived than nonanchored filaments, suggesting that they acquired specific properties making them particularly stable and protecting them against disassembly (Strnad *et al.*, 2001, 2002; Windoffer *et al.*, 2004).

Desmosomes are capable of anchoring different types of intermediate filaments. Keratin filaments associate in epithelial cells, desmin filaments in cardiomyocytes, and vimentin in meningeal cells (see Fig. 3.6). The different filaments bind to the carboxy-terminus of the plakins desmoplakin, plectin, and periplakin (Fontao *et al.*, 2003; Karashima and Watt, 2002; Kazerounian *et al.*, 2002; Nikolic *et al.*, 1996; Stappenbeck and Green, 1992) but use different binding motifs (Stappenbeck *et al.*, 1993) and exhibit different binding affinities (Meng *et al.*, 1997).

#### 7.2.2. Actin filaments and microtubules

The organization of the actin filament cytoskeleton has a major impact on desmosome formation as shown by drug-induced actin filament disassembly that resulted in compromised stability, assembly, and spatial organization of desmosomal components at the plasma membrane (Pasdar and Li, 1993). Furthermore, actin filaments have been implicated in the delivery of DP-PP2-containing particles to the plasma membrane (Godsel *et al.*, 2005). A connection between desmosome dynamics and actin filament organization may also be mediated by p0071, which is essential for Rho

A-mediated contractile ring formation during cytokinesis (Wolf *et al.*, 2006). A remarkable dual function was also described for periplakin, which binds to actin via its head-rod domain and to intermediate filaments by its carboxy-terminus, which can be separated *in vivo* by specific caspase 6-mediated cleavage (Kalinin *et al.*, 2005).

On the other hand, intact microtubules appear to be dispensable for desmosome formation (Pasdar *et al.*, 1992). A rather unexpected finding was, however, reported recently (Lechler and Fuchs, 2007). It was shown that DP is essential for the cell type–specific organization of the microtubule system in suprabasal keratinocytes. The effect was attributed to binding of DP to the microtubule-anchoring protein ninein that becomes relocalized in suprabasal cells from a centrosomal to a junctional position around which microtubules reorient. These findings extend much earlier observations in which the plus end microtubule-binding protein CLIP170 was localized to desmosomes in polarizing MDCK cells (Wacker *et al.*, 1992).

#### 7.3. Crosstalk with the nucleus

#### 7.3.1. Shuttling of desmosomal proteins

It has been established that the desmosomal *arm*-repeat-containing polypeptides also reside in the nucleus (Bonne *et al.*, 1999; Hu *et al.*, 2003; Klymkowsky, 1999; Schmidt *et al.*, 1997), where they can interact with the transcriptional apparatus to affect gene expression. In this way, direct regulatory mechanisms appear to exist that couple tight cellular adhesion to proliferation and may thus represent part of the molecular machinery that is responsible for the long-known contact inhibition, a basic property of nontransformed cells. One of the most interesting questions in this context concerns the exact origin of junctional proteins in the nucleus: Are they directly delivered from the endoplasmic reticulum to the nucleus or do they first pass through cell-cell junctions? Several observations suggest that the nuclear pool of  $\beta$ -catenin is fueled from the cadherin-catenin complex (Gottardi and Gumbiner, 2004; Klingelhofer *et al.*, 2003).

It is of note that PG exhibits weaker binding to the transcription factors LEF1 and TCF4 than  $\beta$ -catenin (Maeda *et al.*, 2004; Williams *et al.*, 2000) and that there are significant differences in the transactivation capacity of both (Hecht *et al.*, 1999; Simcha *et al.*, 1998). In contrast to  $\beta$ -catenin, PG decreases rather than increases the affinity of TCF4 and LEF1 for DNA (Miravet *et al.*, 2002; Zhurinsky *et al.*, 2000). It is therefore likely that PG antagonizes, at least in part,  $\beta$ -catenin, as also suggested by recent observations on the suppression of c-MYC gene expression by PG, which is in contrast to its activation by  $\beta$ -catenin (Williamson *et al.*, 2006). The situation becomes even more complicated when considering the binding of PP2 to  $\beta$ -catenin, which upregulates  $\beta$ -catenin/TCF signaling (Chen *et al.*, 2002).

The precise molecular signals and mechanisms that determine nuclear import and export are not known. In the case of PP2 it was shown that S28 phosphorylation by the serine kinase C-TAK-1 facilitates binding to 14-3-3, thereby preventing nuclear entry (Muller *et al.*, 2003).

#### 7.3.2. Signal transduction

It should be kept in mind that the function of cell adhesion molecules extends beyond the mere mechanical coupling of cells engaging in processes of differentiation and proliferation and thereby facilitating tissue homeostasis. They are positioned at the extracellular to intercellular interface and might therefore be important mediators of signal transduction either outside-in or inside-out. Very little is known, however, about such sensing functions. Yet, the observation that anti-Dsg3-containing sera from patients with the autoimmune blistering disease pemphigus vulgaris leads to Dsg3 phosphorylation (Aoyama et al., 1999) concomitant with a transient increase in intracellular calcium and PKC activity (Seishima et al., 1995) supports the notion of information transmission from the outside to intracellular signaling. Autoantibodies directed against Dsg3 also resulted in p38 MAPK activation and HSP27 phosphorylation (Berkowitz et al., 2005). Remarkably, all these changes take place prior to antibody-induced cell separation, suggesting that the specific antibodies do not simply interfere with cell-cell adhesion by steric hindrance (see also Waschke et al., 2005) but elicit specific intracellular signaling events. Consequently, inhibition of p38 MAPK signaling prevented the antibody-dependent keratin filament retraction and actin reorganization (Berkowitz et al., 2005). An important proof of principle was made by coinjecting PV antibodies together with specific p38 MAPK inhibitors intradermally to demonstrate that skin splitting can be prevented effectively in a living animal (Berkowitz et al., 2006). Furthermore, one of the crucial upstream components in this cascade may be the plaque protein PG whose absence also prevented PV IgG-dependent keratinocyte splitting in vitro (Caldelari et al., 2001). Another recent study implicated Rho A as a downstream target of the p38 MAPK-dependent cascade (Waschke et al., 2006). It was shown that Rho A activation and p38 MAPK inactivation inhibited PV- and PF-IgG-dependent splitting as well as cytoskeletal reorganization in an ex vivo human skin model and between HaCaT keratinocytes. Much remains to be done to work out the precise sequence of events. Even more, it will be a major challenge to determine whether these events are directly or indirectly linked to the desmosomal adhesion-dependent regulation of cell survival and proliferation. In particular, the role of PG as an important suppressor of c-MYC transcription has been acknowledged recently (Williamson et al., 2006), a mechanism that would also explain why its absence has an antiapoptotic effect in keratinocytes (Dusek et al., 2006b). Similarly, the depletion of Dsg2 and/or of Dsc3

in knockout mice could exert its antiproliferative effects by setting PG free to suppress cell proliferation (Den *et al.*, 2006; Eshkind *et al.*, 2002).

Conversely, desmosomal dynamics are affected by signaling molecules. The best case so far is the wounding-induced destabilization of desmosomes. It has been shown that desmosomes transit from a calcium-insensitive to a calcium-sensitive state that appears to be mediated by PKC (Wallis *et al.*, 2000). Since the reversion to calcium independence does not rely on additional desmosomal components and occurs spontaneously in confluent cultures, it has been proposed by Garrod and colleagues (2005) that it is primarily associated with conformational changes possibly mediated by altered phosphorylation and resulting in hyperadhesion whose morphological correlate is the presence of a midline. Hyperadhesion is proposed to be the primary condition in healthy epithelia *in vivo*. Evidence for this model was provided by examining the mechanical stability of confluent HaCaT keratinocytes with hyperadhesive desmosomes presenting increased mechanical resilience (Kimura *et al.*, 2006).

## 8. DESMOSOMES AND DISEASE

Much has been learned about desmosomal functions in human diseases that are associated with desmosomal malfunctions and are caused by different pathogenetic mechanisms due to either genetic defects, autoantibodies, bacterial toxins, or to malignant transformation. Table 3.3 lists the affected desmosomal polypeptides together with brief summaries of major symptoms. Since it is impossible to cover the entire literature on the topic, we will restrict the discussion to a few selected aspects.

## 8.1. Genetic diseases

In the past few years there has been an exponentially growing list of monogenic human diseases that are caused by mutations in genes coding for desmosomal proteins (Kottke *et al.*, 2006; McGrath, 2005; McGrath and Wessagowit, 2005). These include the desmosomal cell adhesion molecules as well as desmosomal plaque components and are associated with two major disease phenotypes: those that affect primarily the epidermis and its appendages and those whose clinical symptoms become manifest as cardiac dysfunction. Although the underlying genetic defects are known, much needs to be learned about the molecular pathogenetic mechanisms.

In skin, desmosomal deficiencies caused either by DSG1 or DSP mutations lead to hyperkeratosis that often occurs in the form of prominent bands on palms and soles. Hence, these diseases are referred to as striate palmoplantar keratoderma (SPPK; Alcalai *et al.*, 2003; Armstrong *et al.*,

Туре	Mutated gene – Inheritance	Clinical symptoms
Striate palmoplantar keratoderma (SPPK1)	<b>DSG1</b> – dominant	- hyperkeratotic bands on palms and soles
Striate palmoplantar keratoderma (SPPK2)	<b>DSP</b> – dominant and recessive	<ul> <li>hyperkeratotic bands on palms and soles (may be generalized)</li> <li>varying degrees of ultrastructural alterations in desmosomes and intermediate filament organization</li> <li>woolly hair and hair loss</li> <li>nail dystrophy</li> <li>arrhythmic right ventricular cardiomyopathy</li> </ul>
Ectodermal dysplasia skin fragility syndrome	<b>PKP1</b> – recessive	<ul> <li>dysplasia of skin, hair, nails</li> <li>skin fragility with thickening of epidermis</li> <li>trauma-induced epidermal erosions and blistering</li> <li>impaired wound healing due to reduced migration</li> <li>ultrastructural and molecular alterations of epidermal desmosomes</li> </ul>

 Table 3.3
 Summary of genetic diseases that are caused by distinct desmosomal gene mutations (Holthoefer et al., 2007)

Balding mouse (bal <sup>J</sup> , bal <sup>pas</sup> )	DSG3 – recessive	- epidermal acantholysis $\rightarrow$ cutaneous erosions - mucous membranes $\rightarrow$ runting at d 8–10 - patchy alopecia
<i>Human</i> : localized autosomal recessive hypotrichosis (LAH)	<b>DSG4</b> – recessive	<ul> <li>hypotrichosis of scalp, trunk, and extremities sparing facial, pubic, axillary hair</li> <li>brittle, dystrophic hair: abnormal hair shaft with nodules and lance heads (trichorrhexia nodosa), impaired pigmentation, severe disturbance of inner root sheath</li> </ul>
<i>Mouse/rat</i> : lanceolate hair phenotype (lah; Iffa Credo "hairless" rat)		- thickened interfollicular epidermis with hyperkeratosis and acanthosis
Arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy	<b>DSG2</b> – dominant	<ul> <li>arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy</li> </ul>
	<b>PKP2</b> – dominant	<ul> <li>atrophy of right ventricular myocytes and replacement with fatty or fibrofatty tissue</li> </ul>
Naxos disease	<b>JUP</b> (plakoglobin) – recessive	<ul> <li>arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy</li> <li>striate palmoplantar keratoderma</li> <li>woolly hair</li> </ul>

1999; Basso et al., 2006; Hunt et al., 2001; Kljuic et al., 2003b; Norgett et al., 2000; Pilichou et al., 2006; Rickman et al., 1999; Whittock et al., 1999). The hyperkeratosis is paired with ultrastructural alterations in desmosomes and widening of intercellular spaces (Armstrong et al., 1999; Milingou et al., 2006; Whittock et al., 1999). The severity of disease is generally more restricted in the case of DSG1 mutations corresponding to the type 1 SPPK, occasionally presenting only focal hyperkeratoses instead of the conspicuous striations (Milingou et al., 2006). In contrast, the DSP-caused type 2 SPPK often affects the entire body surface and goes along with defects in hair, nails, and, most notably, the heart. Corresponding differences in severity were also noted by electron and immunofluorescence microscopy revealing that desmosome number, size, and morphology are severely altered and changes in keratin filament organization and composition take place (Wan et al., 2004). The phenotypic differences between the two SPPK types are most likely accounted for by the partial compensation of Dsg1 deficiencies through Dsg3, whereas no such redundancy exists for DP. Interestingly, a pedigree was recently described with a mutation in the amino-terminal domain of DP (S299R) disrupting a putative phosphorylation site that may be implicated in PG binding and was exclusively associated with cardiac symptoms in the form of arrythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy (ARVC; Rampazzo et al., 2002). This finding suggests that DP functions can be separated into those that are essential in the heart and rely primarily on molecular interaction with PG and those that are needed for intermediate filament anchorage with an essential contribution to skin integrity. The latter conclusion is also supported by another DSP mutation leading to pathological manifestations in the skin in the form of lethal acantholysis (Jonkman et al., 2005). The underlying molecular defects were compound heterozygous mutations of DSP in which both mutated alleles had an intact amino-terminus but lacked the carboxy-terminal keratin-binding sites, thereby completely abrogating intermediate filament anchorage although desmosomes were still formed.

The ectodermal dysplasia skin fragility syndrome is another type of epidermal disease that is caused by mutations in a gene encoding a desmosomal component. PKP1 has been identified as the major molecular target in this recessively transmitted affliction (Hamada *et al.*, 2002; McGrath *et al.*, 1997; South, 2004; Sprecher *et al.*, 2004; Whittock *et al.*, 2000). By immunohistology and electron microscopy desmosomal size and frequency were shown to be significantly reduced in the lower suprabasal layers (McMillan *et al.*, 2003). Although desmosome number was also reduced in the upper suprabasal layers, their size was considerably increased in comparison to control skin. In all suprabasal layers poorly developed inner and outer plaques were seen. In addition, a widening of intercellular spaces, reduced midlines, and perturbed intermediate filament organization with anchorage defects and prominent perinuclear aggregates were noted (Hamada *et al.*, 2002; McGrath *et al.*, 1997; South, 2004; Sprecher *et al.*, 2004). The skin fragility was paired with thickening of the epidermis and, most notably, an increased sensitivity to trauma paired with compromised wound healing. It was proposed that reduced migration is responsible for the delayed wounding response (South *et al.*, 2003).

A skin phenotype with pronounced alterations in hair was described in the balding mouse strains that carry mutations in the DSG3 gene (Pulkkinen et al., 2002). They present prominent acantholysis which, in contrast to the aforementioned diseases, is not accompanied by pronounced hyperkeratosis. These blisters are therefore considered to be a direct consequence of compromised adhesion, although we are not aware of any detailed ultrastructural analyses. As expected, the alterations are not restricted to the epidermis but extend to hair and oral mucosa, reflective of the broad distribution pattern of Dsg3. The adhesion defects, which result in impaired hair anchorage, are most notable in these mice, which are referred to as balding (bal) mice (Montagutelli et al., 1997). Almost identical defects are seen in DSG3 knockout mice (Koch et al., 1998). A different phenotype was described for DSG4 mutants that are the cause of localized autosomal recessive hypotrichosis (LAH) in humans (Kljuic et al., 2003a; Moss et al., 2004; Schaffer et al., 2006; Zlotogorski et al., 2006) and are observed in the lanceolate mouse (Kljuic et al., 2003a) and rat (Bazzi et al., 2004; Jahoda et al., 2004; Meyer et al., 2004). Most prominent are the distinct hair abnormalities that result in dystrophic alopecia and are accompanied by variable degrees of follicular hyperkeratosis. The hair is short, dysmorphic, and brittle with characteristic lance heads and alterations in the hair shaft as well as in inner and outer root sheath. The defects demonstrate that the adhesion dysfunction that most likely gives rise to the typical swelling of the hair shaft and hair loss is also coupled with impaired proliferation in the hair matrix and abnormal differentiation in the precortex zone (Bazzi et al., 2004; Jahoda et al., 2004; Kljuic et al., 2003a). It was therefore proposed that Dsg4 acts as a regulator of the transition from proliferation to differentiation (Kljuic et al., 2003a). In addition, mutation of the facultative desmosomal protein corneodesmosin that is synthesized in the upper suprabasal layers of the epidermis and in the inner root sheath of the hair follicle gives rise to the autosomal dominant disorder hypotrichosis simplex, which is characterized by reduced cell-cell adhesion in the inner root sheath and an accumulation of cytoplasmic aggregates (Levy-Nissenbaum et al., 2003).

Naxos disease has long been known as a syndrome in which ARVC is coupled with palmoplantar keratoderma and woolly hair (Protonotarios *et al.*, 1986). Originally, defects in the PG-encoding JUP gene were described as the genetic cause of this recessive disease (McKoy *et al.*, 2000; Protonotarios *et al.*, 2001, 2002). Interestingly, reduced connexin 43 staining can be discerned early and a significant decrease of intercalated discs and ultrastructurally identifiable gap junctions becomes evident (Kaplan *et al.*,

2004) providing an explanation for the observed alterations in intracardiac conduction. Recently, it was found that DSP mutations lead to very similar disease phenotypes acting both in a dominant and recessive fashion (Alcalai et al., 2003; Norgett et al., 2000; Rampazzo et al., 2002; Yang et al., 2006). Quite unexpected was the identification of multiple mutations throughout the DSG2 gene in ARVC (Awad et al., 2006; Basso et al., 2006; Pilichou et al., 2006; Syrris et al., 2006; Tsatsopoulou et al., 2006). In this instance, the dominantly inherited disorder exhibits partial penetrance and is also characterized by cardiac disease with ventricular tachyarrhythmias. Morphologically, an atrophy of ventricular cardiomyocytes and fibrofatty replacement are pathognomonic for all types of ARVC. This again shows that a desmosomal disease phenotype is not simply due to compromised adhesion but is instead the consequence of altered differentiation and cell survival. Given the similarities to the aforementioned cardiac disease phenotypes observed in DSP and JUP mutations, it may be postulated that these factors contribute to the same pathway. Furthermore, PKP2 mutations were reported with almost identical clinical symptoms (Antoniades et al., 2006; Basso et al., 2006; Gerull et al., 2004; Tsatsopoulou et al., 2006), indicating that all factors are intertwined. Therefore, a unique possibility exists to genetically sort out the hierarchy of the cascade of these various polypeptides in the pathogenesis of ARVC by examining their levels and localization in the different genetic backgrounds. Along this line, the observed downregulation of PP2 in DSG2<sup>+/-</sup> embryonal stem cells (Eshkind et al., 2002) can be taken as an indication that Dsg2 is upstream of PP2. Another peculiarity is that DSC2 has not been implicated in ARVC so far, possibly indicating that it lacks the specific signaling function of Dsg2. The Dsg2specific RUD region (see Fig. 3.5) would be a potential module to mediate such functions. Finally, it is puzzling why the DSG2 mutations manifest primarily in the heart and not in liver, colon, or other simple epithelia whose predominant, if not exclusive, Dsg isoform is Dsg2 (see Table 3.1). Maybe the long-lived nature of cardiomyocytes allows the full development of a clinically relevant phenotype whereas the high turnover in other tissues prevents it. Detailed examination of the various Dsg2-positive epithelia may reveal more subtle alterations.

Mutations in the plakin plectin do not lead to desmosomal defects, suggesting that this molecule does not fulfill essential desmosomal functions. Instead it is primarily involved in hemidesmosomal cell–extracellular matrix adhesion in the skin thus leading to junctional epidermolysis bullosa (McLean *et al.*, 1996; Pfendner *et al.*, 2005; Smith *et al.*, 1996).

The evidence for a direct contribution of desmosomal gene mutation to cancer is still surprisingly scarce despite the overwhelming evidence for such a role of the related  $\beta$ -catenin in several malignancies, most notably those that arise from the large intestine (Behrens, 2005; Giles *et al.*, 2003). The strongest case has been presented for PG: The presence of an allelic variation of the JUP gene was shown to be associated with a predisposition to familial breast and ovarian cancer and loss of heterozygosity (Aberle *et al.*, 1995). In addition, a mutation of S28, a potential phosphorylation site, was identified in a gastric cancer (Caca *et al.*, 1999).

#### 8.2. Autoimmune diseases

The examination of several autoimmune diseases that are caused by antibodies directed against desmosomal cadherins has contributed significantly to the understanding of the importance and the mechanisms of desmosomal adhesion. Since numerous reviews have been published on the topic (Bystryn and Rudolph, 2005; Kottke et al., 2006; Payne et al., 2004), we will only summarize a few well-established aspects of these diseases. A common feature of these life-threatening diseases is the formation of blisters that are prone to superinfection (Fig. 3.13). While Dsg3 autoantibodies result in acantholysis of lower suprabasal cell layers in the epidermis and in erosions of the oral mucosa (Figs. 3.12 and 3.13), only superficial and skin-restricted blister formation is elicited by Dsg1 autoantibodies. These differences have been known for a long time and led to the distinction of two major forms of pemphigus, namely the Dsg 3-related PV and Dsg 1-related pemphigus foliaceus (PF) that occurs also endemically as the Brazilian fogo selvagem. The desmoglein compensation theory states that both Dsgs can compensate for each other to maintain adhesion. Therefore, the lesions in PV arise in the deepest epidermal layers that lack Dsg1, leading to the notorious "tombstone-like" appearance (Fig. 3.13D and E). Conversely, blisters occur in PF in the most superficial layers where there is no Dsg3. This argument is further supported by experiments in which DSG3<sup>-/-</sup> animals were treated with anti-Dsg1 antibodies and suprabasilar blisters developed instead of subcorneal blisters (Mahoney et al., 1999). Furthermore, regional differences in lesion formation in the skin and oral mucosa are most likely due to the different distribution of Dsg1 and Dsg3 (see Table 3.1). It is not clear, however, why Dsg2 is not able to make up for the loss of Dsg3 in PV.

The pathophysiology of PV and PF has been worked out in some detail. Specific autoantibodies that are directed against distinct domains of desmosomal cadherins have been isolated from affected patients where they occur bound to the surface of epidermal cells and in circulating body fluids (e.g., Allen *et al.*, 1993; Amagai *et al.*, 1991, 1994; Eyre and Stanley, 1987, 1988; Ishii *et al.*, 1997; Koulu *et al.*, 1984; Olague-Alcala *et al.*, 1994; Stanley *et al.*, 1986; Fig. 3.13C). Various transfer assays demonstrated that these isolated antibodies are sufficient to induce blister formation (Amagai *et al.*, 1992; Anhalt *et al.*, 1982; Mahoney *et al.*, 1999; Rock *et al.*, 1989). Most convincingly, passive transfer of affinity-purified anti-Dsg1-antibodies into neonatal mice led to subcorneal, epidermis-restricted acantholysis



**Figure 3.13** Alterations in patients suffering from pemphigus vulgaris (A, B, D, E) and pemphigus foliaceus (C). Note the blister formation in various parts of the skin and oral mucosa of the patient shown in A and B independent of mechanical stress. The affected areas have a tendency for bacterial superinfection. Patient sera contain autoantibodies that elicit a plasma membrane staining in the epidermis corresponding to desmosomes (C). In pemphigus foliaceus staining is strongest in suprabasal cell layers (C) and in pemphigus vulgaris in intermediate cell layers. The histology of affected areas reveals intraepithelial blister formation due to loss of cell–cell adhesion either in the upper cell layers in the case of pemphigus foliaceus (not shown) or in the lower cell layers along with formation of basal "tombstones" in the case of pemphigus vulgaris (D, E). Bars: 50  $\mu$ m in C, E; 100  $\mu$ m in D. (The original images were kindly provided by Dr. C. Sunderkötter and were prepared by the photolaboratory of the Clinic and Polyclinic of Dermatology, University Münster, thanks to Ms. J. Bückmann, P.Wissel, and Dr. T. Luger.)

without mucous membrane involvement (Amagai *et al.*, 1995b; Rock *et al.*, 1989). Conversely, antibodies against the extracellular domain of Dsg3 caused suprabasilar blisters as well as acantholysis in mucous membranes of neonatal mice (Amagai *et al.*, 1992). Furthermore, all pathogenic antibodies

could be depleted from either PV or PF sera by adsorption to the extracellular domains of Dsg3 and Dsg1, respectively (Amagai *et al.*, 1994, 1995b; Memar *et al.*, 1996). A highly sophisticated adoptive PV mouse transfer model was recently described: Splenocytes were isolated from DSG3<sup>-/-</sup> mice that had been immunized with recombinant Dsg3 and were introduced into RAG2<sup>-/-</sup> immunodeficient mice (Amagai *et al.*, 2000b). As expected, the recipient mice developed typical symptoms of PV. Thus, there is little doubt that anti-Dsg antibodies induce skin blistering. Two aspects are, however, the subject of intense discussion: (1) What is the exact molecular mechanism that leads to skin blistering? (2) How do other autoantibodies that are frequently observed in PV and PF patients contribute to the disease? For a detailed discussion of these topics, see Amagai *et al.* (2006).

Two major alternative pathomechanisms have been discussed in the past: (1) direct inhibition of adhesion by antibodies and/or (2) involvement of intracellular signaling processes. The first is supported by observations showing that the most potent pathogenic PV monoclonal antibodies interact with the functionally important N-terminal adhesive interface (Tsunoda et al., 2003). Release of desmosomal cadherins into small clusters that are readily internalized and the formation of desmosomal halves at the cells surface are considered to be direct consequences of antibody binding (Calkins et al., 2006; Sato et al., 2000). Although pathogenic autoantibodies may not be able to penetrate inside desmosomes, it can be assumed that they are able to block turnover of desmosomal components, especially taking the high turnover rates noted in cultured systems into consideration (Gloushankova et al., 2003; Windoffer et al., 2002). The second pathogenetic mechanism is primarily supported by in vitro observations. Addition of IgG from PV sera to cultured keratinocytes caused a transient increase in intracellular calcium and inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>) (Seishima et al., 1995). This response was inhibited by an inhibitor of phospholipase C (PLC), suggesting that the latter is involved in PV-IgG-induced inositol bisphosphate hydrolysis to generate IP<sub>3</sub> (Esaki et al., 1995). PLC also produces diacylglycerol, which activates PKC, of which certain isoforms were increased and translocated to a particulate cytoskeletal fraction within 30 sec of PV-IgG supplementation (Osada et al., 1997). PV-IgG also induced phosphorylation of Dsg3 and dissociation of plakoglobin from Dsg3 in cultured keratinocytes (Aoyama et al., 1999). Interestingly, keratin retraction from cell-cell contact sites was observed that required PGmediated signaling (Caldelari et al., 2001) and involves p38 MAPK and Rho A (Berkowitz et al., 2005, 2006; Waschke et al., 2006). It should be stressed that activation of intracellular pathways precedes cell splitting and desmosomal cadherin disengagement, which is not completely abolished by antibody binding (Waschke et al., 2005). Eventually, signaling may lead to apoptosis (Arredondo et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2004). Clearly, antibody binding itself does not instantaneously lead to splitting, which is temporally and spatially regulated (Shimizu *et al.*, 2004).

The ongoing controversy about the pathogenesis of PF and PV is even more complicated by the fact that patients develop, in addition to anti-Dsg1 and anti-Dsg3, a large spectrum of autoantibodies against cell surface molecules such as other Dsgs, all Dscs, E-cadherin, collagen XVIII, several subunits of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptors, and annexins, to name but a few (Amagai *et al.*, 2006). Obviously, anti-E-cadherin antibodies, for example, act synergistically enhancing the antiadhesion effect of anti-Dsg antibodies (Evangelista *et al.*, 2006). Also, these additional autoantibodies may be pathogenic on their own as shown for antiacetylcholine receptor antibodies both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Nguyen *et al.*, 2000). Similarly, it was recently reported that activation of the EGF receptor and Src kinases can still be elicited in Dsg-depleted keratinocytes by PV-IgG (Chernyavsky *et al.*, 2007).

The involvement of Dscs in autoimmune diseases has been much less explored. It is likely linked to IgA-pemphigus, a vesiculopustular dermatosis in which Dsc antibodies were identified. Although initial observations suggested that different subtypes could be correlated with immunoreactivities directed either against Dsc3 or Dsc1 (Hashimoto *et al.*, 1996), more stringent assays could confirm the presence of only Dsc1-specific autoantibodies (Hashimoto *et al.*, 1997). Furthermore, Dsc antibodies were also observed in Hallopeau-type pemphigus vegetans (Hashimoto *et al.*, 1994), in pemphigus herpetiformis (Kozlowska *et al.*, 2003), and also in PF and PV (Dmochowski *et al.*, 1993, 1995), although these findings may not be related directly to the etiology of these diseases.

#### 8.3. Bacterial toxins

The importance of Dsgs for epidermal integrity became even more apparent when the target of *Staphylococcus aureus* toxins was identified as Dsg1 (Amagai *et al.*, 2000a, 2002; Hanakawa *et al.*, 2002). *S. aureus* infections are among the most common bacterial infections in children. These patients usually present with bullous impetigo that may, especially in young children but also in immunocompromised adults, develop into a generalized and life-threatening form, the so-called staphylococcal scalded skin syndrome (SSSS). In this case, subcorneal epidermal blisters appear over the entire body surface. The disease-causing exfoliative toxins A, B, and D are serine proteases, all of which with very high specificity exclusively cleave Dsg1 after glutamic acid residue 381, which is positioned between extracellular domains 3 and 4 (see Fig. 3.5; Amagai *et al.*, 2002; Hanakawa *et al.*, 2002). The resulting symptoms phenocopy those observed in PF, namely cell–cell separation in the cell layers beneath the stratum corneum. In this way, bacteria open up a specific niche that is used for spreading in the otherwise hardly penetrable skin.

#### 8.4. Cancer

The inverse interrelationship between cell–cell adhesion and malignant transformation is well recognized, and reduced cell–cell adhesion is considered to be one of the hallmarks of malignant tumors favoring formation of metastasis. The relevance of this concept for desmosomal adhesion is supported by observations of desmosome-free fibroblasts producing desmosomal components (Dsc1a and b, Dsg1, and PG) that not only exhibited increased adhesion but also reduced invasion in an *in vitro* assay (Tselepis *et al.*, 1998). On the other hand, components of certain adhesion structures, most notably of desmosomes, have served as reliable tumor markers in histodiagnosis, especially in the distinction of epithelial tumors and meningiomas (Akat *et al.*, 2003; Moll *et al.*, 1986).

Downregulation of desmosomal components has been reported for a number of different tumors such as squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (Bosch et al., 2005), mouth (Depondt et al., 1999; Harada et al., 1992; Hiraki et al., 1996; Shinohara et al., 1998), pharynx (Depondt et al., 1999), esophagus (Natsugoe et al., 1997), and skin (Krunic et al., 1998; Tada et al., 2000), and was seen in urothelial carcinomas (Conn et al., 1990). Reduced Dsg3 was also noted in breast cancer (Klus et al., 2001; Oshiro et al., 2003). In gastric cancer reduced and abnormally distributed Dsg2 was observed (Biedermann et al., 2005; Yashiro et al., 2006). Interestingly, a significant reduction in Dsgs was noted in comparisons of low- and high-grade intraepithelial lesions of the uterine cervix (Alazawi et al., 2003; de Boer et al., 1999). An absence of downregulation, however, was observed in colorectal carcinomas (Collins et al., 1990), and even an upregulation of Dsg2 was described in squamous cell carcinomas with a positive correlation to high-risk tumors (Kurzen et al., 2003). Dsc, Dsg, and DP expression was reported to be inversely correlated with differentiation status, invasiveness, and lymph node metastasis in oral squamous cell carcinomas (Hiraki et al., 1996; Shinohara et al., 1998). More detailed analyses suggested that the reduction of desmosomal components is most prominent in the respective invasion front (i.e., in a region where cells migrate into the surrounding connective tissue) (Depondt et al., 1999; Hiraki et al., 1996; see, however, Kurzen et al., 2003) and is related to more aggressive types of tumors some of which undergo epithelial-mesenchymal transition (for desmosome dissociation during early stages of epithelial-mesenchymal transition, see Boyer et al., 1989; Savagner et al., 1997).

The direct molecular linkage between cell adhesion and altered gene expression in tumors has been elucidated, at least in part, for  $\beta$ -catenin (Behrens, 2005; Giles *et al.*, 2003).  $\beta$ -Catenin is a major structural protein of adherens junctions as part of the linker system coupling the transmembrane cadherin adhesion molecules to the actin cytoskeleton. Nonjunctional  $\beta$ -catenin is usually rapidly degraded by the ubiquitin–proteasome system

involving the serine/threonine kinase GSK  $3\beta$  and the axin/APC multiprotein complex. The amino-terminally serine-phosphorylated  $\beta$ -catenin is recognized by the ubiquitin ligase  $\beta$ -TrCP. Stabilization of cytoplasmic  $\beta$ -catenin by *wnt* signaling or in tumors through a number of different mechanisms results in nuclear translocation where  $\beta$ -catenin interacts with LEF/TCF transcription factors leading to transactivation of LEF/TCF target genes, which include the dorsalizing genes *Siamois*, *Twin*, and *Xn3*, the protooncogene c-MYC, cyclin D1, fibronectin, and the matrix metalloprotease matrilysin.  $\beta$ -Catenin mutations occur frequently and are among the most common in colorectal carcinomas.

The situation is much more complicated for the related PG, which, as pointed out above, differs in several ways from  $\beta$ -catenin and is rarely mutated in tumors. Most observations suggest, however, that it may function as a tumor suppressor. In accordance, reduced PG synthesis has been noted in tumors and metastatic lesions of renal cells (Buchner et al., 1998), oral and pharyngeal squamous cell carcinomas (Depondt et al., 1999), esophageal carcinomas (Nakanishi et al., 1997), prostate cancer (Shiina et al., 2005), and skin carcinomas (Tada et al., 2000). Furthermore, JUP mutations have been identified in gastric cancer (Caca et al., 1999) and loss of PG has been observed during cancer progression (Aberle et al., 1995; Amitay et al., 2001). Loss of heterozygosity has been reported in some sporadic breast, ovarian, and prostate cancers (Aberle et al., 1995; Shiina et al., 2005). The tumor suppressor function is also supported by experiments in which PG was overexpressed in various cell lines leading to inhibited cell growth and reduced tumorigenicity (Simcha et al., 1996; Winn et al., 2002). Similarly, de novo expression of PG in SCC9 squamous cell carcinoma cells led not only to epidermoid differentiation with desmosome formation but also to a decreased growth rate and increased matrix adhesiveness (Parker et al., 1998). Furthermore, overproduction of PG in skin of transgenic mice resulted in suppression of epithelial proliferation and hair growth (Charpentier et al., 2000) in line with its proposed function as a key suppressor of c-MYC in skin (Williamson et al., 2006).

On the other hand, PG protects keratinocytes from apoptosis possibly by an increase in the antiapoptotic molecule BCL-X<sub>L</sub> in keratinocytes (Dusek *et al.*, 2006b). Furthermore and in contrast to the aforementioned studies, an oncogenic potential of PG was proposed by others. Thus a strong transforming capacity was described for PG in RK3E epithelial cells (Kolligs *et al.*, 2000) and overexpression of PG in squamous cell carcinoma cells of line SCC9 resulted in uncontrolled growth and foci formation with inhibition of apoptosis and induction of BCL-2 expression (Hakimelahi *et al.*, 2000). The discrepancies may be explained by cell type–specific differences and indirect effects of PG on  $\beta$ -catenin activity.

Several studies investigated the distribution of PPs in various types of carcinomas (Furukawa et al., 2005; Mertens et al., 1999; Moll et al., 1997;

Papagerakis et al., 2003; Schwarz et al., 2006). In squamous cell carcinomas an inverse relationship between the degree of malignancy and synthesis of PP1 and PP3 was observed (Schwarz et al., 2006). Interestingly, p0071 appeared to be associated with tumor growth, exhibiting an inverse relationship to tumor size (Papagerakis et al., 2003). PP2 antibody staining was reported to be generally weak or absent in these tumors by some (Mertens et al., 1999; Schwarz et al., 2006) but not by others who found a positive correlation with metastasis formation (Papagerakis et al., 2003). PP2 was, however, consistently detectable in adenocarcinomas (Mertens et al., 1999; Schwarz et al., 2006). In hepatocellular carcinoma PP2 was the only PP except for limited PP1-positive foci with nuclear reactivity (Schwarz et al., 2006). In most other adenocarcinomas, with the exception of prostate cancer, PP2 was coexpressed with PP3, whereas PP1 was usually absent (Schwarz et al., 2006). Interestingly and somewhat in contrast to other aforementioned reports, PP3 was shown to be elevated in all non-small-cell lung carcinomas including adenocarcinomas and squamous cell carcinomas, and it was proposed to be a useful prognostic marker (Furukawa et al., 2005). Whether PPs themselves affect tumor development and progression in an isotype-specific fashion as suggested by some (Furukawa et al., 2005; Schwarz et al., 2006) and how this relates to their specific subcellular localization remain to be shown.

# 9. CONCLUDING REMARKS

The current review attempted to provide a broad overview of the molecular diversity of desmosomes and their functions as tissue stabilizers but also attempted to point out current developments that assign additional functions to desmosomes concerning tissue differentiation and proliferation. In the coming years it will be necessary to meet the challenge to work out the molecular details of the complex interactions that occur not only within desmosomes but that also take place with outside partners to identify upstream and downstream regulators whose intricate balance affects the basic cellular machinery resulting in finely tunable shifts between differentiating and proliferating activities.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We wish to thank Dr. Holger Jastrow (this institute) for providing Figs. 3.1B and C, Dr. Jürgen Kartenbeck (German Cancer Research Center, Heidelberg, Germany) for Figs. 3.6 and 3.7D, Dr. Peter Koch (Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX) for contributions to Fig. 3.12, and Dr. Cord Sunderkötter (Clinic and Polyclinic of Dermatology, University

Münster, Germany) for images presented in Fig. 3.13. The authors are also grateful for the expert technical help of Ursula Wilhelm. The work was supported by the Deutsche Krebshilfe and the German Research Council.

## REFERENCES

- Aberle, H., Butz, S., Stappert, J., Weissig, H., Kemler, R., and Hoschuetzky, H. (1994). Assembly of the cadherin-catenin complex *in vitro* with recombinant proteins. *J. Cell Sci.* **107**, 3655–3663.
- Aberle, H., Bierkamp, C., Torchard, D., Serova, O., Wagner, T., Natt, E., Wirsching, J., Heidkamper, C., Montagna, M., Lynch, H. T., Lenoir, G. M., Scherer, G., et al. (1995). The human plakoglobin gene localizes on chromosome 17q21 and is subjected to loss of heterozygosity in breast and ovarian cancers. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92, 6384–6388.
- Aberle, H., Schwartz, H., Hoschuetzky, H., and Kemler, R. (1996). Single amino acid substitutions in proteins of the armadillo gene family abolish their binding to alphacatenin. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 1520–1526.
- Adams, M. J., Reichel, M. B., King, I. A., Marsden, M. D., Greenwood, M. D., Thirlwell, H., Arnemann, J., Buxton, R. S., and Ali, R. R. (1998). Characterization of the regulatory regions in the human desmoglein genes encoding the pemphigus foliaceous and pemphigus vulgaris antigens. *Biochem. J.* **329**, 165–174.
- Aho, S., Li, K., Ryoo, Y., McGee, C., Ishida-Yamamoto, A., Uitto, J., and Klement, J. F. (2004). Periplakin gene targeting reveals a constituent of the cornified cell envelope dispensable for normal mouse development. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 24, 6410–6418.
- Akat, K., Mennel, H. D., Kremer, P., Gassler, N., Bleck, C. K., and Kartenbeck, J. (2003). Molecular characterization of desmosomes in meningiomas and arachnoidal tissue. *Acta Neuropathol. (Berl.)* 106, 337–347.
- Al-Amoudi, A., Norlen, L. P., and Dubochet, J. (2004). Cryo-electron microscopy of vitreous sections of native biological cells and tissues. J. Struct. Biol. 148, 131–135.
- Al-Amoudi, A., Dubochet, J., and Norlen, L. (2005). Nanostructure of the epidermal extracellular space as observed by cryo-electron microscopy of vitreous sections of human skin. J. Invest. Dermatol. 124, 764–777.
- Alazawi, W. O., Morris, L. S., Stanley, M. A., Garrod, D. R., and Coleman, N. (2003). Altered expression of desmosomal components in high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions of the cervix. *Virchows Arch.* 443, 51–56.
- Alcalai, R., Metzger, S., Rosenheck, S., Meiner, V., and Chajek-Shaul, T. (2003). A recessive mutation in desmoplakin causes arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia, skin disorder, and woolly hair. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 42, 319–327.
- Allen, E., Yu, Q. C., and Fuchs, E. (1996). Mice expressing a mutant desmosomal cadherin exhibit abnormalities in desmosomes, proliferation, and epidermal differentiation. J. Cell Biol. 133, 1367–1382.
- Allen, E. M., Giudice, G. J., and Diaz, L. A. (1993). Subclass reactivity of pemphigus foliaceus autoantibodies with recombinant human desmoglein. J. Invest. Dermatol. 100, 685–691.
- Alpatov, R., Munguba, G. C., Caton, P., Joo, J. H., Shi, Y., Hunt, M. E., and Sugrue, S. P. (2004). Nuclear speckle-associated protein Pnn/DRS binds to the transcriptional corepressor CtBP and relieves CtBP-mediated repression of the E-cadherin gene. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 24, 10223–10235.
- Amagai, M., Klaus-Kovtun, V., and Stanley, J. R. (1991). Autoantibodies against a novel epithelial cadherin in pemphigus vulgaris, a disease of cell adhesion. *Cell* 67, 869–877.
- Amagai, M., Karpati, S., Prussick, R., Klaus-Kovtun, V., and Stanley, J. R. (1992). Autoantibodies against the amino-terminal cadherin-like binding domain of pemphigus vulgaris antigen are pathogenic. J. Clin. Invest. 90, 919–926.
- Amagai, M., Hashimoto, T., Shimizu, N., and Nishikawa, T. (1994). Absorption of pathogenic autoantibodies by the extracellular domain of pemphigus vulgaris antigen (Dsg3) produced by baculovirus. J. Clin. Invest. 94, 59–67.
- Amagai, M., Fujimori, T., Masunaga, T., Shimizu, H., Nishikawa, T., Shimizu, N., Takeichi, M., and Hashimoto, T. (1995a). Delayed assembly of desmosomes in keratinocytes with disrupted classic-cadherin-mediated cell adhesion by a dominant negative mutant. J. Invest. Dermatol. 104, 27–32.
- Amagai, M., Hashimoto, T., Green, K. J., Shimizu, N., and Nishikawa, T. (1995b). Antigen-specific immunoadsorption of pathogenic autoantibodies in pemphigus foliaceus. J. Invest. Dermatol. 104, 895–901.
- Amagai, M., Matsuyoshi, N., Wang, Z. H., Andl, C., and Stanley, J. R. (2000a). Toxin in bullous impetigo and staphylococcal scalded-skin syndrome targets desmoglein 1. *Nat. Med.* 6, 1275–1277.
- Amagai, M., Tsunoda, K., Suzuki, H., Nishifuji, K., Koyasu, S., and Nishikawa, T. (2000b). Use of autoantigen-knockout mice in developing an active autoimmune disease model for pemphigus. J. Clin. Invest. 105, 625–631.
- Amagai, M., Yamaguchi, T., Hanakawa, Y., Nishifuji, K., Sugai, M., and Stanley, J. R. (2002). Staphylococcal exfoliative toxin B specifically cleaves desmoglein 1. J. Invest. Dermatol. 118, 845–850.
- Amagai, M., Ahmed, A. R., Kitajima, Y., Bystryn, J. C., Milner, Y., Gniadecki, R., Hertl, M., Pincelli, C., Kurzen, H., Fridkis-Hareli, M., Aoyama, Y., Frusic-Zlotkin, M., et al. (2006). Are desmoglein autoantibodies essential for the immunopathogenesis of pemphigus vulgaris, or just "witnesses of disease"? Exp. Dermatol. 15, 815–831.
- Amar, L. S., Shabana al, H. M., Oboeuf, M., Martin, N., and Forest, N. (1998). Desmosomes are regulated by protein kinase C in primary rat epithelial cells. *Cell Adhes. Commun.* 5, 1–12.
- Amar, L. S., Shabana, A. H., Oboeuf, M., Martin, N., and Forest, N. (1999). Involvement of desmoplakin phosphorylation in the regulation of desmosomes by protein kinase C, in HeLa cells. *Cell Adhes. Commun.* 7, 125–138.
- Amitay, R., Nass, D., Meitar, D., Goldberg, I., Davidson, B., Trakhtenbrot, L., Brok-Simoni, F., Ben-Ze'ev, A., Rechavi,G., and Kaufinann, Y. (2001). Reduced expression of plakoglobin correlates with adverse outcome in patients with neuroblastoma. Am. J. Pathol. 159, 43–49.
- Andl, C. D., and Stanley, J. R. (2001). Central role of the plakoglobin-binding domain for desmoglein 3 incorporation into desmosomes. J. Invest. Dermatol. 117, 1068–1074.
- Andra, K., Lassmann, H., Bittner, R., Shorny, S., Fassler, R., Propst, F., and Wiche, G. (1997). Targeted inactivation of plectin reveals essential function in maintaining the integrity of skin, muscle, and heart cytoarchitecture. *Genes Dev.* **11**, 3143–3156.
- Angst, B. D., Nilles, L. A., and Green, K. J. (1990). Desmoplakin II expression is not restricted to stratified epithelia. J. Cell Sci. 97, 247–257.
- Anhalt, G. J., Labib, R. S., Voorhees, J. J., Beals, T. F., and Diaz, L. A. (1982). Induction of pemphigus in neonatal mice by passive transfer of IgG from patients with the disease. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **306**, 1189–1196.
- Antoniades, L., Tsatsopoulou, A., Anastasakis, A., Syrris, P., Asimaki, A., Panagiotakos, D., Zambartas, C., Stefanadis, C., McKenna, W. J., and Protonotarios, N. (2006). Arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy caused by deletions in plakophilin-2 and plakoglobin (Naxos disease) in families from Greece and Cyprus: Genotype-phenotype relations, diagnostic features and prognosis. *Eur. Heart J.* 27, 2208–2216.

- Aoyama, Y., Owada, M. K., and Kitajima, Y. (1999). A pathogenic autoantibody, pemphigus vulgaris-IgG, induces phosphorylation of desmoglein 3, and its dissociation from plakoglobin in cultured keratinocytes. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 29, 2233–2240.
- Armstrong, D. K., McKenna, K. E., Purkis, P. E., Green, K. J., Eady, R. A., Leigh, I. M., and Hughes, A. E. (1999). Haploinsufficiency of desmoplakin causes a striate subtype of palmoplantar keratoderma. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 8, 143–148.
- Arnemann, J., Sullivan, K. H., Magee, A. I., King, I. A., and Buxton, R. S. (1993). Stratification-related expression of isoforms of the desmosomal cadherins in human epidermis. J. Cell Sci. 104, 741–750.
- Arredondo, J., Chernyavsky, A. I., Karaouni, A., and Grando, S. A. (2005). Novel mechanisms of target cell death and survival and of therapeutic action of IVIg in pemphigus. *Am. J. Pathol.* **167**, 1531–1544.
- Awad, M. M., Dalal, D., Cho, E., Amat-Alarcon, N., James, C., Tichnell, C., Tucker, A., Russell, S. D., Bluemke, D. A., Dietz, H. C., Calkins, H., Judge, D. P., *et al.* (2006). DSG2 mutations contribute to arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia/cardiomyopathy. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* **79**, 136–142.
- Baker, J., and Garrod, D. (1993). Epithelial cells retain junctions during mitosis. J. Cell Sci. 104, 415–425.
- Baribault, H., and Oshima, R. G. (1991). Polarized and functional epithelia can form after the targeted inactivation of both mouse keratin 8 alleles. J. Cell Biol. 115, 1675–1684.
- Basso, C., Czarnowska, E., Della Barbera, M., Bauce, B., Beffagna, G., Wlodarska, E. K., Pilichou, K., Ramondo, A., Lorenzon, A., Wozniek, O., Corrado, D., Daliento, L., *et al.* (2006). Ultrastructural evidence of intercalated disc remodelling in arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy: An electron microscopy investigation on endomyocardial biopsies. *Eur. Heart J.* 27, 1847–1854.
- Bazzi, H., Kljuic, A., Christiano, A. M., Christiano, A. M., and Panteleyev, A. A. (2004). Intragenic deletion in the desmoglein 4 gene underlies the skin phenotype in the Iffa Credo "hairless" rat. *Differentiation* 72, 450–464.
- Bazzi, H., Getz, A., Mahoney, M. G., Ishida-Yamamoto, A., Langbein, L., Wahl, J. K., 3rd., and Christiano, A. M. (2006). Desmoglein 4 is expressed in highly differentiated keratinocytes and trichocytes in human epidermis and hair follicle. *Differentiation* 74, 129–140.
- Behrens, J. (2005). The role of the Wnt signalling pathway in colorectal tumorigenesis. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 33, 672–675.
- Ben-Ze'ev, A., and Geiger, B. (1998). Differential molecular interactions of beta-catenin and plakoglobin in adhesion, signaling and cancer. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 10, 629–639.
- Berkowitz, P., Hu, P., Liu, Z., Diaz, L. A., Enghild, J. J., Chua, M. P., and Rubenstein, D. S. (2005). Desmosome signaling: Inhibition of p38 MAPK prevents pemphigus vulgaris IgGinduced cytoskeleton reorganization. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 23778–23784.
- Berkowitz, P., Hu, P., Warren, S., Liu, Z., Diaz, L. A., and Rubenstein, D. S. (2006). p38MAPK inhibition prevents disease in pemphigus vulgaris mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 103, 12855–12860.
- Biedermann, K., Vogelsang, H., Becker, I., Plaschke, S., Siewert, J. R., Hofler, H., and Keller, G. (2005). Desmoglein 2 is expressed abnormally rather than mutated in familial and sporadic gastric cancer. J. Pathol. 207, 199–206.
- Bierkamp, C., McLaughlin, K. J., Schwarz, H., Huber, O., and Kemler, R. (1996). Embryonic heart and skin defects in mice lacking plakoglobin. *Dev. Biol.* 180, 780–785.
- Bierkamp, C., Schwarz, H., Huber, O., and Kemler, R. (1999). Desmosomal localization of beta-catenin in the skin of plakoglobin null-mutant mice. *Development* 126, 371–381.
- Bizzozero, G. (1864). Delle cellule cigliate, del reticulo Malpighiano d'ell epidermide. Ann. Univ. Med. 190, 110–118.
- Bizzozero, G. (1870). Sulla struttura degli epiteli pavimentosi stratificati. Rend. dell'inst. Lombardo 3, 675.

- Blaschuk, O. W., Sullivan, R., David, S., and Pouliot, Y. (1990). Identification of a cadherin cell adhesion recognition sequence. *Dev. Biol.* 139, 227–229.
- Boggon, T. J., Murray, J., Chappuis-Flament, S., Wong, E., Gumbiner, B. M., and Shapiro, L. (2002). C-cadherin ectodomain structure and implications for cell adhesion mechanisms. *Science* 296, 1308–1313.
- Bonne, S., van Hengel, J., and van Roy, F. (1998). Chromosomal mapping of human armadillo genes belonging to the p120(ctn)/plakophilin subfamily. *Genomics* **51**, 452–454.
- Bonne, S., van Hengel, J., Nollet, F., Kools, P., and van Roy, F. (1999). Plakophilin-3, a novel armadillo-like protein present in nuclei and desmosomes of epithelial cells. J. Cell Sci. 112, 2265–2276.
- Bonne, S., Gilbert, B., Hatzfeld, M., Chen, X., Green, K. J., and van Roy, F. (2003). Defining desmosomal plakophilin-3 interactions. J. Cell Biol. 161, 403–416.
- Bornslaeger, E. A., Corcoran, C. M., Stappenbeck, T. S., and Green, K. J. (1996). Breaking the connection: Displacement of the desmosomal plaque protein desmoplakin from cellcell interfaces disrupts anchorage of intermediate filament bundles and alters intercellular junction assembly. J. Cell Biol. 134, 985–1001.
- Bornslaeger, E. A., Godsel, L. M., Corcoran, C. M., Park, J. K., Hatzfeld, M., Kowalczyk, A. P., and Green, K. J. (2001). Plakophilin 1 interferes with plakoglobin binding to desmoplakin, yet together with plakoglobin promotes clustering of desmosomal plaque complexes at cell-cell borders. J. Cell Sci. 114, 727–738.
- Borrmann, C. M., Grund, C., Kuhn, C., Hofmann, I., Pieperhoff, S., and Franke, W. W. (2006). The area composita of adhering junctions connecting heart muscle cells of vertebrates. II. Colocalizations of desmosomal and fascia adhaerens molecules in the intercalated disk. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 85, 469–485.
- Bosch, F. X., Andl, C., Abel, U., and Kartenbeck, J. (2005). E-cadherin is a selective and strongly dominant prognostic factor in squamous cell carcinoma: A comparison of E-cadherin with desmosomal components. *Int. J. Cancer* **114**, 779–790.
- Bosher, J. M., Hahn, B. S., Legouis, R., Sookhareea, S., Weimer, R. M., Gansmuller, A., Chisholm, A. D., Rose, A. M., Bessereau, J. L., and Labouesse, M. (2003). The Caenorhabditis elegans vab-10 spectraplakin isoforms protect the epidermis against internal and external forces. J. Cell Biol. 161, 757–768.
- Boyer, B., Tucker, G. C., Valles, A. M., Franke, W. W., and Thiery, J. P. (1989). Rearrangements of desmosomal and cytoskeletal proteins during the transition from epithelial to fibroblastoid organization in cultured rat bladder carcinoma cells. *J. Cell Biol.* **109**, 1495–1509.
- Brancolini, C., Sgorbissa, A., and Schneider, C. (1998). Proteolytic processing of the adherens junctions components beta-catenin and gamma-catenin/plakoglobin during apoptosis. *Cell Death Differ.* 5, 1042–1050.
- Brandner, J. M., Reidenbach, S., and Franke, W. W. (1997). Evidence that "pinin," reportedly a differentiation-specific desmosomal protein, is actually a widespread nuclear protein. *Differentiation* 62, 119–127.
- Brandner, J. M., Reidenbach, S., Kuhn, C., and Franke, W. W. (1998). Identification and characterization of a novel kind of nuclear protein occurring free in the nucleoplasm and in ribonucleoprotein structures of the "speckle" type. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* **75**, 295–308.
- Brembeck, F. H., Rosario, M., and Birchmeier, W. (2006). Balancing cell adhesion and Wnt signaling, the key role of beta-catenin. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* 16, 51–59.
- Brennan, D., Hu, Y., Kljuic, A., Choi, Y., Joubeh, S., Bashkin, M., Wahl, J., Fertala, A., Pulkkinen, L., Uitto, J., Christiano, A. M., Panteleyev, A., *et al.* (2004). Differential structural properties and expression patterns suggest functional significance for multiple mouse desmoglein 1 isoforms. *Differentiation* **72**, 434–449.
- Brennan, D., Hu, Y., Joubeh, S., Choi, Y. W., Whitaker-Menezes, D., O'Brien, T., Uitto, J., Rodeck, U., and Mahoney, M. G. (2007). Suprabasal Dsg2 expression in

transgenic mouse skin confers a hyperproliferative and apoptosis-resistant phenotype to keratinocytes. J. Cell Sci. 120, 758–771.

- Buchner, A., Oberneder, R., Riesenberg, R., Keiditsch, E., and Hofstetter, A. (1998). Expression of plakoglobin in renal cell carcinoma. *Anticancer Res.* **18**, 4231–4235.
- Burdett, I. D. (1993). Internalisation of desmosomes and their entry into the endocytic pathway via late endosomes in MDCK cells. Possible mechanisms for the modulation of cell adhesion by desmosomes during development. *J. Cell Sci.* **106**, 1115–1130.
- Burdett, I. D. (1998). Aspects of the structure and assembly of desmosomes. *Micron* 29, 309–328.
- Burdett, I. D., and Sullivan, K. H. (2002). Desmosome assembly in MDCK cells: Transport of precursors to the cell surface occurs by two phases of vesicular traffic and involves major changes in centrosome and Golgi location during a Ca(2+) shift. *Exp. Cell Res.* 276, 296–309.
- Buxton, R. S., Cowin, P., Franke, W. W., Garrod, D. R., Green, K. J., King, I. A., Koch, P. J., Magee, A. I., Rees, D. A., Stanley, J. R., and Steinberg, M. S. (1993). Nomenclature of the desmosomal cadherins. J. Cell Biol. 121, 481–483.
- Bystryn, J. C., and Rudolph, J. L. (2005). Pemphigus. Lancet 366, 61-73.
- Caca, K., Kolligs, F. T., Ji, X., Hayes, M., Qian, J., Yahanda, A., Rimm, D. L., Costa, J., and Fearon, E. R. (1999). Beta- and gamma-catenin mutations, but not E-cadherin inactivation, underlie T-cell factor/lymphoid enhancer factor transcriptional deregulation in gastric and pancreatic cancer. *Cell Growth Differ.* **10**, 369–376.
- Caldelari, R., de Bruin, A., Baumann, D., Suter, M. M., Bierkamp, C., Balmer, V., and Muller, E. (2001). A central role for the armadillo protein plakoglobin in the autoimmune disease pemphigus vulgaris. J. Cell Biol. 153, 823–834.
- Calkins, C. C., Hoepner, B. L., Law, C. M., Novak, M. R., Setzer, S. V., Hatzfeld, M., and Kowalczyk, A. P. (2003). The armadillo family protein p0071 is a VE-cadherin- and desmoplakin-binding protein. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 1774–1783.
- Calkins, C. C., Setzer, S. V., Jennings, J. M., Summers, S., Tsunoda, K., Amagai, M., and Kowalczyk, A. P. (2006). Desmoglein endocytosis and desmosome disassembly are coordinated responses to pemphigus autoantibodies. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 7623–7634.
- Charpentier, E., Lavker, R. M., Acquista, E., and Cowin, P. (2000). Plakoglobin suppresses epithelial proliferation and hair growth *in vivo*. J. Cell Biol. 149, 503–520.
- Chen, X., Bonne, S., Hatzfeld, M., van Roy, F., and Green, K. J. (2002). Protein binding and functional characterization of plakophilin 2. Evidence for its diverse roles in desmosomes and beta-catenin signaling. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 10512–10522.
- Cheng, X., and Koch, P. J. (2004). In vivo function of desmosomes. J. Dermatol. 31, 171-187.
- Cheng, X., Mihindukulasuriya, K., Den, Z., Kowalczyk, A. P., Calkins, C. C., Ishiko, A., Shimizu, A., and Koch, P. J. (2004). Assessment of splice variant-specific functions of desmocollin 1 in the skin. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 24, 154–163.
- Chernyavsky, A. I., Arredondo, J., Kitajima, Y., Sato-Nagai, M., and Grando, S. A. (2007). Desmoglein vs. non-desmoglein signaling in pemphigus acantholysis: Characterization of novel signaling pathways downstream of pemphigus vulgaris antigens. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 13804–13812.
- Chidgey, M. (2002). Desmosomes and disease: An update. *Histol. Histopathol.* 17, 1179–1192.
- Chidgey, M. A., Clarke, J. P., and Garrod, D. R. (1996). Expression of full-length desmosomol glycoproteins (desmocollins) is not sufficient to confer strong adhesion on transfected L929 cells. J. Invest. Dermatol. 106, 689–695.
- Chidgey, M., Brakebusch, C., Gustafsson, E., Cruchley, A., Hail, C., Kirk, S., Merritt, A., North, A., Tselepis, C., Hewitt, J., Byrne, C., Fassler, R., et al. (2001). Mice lacking desmocollin 1 show epidermal fragility accompanied by barrier defects and abnormal differentiation. J. Cell Biol. 155, 821–832.

- Chitaev, N. A., and Troyanovsky, S. M. (1997). Direct Ca2+-dependent heterophilic interaction between desmosomal cadherins, desmoglein and desmocollin, contributes to cell-cell adhesion. J. Cell Biol. 138, 193–201.
- Chitaev, N. A., Leube, R. E., Troyanovsky, R. B., Eshkind, L. G., Franke, W. W., and Troyanovsky, S. M. (1996). The binding of plakoglobin to desmosomal cadherins: Patterns of binding sites and topogenic potential. *J. Cell Biol.* **133**, 359–369.
- Chitaev, N. A., Averbakh, A. Z., Troyanovsky, R. B., and Troyanovsky, S. M. (1998). Molecular organization of the desmoglein-plakoglobin complex. J. Cell Sci. 111, 1941–1949.
- Choi, H. J., and Weis, W. I. (2005). Structure of the armadillo repeat domain of plakophilin 1. J. Mol. Biol. **346**, 367–376.
- Choi, H. J., Park-Snyder, S., Pascoe, L. T., Green, K. J., and Weis, W. I. (2002). Structures of two intermediate filament-binding fragments of desmoplakin reveal a unique repeat motif structure. *Nat. Struct. Biol.* 9, 612–620.
- Choi, H. J., Huber, A. H., and Weis, W. I. (2006). Thermodynamics of beta-catenin-ligand interactions: The roles of the N- and C-terminal tails in modulating binding affinity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 1027–1038.
- Citi, S. (1992). Protein kinase inhibitors prevent junction dissociation induced by low extracellular calcium in MDCK epithelial cells. J. Cell Biol. 117, 169–178.
- Collins, J. E., and Fleming, T. P. (1995). Epithelial differentiation in the mouse preimplantation embryo: Making adhesive cell contacts for the first time. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 20, 307–312.
- Collins, J. E., Taylor, I., and Garrod, D. R. (1990). A study of desmosomes in colorectal carcinoma. Br. J. Cancer 62, 796–805.
- Collins, J. E., Lorimer, J. E., Garrod, D. R., Pidsley, S. C., Buxton, R. S., and Fleming, T. P. (1995). Regulation of desmocollin transcription in mouse preimplantation embryos. *Development* 121, 743–753.
- Conn, I. G., Vilela, M. J., Garrod, D. R., Crocker, J., and Wallace, D. M. (1990). Immunohistochemical staining with monoclonal antibody 32–2B to desmosomal glycoprotein 1. Its role in the histological assessment of urothelial carcinomas. *Br. J. Urol.* 65, 176–180.
- Coulombe, P. A. (2002). A new fold on an old story: Attachment of intermediate filaments to desmosomes. Nat. Struct. Biol. 9, 560–562.
- Cowin, P., Kapprell, H. P., and Franke, W. W. (1985). The complement of desmosomal plaque proteins in different cell types. J. Cell Biol. 101, 1442–1454.
- Cowin, P., Kapprell, H. P., Franke, W. W., Tamkun, J., and Hynes, R. O. (1986). Plakoglobin: A protein common to different kinds of intercellular adhering junctions. *Cell* 46, 1063–1073.
- Cowley, C. M., Simrak, D., Marsden, M. D., King, I. A., Arnemann, J., and Buxton, R. S. (1997). A YAC contig joining the desmocollin and desmoglein loci on human chromosome 18 and ordering of the desmocollin genes. *Genomics* 42, 208–216.
- de Boer, C. J., van Dorst, E., van Krieken, H., Jansen-van Rhijn, C. M., Warnaar, S. O., Fleuren, G. J., and Litvinov, S. V. (1999). Changing roles of cadherins and catenins during progression of squamous intraepithelial lesions in the uterine cervix. *Am. J. Pathol.* **155**, 505–515.
- Dembitzer, H. M., Herz, F., Schermer, A., Wolley, R. C., and Koss, L. G. (1980). Desmosome development in an *in vitro* model. *J. Cell Biol.* **85**, 695–702.
- Demlehner, M. P., Schafer, S., Grund, C., and Franke, W. W. (1995). Continual assembly of half-desmosomal structures in the absence of cell contacts and their frustrated endocytosis: A coordinated Sisyphus cycle. J. Cell Biol. 131, 745–760.
- Den, Z., Cheng, X., Merched-Sauvage, M., and Koch, P. J. (2006). Desmocollin 3 is required for pre-implantation development of the mouse embryo. J. Cell Sci. 119, 482–489.

- Denisenko, N., Burighel, P., and Citi, S. (1994). Different effects of protein kinase inhibitors on the localization of junctional proteins at cell-cell contact sites. J. Cell Sci. 107, 969–981.
- Denk, H., Lackinger, E., Cowin, P., and Franke, W. W. (1985). Maintenance of desmosomes in mouse hepatocytes after drug-induced rearrangement of cytokeratin filament material. Demonstration of independence of desmosomes and intermediate-sized filaments. *Exp. Cell Res.* 161, 161–171.
- Depondt, J., Shabana, A. H., Florescu-Zorila, S., Gehanno, P., and Forest, N. (1999). Down-regulation of desmosomal molecules in oral and pharyngeal squamous cell carcinomas as a marker for tumour growth and distant metastasis. *Eur. J. Oral Sci.* 107, 183–193.
- Descargues, P., Deraison, C., Prost, C., Fraitag, S., Mazereeuw-Hautier, J., D'Alessio, M., Ishida-Yamamoto, A., Bodemer, C., Zambruno, G., and Hovnanian, A. (2006). Corneodesmosomal cadherins are preferential targets of stratum corneum trypsin- and chymotrypsin-like hyperactivity in Netherton syndrome. J. Invest. Dermatol. 126, 1622–1632.
- Dmochowski, M., Hashimoto, T., Garrod, D. R., and Nishikawa, T. (1993). Desmocollins I and II are recognized by certain sera from patients with various types of pemphigus, particularly Brazilian pemphigus foliaceus. J. Invest. Dermatol. 100, 380–384.
- Dmochowski, M., Hashimoto, T., Chidgey, M. A., Yue, K. K., Wilkinson, R. W., Nishikawa, T., and Garrod, D. R. (1995). Demonstration of antibodies to bovine desmocollin isoforms in certain pemphigus sera. Br. J. Dermatol. 133, 519–525.
- Donetti, E., Boschini, E., Cerini, A., Selleri, S., Rumio, C., and Barajon, I. (2004). Desmocollin 1 expression and desmosomal remodeling during terminal differentition of human anagen hair follicle: An electron microscopic study. *Exp. Dermatol.* 13, 289–297.
- Ducibella, T., Albertini, D. F., Anderson, E., and Biggers, J. D. (1975). The preimplantation mammalian embryo: Characterization of intercellular junctions and their appearance during development. *Dev. Biol.* 45, 231–250.
- Duden, R., and Franke, W. W. (1988). Organization of desmosomal plaque proteins in cells growing at low calcium concentrations. J. Cell Biol. 107, 1049–1063.
- Dusek, R. L., Getsios, S., Chen, F., Park, J. K., Amargo, E. V., Cryns, V. L., and Green, K. J. (2006a). The differentiation-dependent desmosomal cadherin desmoglein 1 is a novel caspase-3 target that regulates apoptosis in keratinocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 3614–3624.
- Dusek, R. L., Godsel, L. M., Chen, F., Strohecker, A. M., Getsios, S., Harmon, R., Muller, E. J., Caldelari, R., Cryns, V. L., and Green, K. J. (2006b). Plakoglobin deficiency protects keratinocytes from apoptosis. J. Invest. Dermatol. 127, 792–801.
- Dusek, R. L., Godsel, L. M., and Green, K. J. (2007). Discriminating roles of desmosomal cadherins: Beyond desmosomal adhesion. J. Dermatol. Sci. 45, 7–21.
- Eger, A., Stockinger, A., Wiche, G., and Foisner, R. (1997). Polarisation-dependent association of plectin with desmoplakin and the lateral submembrane skeleton in MDCK cells. J. Cell Sci. 110, 1307–1316.
- Elias, P. M., Matsuyoshi, N., Wu, H., Lin, C., Wang, Z. H., Brown, B. E., and Stanley, J. R. (2001). Desmoglein isoform distribution affects stratum corneum structure and function. *J. Cell Biol.* **153**, 243–249.
- Esaki, C., Seishima, M., Yamada, T., Osada, K., and Kitajima, Y. (1995). Pharmacologic evidence for involvement of phospholipase C in pemphigus IgG-induced inositol 1,4,5trisphosphate generation, intracellular calcium increase, and plasminogen activator secretion in DJM-1 cells, a squamous cell carcinoma line. J. Invest. Dermatol. 105, 329–333.
- Eshkind, L., Tian, Q., Schmidt, A., Franke, W. W., Windoffer, R., and Leube, R. E. (2002). Loss of desmoglein 2 suggests essential functions for early embryonic development and proliferation of embryonal stem cells. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 81, 592–598.

- Evangelista, F., Dasher, D. A., Diaz, L. A., and Li, N. (2006). The prevalence of autoantibodies against E-cadherin in pemphigus. J. Invest. Dermatol. 126, 9.
- Eyre, R. W., and Stanley, J. R. (1987). Human autoantibodies against a desmosomal protein complex with a calcium-sensitive epitope are characteristic of pemphigus foliaceus patients. J. Exp. Med. 165, 1719–1724.
- Eyre, R. W., and Stanley, J. R. (1988). Identification of pemphigus vulgaris antigen extracted from normal human epidermis and comparison with pemphigus foliaceus antigen. J. Clin. Invest. 81, 807–812.
- Fairley, J. A., Scott, G. A., Jensen, K. D., Goldsmith, L. A., and Diaz, L. A. (1991). Characterization of keratocalmin, a calmodulin-binding protein from human epidermis. *J. Clin. Invest.* 88, 315–322.
- Farquhar, M. G., and Palade, G. E. (1963). Junctional complexes in various epithelia. J. Cell Biol. 17, 375–412.
- Fawcett, D. W., and Selby, C. C. (1958). Observations on the fine structure of the turtle atrium. J. Biophys. Biochem. Cytol. 4, 63–72.
- Fialka, I., Schwarz, H., Reichmann, E., Oft, M., Busslinger, M., and Beug, H. (1996). The estrogen-dependent c-JunER protein causes a reversible loss of mammary epithelial cell polarity involving a destabilization of adherens junctions. J. Cell Biol. 132, 1115–1132.
- Fleming, T. P., Garrod, D. R., and Elsmore, A. J. (1991). Desmosome biogenesis in the mouse preimplantation embryo. *Development* 112, 527–539.
- Fleming, T. P., Butler, L., Lei, X., Collins, J., Javed, Q., Sheth, B., Stoddart, N., Wild, A., and Hay, M. (1994). Molecular maturation of cell adhesion systems during mouse early development. *Histochemistry* **101**, 1–7.
- Fontao, L., Favre, B., Riou, S., Geerts, D., Jaunin, F., Saurat, J. H., Green, K. J., Sonnenberg, A., and Borradori, L. (2003). Interaction of the bullous pemphigoid antigen 1 (BP230) and desmoplakin with intermediate filaments is mediated by distinct sequences within their COOH terminus. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 14, 1978–1992.
- Franke, W. W., Borrmann, C. M., Grund, C., and Pieperhoff, S. (2006). The area composita of adhering junctions connecting heart muscle cells of vertebrates. I. Molecular definition in intercalated disks of cardiomyocytes by immunoelectron microscopy of desmosomal proteins. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 85, 69–82.
- Fuchs, M., Muller, T., Lerch, M. M., and Ullrich, A. (1996). Association of human proteintyrosine phosphatase kappa with members of the armadillo family. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 16712–16719.
- Furukawa, C., Daigo, Y., Ishikawa, N., Kato, T., Ito, T., Tsuchiya, E., Sone, S., and Nakamura, Y. (2005). Plakophilin 3 oncogene as prognostic marker and therapeutic target for lung cancer. *Cancer Res.* 65, 7102–7110.
- Gallicano, G. I., Kouklis, P., Bauer, C., Yin, M., Vasioukhin, V., Degenstein, L., and Fuchs, E. (1998). Desmoplakin is required early in development for assembly of desmosomes and cytoskeletal linkage. J. Cell Biol. 143, 2009–2022.
- Gallicano, G. I., Bauer, C., and Fuchs, E. (2001). Rescuing desmoplakin function in extraembryonic ectoderm reveals the importance of this protein in embryonic heart, neuroepithelium, skin and vasculature. *Development* 128, 929–941.
- Garrod, D. R., Merritt, A. J., and Nie, Z. (2002). Desmosomal cadherins. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 14, 537–545.
- Garrod, D. R., Berika, M. Y., Bardsley, W. F., Holmes, D., and Tabernero, L. (2005). Hyper-adhesion in desmosomes: Its regulation in wound healing and possible relationship to cadherin crystal structure. J. Cell Sci. 118, 5743–5754.
- Gaudry, C. A., Palka, H. L., Dusek, R. L., Huen, A. C., Khandekar, M. J., Hudson, L. G., and Green, K. J. (2001). Tyrosine-phosphorylated plakoglobin is associated with desmogleins but not desmoplakin after epidermal growth factor receptor activation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, 24871–24880.

- Gerull, B., Heuser, A., Wichter, T., Paul, M., Basson, C. T., McDermott, D. A., Lerman, B. B., Markowitz, S. M., Ellinor, P. T., MacRae, C. A., Peters, S., Grossmann, K. S., *et al.* (2004). Mutations in the desmosomal protein plakophilin-2 are common in arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. *Nat. Genet.* 36, 1162–1164.
- Getsios, S., Amargo, E. V., Dusek, R. L., Ishii, K., Sheu, L., Godsel, L. M., and Green, K. J. (2004a). Coordinated expression of desmoglein 1 and desmocollin 1 regulates intercellular adhesion. *Differentiation* 72, 419–433.
- Getsios, S., Huen, A. C., and Green, K. J. (2004b). Working out the strength and flexibility of desmosomes. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol.* **5**, 271–281.
- Giles, R. H., van Es, J. H., and Clevers, H. (2003). Caught up in a Wnt storm: Wnt signaling in cancer. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1653, 1–24.
- Gloushankova, N. A., Wakatsuki, T., Troyanovsky, R. B., Elson, E., and Troyanovsky, S. M. (2003). Continual assembly of desmosomes within stable intercellular contacts of epithelial A-431 cells. *Cell Tissue Res.* **314**, 399–410.
- Godsel, L. M., Hsieh, S. N., Amargo, E. V., Bass, A. E., Pascoe-McGillicuddy, L. T., Huen, A. C., Thorne, M. E., Gaudry, C. A., Park, J. K., Myung, K., Goldman, R. D., Chew, T. L., et al. (2005). Desmoplakin assembly dynamics in four dimensions: Multiple phases differentially regulated by intermediate filaments and actin. J. Cell Biol. 171, 1045–1059.
- Gottardi, C. J., and Gumbiner, B. M. (2004). Distinct molecular forms of beta-catenin are targeted to adhesive or transcriptional complexes. J. Cell Biol. 167, 339–349.
- Green, K. J., and Gaudry, C. A. (2000). Are desmosomes more than tethers for intermediate filaments? *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol.* **1**, 208–216.
- Gregory, S. L., and Brown, N. H. (1998). Kakapo, a gene required for adhesion between and within cell layers in *Drosophila*, encodes a large cytoskeletal linker protein related to plectin and dystrophin. J. Cell Biol. 143, 1271–1282.
- Grossmann, K. S., Grund, C., Huelsken, J., Behrend, M., Erdmann, B., Franke, W. W., and Birchmeier, W. (2004). Requirement of plakophilin 2 for heart morphogenesis and cardiac junction formation. J. Cell Biol. 167, 149–160.
- Gumbiner, B., Stevenson, B., and Grimaldi, A. (1988). The role of the cell adhesion molecule uvomorulin in the formation and maintenance of the epithelial junctional complex. J. Cell Biol. 107, 1575–1587.
- Gusek, W. (1962). Submicroscopic studies as a contribution to the structure and oncology of meningioma. *Beitr. Pathol. Anat.* **127**, 274–326.
- Haegel, H., Larue, L., Ohsugi, M., Fedorov, L., Herrenknecht, K., and Kemler, R. (1995). Lack of beta-catenin affects mouse development at gastrulation. *Development* 121, 3529–3537.
- Hakimelahi, S., Parker, H. R., Gilchrist, A. J., Barry, M., Li, Z., Bleackley, R. C., and Pasdar, M. (2000). Plakoglobin regulates the expression of the anti-apoptotic protein BCL-2. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 10905–10911.
- Hamada, T., South, A. P., Mitsuhashi, Y., Kinebuchi, T., Bleck, O., Ashton, G. H., Hozumi, Y., Suzuki, T., Hashimoto, T., Eady, R. A., and McGrath, J. A. (2002). Genotype-phenotype correlation in skin fragility-ectodermal dysplasia syndrome resulting from mutations in plakophilin 1. *Exp. Dermatol.* **11**, 107–114.
- Hanakawa, Y., Amagai, M., Shirakata, Y., Sayama, K., and Hashimoto, K. (2000). Different effects of dominant negative mutants of desmocollin and desmoglein on the cell-cell adhesion of keratinocytes. J. Cell Sci. 113, 1803–1811.
- Hanakawa, Y., Schechter, N. M., Lin, C., Garza, L., Li, H., Yamaguchi, T., Fudaba, Y., Nishifuji, K., Sugai, M., Amagai, M., and Stanley, J. R. (2002). Molecular mechanisms of blister formation in bullous impetigo and staphylococcal scalded skin syndrome. *J. Clin. Invest.* **110**, 53–60.

- Hanakawa, Y., Selwood, T., Woo, D., Lin, C., Schechter, N. M., and Stanley, J. R. (2003). Calcium-dependent conformation of desmoglein 1 is required for its cleavage by exfoliative toxin. J. Invest. Dermatol. 121, 383–389.
- Hanakawa, Y., Li, H., Lin, C., Stanley, J. R., and Costsarelis, G. (2004). Desmogleins 1 and 3 in the companion layer anchor mouse anagen hair to the follicle. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 123, 817–822.
- Harada, T., Shinohara, M., Nakamura, S., Shimada, M., and Oka, M. (1992). Immunohistochemical detection of desmosomes in oral squamous cell carcinomas: Correlation with differentiation, mode of invasion, and metastatic potential. *Int. J. Oral Maxillofac. Surg.* 21, 346–349.
- Hardman, M. J., Liu, K., Avilion, A. A., Merritt, A., Brennan, K., Garrod, D. R., and Byrne, C. (2005). Desmosomal cadherin misexpression alters beta-catenin stability and epidermal differentiation. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 25, 969–978.
- Hashimoto, T., Amagai, M., Parry, D. A., Dixon, T. W., Tsukita, S., Tsukita, S., Miki, K., Sakai, K., Inokuchi, Y., Kudoh, J., Shimizu, N., and Nishikawa, T. (1993). Desmoyokin, a 680 kDa keratinocyte plasma membrane-associated protein, is homologous to the protein encoded by human gene AHNAK. J. Cell Sci. 105, 275–286.
- Hashimoto, K., Hashimoto, T., Higashiyama, M., Nishikawa, T., Garrod, D. R., and Yoshikawa, K. (1994). Detection of anti-desmocollins I and II autoantibodies in two cases of Hallopeau type pemphigus vegetans by immunoblot analysis. J. Dermatol. Sci. 7, 100–106.
- Hashimoto, T., Ebihara, T., Dmochowski, M., Kawamura, K., Suzuki, T., Tsurufuji, S., Garrod, D. R., and Nishikawa, T. (1996). IgA antikeratinocyte surface autoantibodies from two types of intercellular IgA vesiculopustular dermatosis recognize distinct isoforms of desmocollin. Arch. Dermatol. Res. 288, 447–452.
- Hashimoto, T., Kiyokawa, C., Mori, O., Miyasato, M., Chidgey, M. A., Garrod, D. R., Kobayashi, Y., Komori, K., Ishii, K., Amagai, M., and Nishikawa, T. (1997). Human desmocollin 1 (Dsc1) is an autoantigen for the subcorneal pustular dermatosis type of IgA pemphigus. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* **109**, 127–131.
- Hatsell, S., Medina, L., Merola, J., Haltiwanger, R., and Cowin, P. (2003). Plakoglobin is O-glycosylated close to the N-terminal destruction box. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 37745–37752.
- Hatzfeld, M. (1999). The armadillo family of structural proteins. Int. Rev. Cytol. 186, 179–224.
- Hatzfeld, M. (2006). Plakophilins: Multifunctional proteins or just regulators of desmosomal adhesion? *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1773, 69–77.
- Hatzfeld, M., and Nachtsheim, C. (1996). Cloning and characterization of a new armadillo family member, p0071, associated with the junctional plaque: Evidence for a subfamily of closely related proteins. J. Cell Sci. 109, 2767–2778.
- Hatzfeld, M., Kristjansson, G. I., Plessmann, U., and Weber, K. (1994). Band 6 protein, a major constituent of desmosomes from stratified epithelia, is a novel member of the armadillo multigene family. J. Cell Sci. 107, 2259–2270.
- Hatzfeld, M., Haffner, C., Schulze, K., and Vinzens, U. (2000). The function of plakophilin 1 in desmosome assembly and actin filament organization. J. Cell Biol. 149, 209–222.
- Hatzfeld, M., Green, K. J., and Sauter, H. (2003). Targeting of p0071 to desmosomes and adherens junctions is mediated by different protein domains. *J. Cell Sci.* **116**, 1219–1233.
- He, W., Cowin, P., and Stokes, D. L. (2003). Untangling desmosomal knots with electron tomography. *Science* **302**, 109–113.
- Heasman, J., Crawford, A., Goldstone, K., Garner-Hamrick, P., Gumbiner, B., McCrea, P., Kintner, C., Noro, C. Y., and Wylie, C. (1994). Overexpression of cadherins and underexpression of beta-catenin inhibit dorsal mesoderm induction in early *Xenopus* embryos. *Cell* 79, 791–803.

- Hecht, A., Litterst, C. M., Huber, O., and Kemler, R. (1999). Functional characterization of multiple transactivating elements in beta-catenin, some of which interact with the TATA-binding protein *in vitro*. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 18017–18025.
- Heid, H. W., Schmidt, A., Zimbelmann, R., Schafer, S., Winter-Simanowski, S., Stumpp, S., Keith, M., Figge, U., Schnolzer, M., and Franke, W. W. (1994). Cell type-specific desmosomal plaque proteins of the plakoglobin family: Plakophilin 1 (band 6 protein). *Differentiation* 58, 113–131.
- Henkler, F., Strom, M., Mathers, K., Cordingley, H., Sullivan, K., and King, I. (2001). Transgenic misexpression of the differentition-specific desmocollin isofrom 1 in basal keratinocytes. J. Invest. Dermatol. 116, 144–149.
- Hennings, H., and Holbrook, K. A. (1983). Calcium regulation of cell-cell contact and differentiation of epidermal cells in culture. An ultrastructural study. *Exp. Cell Res.* 143, 127–142.
- Hieda, Y., and Tsukita, S. (1989). A new high molecular mass protein showing unique localization in desmosomal plaque. J. Cell Biol. 109, 1511–1518.
- Hiraki, A., Shinohara, M., Ikebe, T., Nakamura, S., Kurahara, S., and Garrod, D. R. (1996). Immunohistochemical staining of desmosomal components in oral squamous cell carcinomas and its association with tumour behaviour. *Br. J. Cancer* 73, 1491–1497.
- Hofmann, I., Mertens, C., Brettel, M., Nimmrich, V., Schnolzer, M., and Herrmann, H. (2000). Interaction of plakophilins with desmoplakin and intermediate filament proteins: An *in vitro* analysis. J. Cell Sci. 113, 2471–2483.
- Hofmann, I., Casella, M., Schnolzer, M., Schlechter, T., Spring, H., and Franke, W. W. (2006). Identification of the junctional plaque protein plakophilin 3 in cytoplasmic particles containing RNA-binding proteins and the recruitment of plakophilins 1 and 3 to stress granules. *Mol. Biol. Cell* **17**, 1388–1398.
- Hollnagel, A., Grund, C., Franke, W. W., and Arnold, H. H. (2002). The cell adhesion molecule M-cadherin is not essential for muscle development and regeneration. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 22, 4760–4770.
- Holm, P. K., Hansen, S. H., Sandvig, K., and van Deurs, B. (1993). Endocytosis of desmosomal plaques depends on intact actin filaments and leads to a nondegradative compartment. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 62, 362–371.
- Horstmann, E., and Knoop, A. (1958). Electron microscopic studies on the epidermis. I. Rat paw. Z. Zellforsch. Mikrosk. Anat. 47, 348–362.
- Hoschuetzky, H., Aberle, H., and Kemler, R. (1994). Beta-catenin mediates the interaction of the cadherin-catenin complex with epidermal growth factor receptor. J. Cell Biol. 127, 1375–1380.
- Hu, P., O'Keefe, E. J., and Rubenstein, D. S. (2001). Tyrosine phosphorylation of human keratinocyte beta-catenin and plakoglobin reversibly regulates their binding to E-cadherin and alpha-catenin. J. Invest. Dermatol. 117, 1059–1067.
- Hu, P., Berkowitz, P., O'Keefe, E. J., and Rubenstein, D. S. (2003). Keratinocyte adherens junctions initiate nuclear signaling by translocation of plakoglobin from the membrane to the nucleus. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* **121**, 242–251.
- Hu, P., Berkowitz, P., Madden, V. J., and Rubenstein, D. S. (2006). Stabilization of plakoglobin and enhanced keratinocyte cell-cell adhesion by intracellular O-glycosylation. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 12786–12791.
- Huber, A. H., and Weis, W. I. (2001). The structure of the beta-catenin/E-cadherin complex and the molecular basis of diverse ligand recognition by beta-catenin. *Cell* 105, 391–402.
- Huber, A. H., Nelson, W. J., and Weis, W. I. (1997). Three-dimensional structure of the armadillo repeat region of beta-catenin. *Cell* **90**, 871–882.
- Huber, O. (2003). Structure and function of desmosomal proteins and their role in development and disease. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 60, 1872–1890.

- Huber, O., Korn, R., McLaughlin, J., Ohsugi, M., Herrmann, B. G., and Kemler, R. (1996). Nuclear localization of beta-catenin by interaction with transcription factor LEF-1. *Mech. Dev.* 59, 3–10.
- Huelsken, J., Vogel, R., Brinkmann, V., Erdmann, B., Birchmeier, C., and Birchmeier, W. (2000). Requirement for beta-catenin in anterior-posterior axis formation in mice. J. Cell Biol. 148, 567–578.
- Huen, A. C., Park, J. K., Godsel, L. M., Chen, X., Bannon, L. J., Amargo, E. V., Hudson, T. Y., Mongiu, A. K., Leigh, I. M., Kelsell, D. P., Gumbiner, B. M., Green, K. J., *et al.* (2002). Intermediate filament-membrane attachments function synergistically with actin-dependent contacts to regulate intercellular adhesive strength. *J. Cell Biol.* **159**, 1005–1017.
- Hunt, D. M., Rickman, L., Whittock, N. V., Eady, R. A., Simrak, D., Dopping-Hepenstal, P. J., Stevens, H. P., Armstrong, D. K., Hennies, H. C., Kuster, W., Hughes, A. E., Arnemann, J., *et al.* (2001). Spectrum of dominant mutations in the desmosomal cadherin desmoglein 1, causing the skin disease striate palmoplantar keratoderma. *Eur. J. Hum. Genet.* 9, 197–203.
- Isac, C. M., Ruiz, P., Pfitzmaier, B., Haase, H., Birchmeier, W., and Morano, I. (1999). Plakoglobin is essential for myocardial compliance but dispensable for myofibril insertion into adherens junctions. J. Cell. Biochem. 72, 8–15.
- Ishii, K., Amagai, M., Hall, R. P., Hashimoto, T., Takayanagi, A., Gamou, S., Shimizu, N., and Nishikawa, T. (1997). Characterization of autoantibodies in pemphigus using antigen-specific enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays with baculovirus-expressed recombinant desmogleins. J. Immunol. 159, 2010–2017.
- Ishii, K., Norvell, S. M., Bannon, L. J., Amargo, E. V., Pascoe, L. T., and Green, K. J. (2001). Assembly of desmosomal cadherins into desmosomes is isoform dependent. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* **117**, 26–35.
- Izawa, I., Nishizawa, M., Tomono, Y., Ohtakara, K., Takahashi, T., and Inagaki, M. (2002). ERBIN associates with p0071, an armadillo protein, at cell-cell junctions of epithelial cells. *Genes Cells* 7, 475–485.
- Jackson, B. W., Grund, C., Schmid, E., Burki, K., Franke, W. W., and Illmensee, K. (1980). Formation of cytoskeletal elements during mouse embryogenesis. Intermediate filaments of the cytokeratin type and desmosomes in preimplantation embryos. *Differentiation* 17, 161–179.
- Jackson, B. W., Grund, C., Winter, S., Franke, W. W., and Illmensee, K. (1981). Formation of cytoskeletal elements during mouse embryogenesis. II. Epithelial differentiation and intermediate-sized filaments in early postimplantation embryos. *Differentiation* 20, 203–216.
- Jahoda, C. A., Kljuic, A., O'Shaughnessy, R., Crossley, N., Whitehouse, C. J., Robinson, M., Reynolds, A. J., Demarchez, M., Porter, R. M., Shapiro, L., and Christiano, A. M. (2004). The lanceolate hair rat phenotype results from a missense mutation in a calcium coordinating site of the desmoglein 4 gene. *Genomics* 83, 747–756.
- Jamora, C., and Fuchs, E. (2002). Intercellular adhesion, signalling and the cytoskeleton. Nat. Cell Biol. 4, E101–E108.
- Jaulin-Bastard, F., Arsanto, J. P., Le Bivic, A., Navarro, C., Vely, F., Saito, H., Marchetto, S., Hatzfeld, M., Santoni, M. J., Birnbaum, D., and Borg, J. P. (2002). Interaction between Erbin and a catenin-related protein in epithelial cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 2869–2875.
- Jefferson, J. J., Leung, C. L., and Liem, R. K. (2004). Plakins: Goliaths that link cell junctions and the cytoskeleton. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol. 5, 542–553.
- Jefferson, J. J., Ciatto, C., Shapiro, L., and Liem, R. K. (2007). Structural analysis of the plakin domain of bullous pemphigoid antigen1 (BPAG1) suggests that plakins are members of the spectrin superfamily. J. Mol. Biol. 366, 244–257.

- Jonca, N., Guerrin, M., Hadjiolova, K., Caubet, C., Gallinaro, H., Simon, M., and Serre, G. (2002). Corneodesmosin, a component of epidermal corneocyte desmosomes, displays homophilic adhesive properties. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 5024–5029.
- Jonkman, M. F., Pasmooij, A. M., Pasmans, S. G., van den Berg, M. P., Ter Horst, H. J., Timmer, A., and Pas, H. H. (2005). Loss of desmoplakin tail causes lethal acantholytic epidermolysis bullosa. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* **77**, 653–660.
- Joo, J. H., Alpatov, R., Munguba, G. C., Jackson, M. R., Hunt, M. E., and Sugrue, S. P. (2005). Reduction of Pnn by RNAi induces loss of cell-cell adhesion between human corneal epithelial cells. *Mol. Vis.* **11**, 133–142.
- Kalinin, A. E., Aho, M., Uitto, J., and Aho, S. (2005). Breaking the connection: Caspase 6 disconnects intermediate filament-binding domain of periplakin from its actin-binding N-terminal region. J. Invest. Dermatol. 124, 46–55.
- Kaplan, S. R., Gard, J. J., Protonotarios, N., Tsatsopoulou, A., Spiliopoulou, C., Anastasakis, A., Squarcioni, C. P., McKenna, W. J., Thiene, G., Basso, C., Brousse, N., Fontaine, G., et al. (2004). Remodeling of myocyte gap junctions in arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy due to a deletion in plakoglobin (Naxos disease). *Heart Rhythm* 1, 3–11.
- Kapprell, H. P., Cowin, P., and Franke, W. W. (1987). Biochemical characterization of the soluble form of the junctional plaque protein, plakoglobin, from different cell types. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 166, 505–517.
- Kapprell, H. P., Owaribe, K., and Franke, W. W. (1988). Identification of a basic protein of Mr 75,000 as an accessory desmosomal plaque protein in stratified and complex epithelia. *J. Cell Biol.* **106**, 1679–1691.
- Karashima, T., and Watt, F. M. (2002). Interaction of periplakin and envoplakin with intermediate filaments. J. Cell Sci. 115, 5027–5037.
- Karnovsky, A., and Klymkowsky, M. W. (1995). Anterior axis duplication in *Xenopus* induced by the over-expression of the cadherin-binding protein plakoglobin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92, 4522–4526.
- Karper, H. E. (1959). Cell interconnections in normal human cervical epithelium. J. Biophys. Biochem. Cytol. 7, 181–185.
- Kartenbeck, J., Schmid, E., Franke, W. W., and Geiger, B. (1982). Different modes of internalization of proteins associated with adhaerens junctions and desmosomes: Experimental separation of lateral contacts induces endocytosis of desmosomal plaque material. *EMBO J.* 1, 725–732.
- Kartenbeck, J., Franke, W. W., Moser, J. G., and Stoffels, U. (1983). Specific attachment of desmin filaments to desmosomal plaques in cardiac myocytes. EMBO J. 2, 735–742.
- Kartenbeck, J., Schwechheimer, K., Moll, R., and Franke, W. W. (1984). Attachment of vimentin filaments to desmosomal plaques in human meningiomal cells and arachnoidal tissue. J. Cell Biol. 98, 1072–1081.
- Kartenbeck, J., Schmelz, M., Franke, W. W., and Geiger, B. (1991). Endocytosis of junctional cadherins in bovine kidney epithelial (MDBK) cells cultured in low Ca2+ ion medium. J. Cell Biol. 113, 881–892.
- Kazerounian, S., Uitto, J., and Aho, S. (2002). Unique role for the periplakin tail in intermediate filament association: Specific binding to keratin 8 and vimentin. *Exp. Dermatol.* 11, 428–438.
- Kelly, D. E. (1966). Fine structure of desmosomes, hemidesmosomes, and an epidermal globular layer in developing newt epidermis. J. Cell Biol. 28, 51–72.
- Kim, Y. J., Sauer, C., Testa, K., Wahl, J. K., Svoboda, R. A., Johnson, K. R., Wheelock, M. J., and Knudsen, K. A. (2005). Modulating the strength of cadherin adhesion: Evidence for a novel adhesion complex. J. Cell Sci. 118, 3883–3894.
- Kimura, T. E., Merritt, A. J., and Garrod, D. R. (2006). Calcium-independent desmosomes of keratinocytes are hyper-adhesive. J. Invest. Dermatol. 127, 775–781.

- King, I. A., Sullivan, K. H., Bennett, R., Jr., and Buxton, R. S. (1995). The desmocollins of human foreskin epidermis: Identification and chromosomal assignment of a third gene and expression patterns of the three isoforms. J. Invest. Dermatol. 105, 314–321.
- King, I. A., O'Brien, T. J., and Buxton, R. S. (1996). Expression of the "skin-type" desmosomal cadherin DSC1 is closely linked to the keratinization of epithelial tissues during mouse development. J. Invest. Dermatol. 107, 531–538.
- King, I. A., Angst, B. D., Hunt, D. M., Kruger, M., Arnemann, J., and Buxton, R. S. (1997). Hierarchical expression of desmosomal cadherins during stratified epithelial morphogenesis in the mouse. *Differentiation* 62, 83–96.
- Klingelhofer, J., Troyanovsky, R. B., Laur, O. Y., and Troyanovsky, S. (2003). Exchange of catenins in cadherin-catenin complex. Oncogene 22, 1181–1188.
- Kljuic, A., and Christiano, A. M. (2003). A novel mouse desmosomal cadherin family member, desmoglein 1 gamma. *Exp. Dermatol.* **12**, 20–29.
- Kljuic, A., Bazzi, H., Sundberg, J. P., Martinez-Mir, A., O'Shaughnessy, R., Mahoney, M. G., Levy, M., Montagutelli, X., Ahmad, W., Aita, V. M., Gordon, D., Uitto, J., *et al.* (2003a). Desmoglein 4 in hair follicle differentiation and epidermal adhesion: Evidence from inherited hypotrichosis and acquired pemphigus vulgaris. *Cell* **113**, 249–260.
- Kljuic, A., Gilead, L., Martinez-Mir, A., Frank, J., Christiano, A. M., and Zlotogorski, A. (2003b). A nonsense mutation in the desmoglein 1 gene underlies striate keratoderma. *Exp. Dermatol.* **12**, 523–527.
- Klus, G. T., Rokaeus, N., Bittner, M. L., Chen, Y., Korz, D. M., Sukumar, S., Schick, A., and Szallasi, Z. (2001). Down-regulation of the desmosomal cadherin desmocollin 3 in human breast cancer. *Int. J. Oncol.* **19**, 169–174.
- Klymkowsky, M. W. (1999). Plakophilin, armadillo repeats, and nuclear localization. Microsc. Res. Tech. 45, 43–54.
- Knust, E., and Bossinger, O. (2002). Composition and formation of intercellular junctions in epithelial cells. *Science* 298, 1955–1959.
- Kobe, B. (1999). Autoinhibition by an internal nuclear localization signal revealed by the crystal structure of mammalian importin alpha. *Nat. Struct. Biol.* 6, 388–397.
- Koch, P. J., Goldschmidt, M. D., Zimbelmann, R., Troyanovsky, R., and Franke, W. W. (1992). Complexity and expression patterns of the desmosomal cadherins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89, 353–357.
- Koch, P. J., Mahoney, M. G., Ishikawa, H., Pulkkinen, L., Uitto, J., Shultz, L., Murphy, G. F., Whitaker-Menezes, D., and Stanley, J. R. (1997). Targeted disruption of the pemphigus vulgaris antigen (desmoglein 3) gene in mice causes loss of keratinocyte cell adhesion with a phenotype similar to pemphigus vulgaris. *J. Cell Biol.* 137, 1091–1102.
- Koch, P. J., Mahoney, M. G., Cotsarelis, G., Rothenberger, K., Lavker, R. M., and Stanley, J. R. (1998). Desmoglein 3 anchors telogen hair in the follicle. *J. Cell Sci.* 111, 2529–2537.
- Kodama, S., Ikeda, S., Asahara, T., Kishida, M., and Kikuchi, A. (1999). Axin directly interacts with plakoglobin and regulates its stability. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 27682–27688.
- Koeser, J., Troyanovsky, S. M., Grund, C., and Franke, W. W. (2003). *De novo* formation of desmosomes in cultured cells upon transfection of genes encoding specific desmosomal components. *Exp. Cell Res.* 285, 114–130.
- Kofron, M., Spagnuolo, A., Klymkowsky, M., Wylie, C., and Heasman, J. (1997). The roles of maternal alpha-catenin and plakoglobin in the early Xenopus embryo. *Development* 124, 1553–1560.
- Kolligs, F. T., Kolligs, B., Hajra, K. M., Hu, G., Tani, M., Cho, K. R., and Fearon, E. R. (2000). Gamma-catenin is regulated by the APC tumor suppressor and its oncogenic activity is distinct from that of beta-catenin. *Genes Dev.* 14, 1319–1331.

- Komura, J., and Watanabe, S. (1975). Desmosome-like structures in the cytoplasm of normal human keratinocyte. Arch. Dermatol. Res. 253, 145–149.
- Kottke, M. D., Delva, E., and Kowalczyk, A. P. (2006). The desmosome: Cell science lessons from human diseases. J. Cell Sci. 119, 797–806.
- Koulu, L., Kusumi, A., Steinberg, M. S., Klaus-Kovtun, V., and Stanley, J. R. (1984). Human autoantibodies against a desmosomal core protein in pemphigus foliaceus. J. Exp. Med. 160, 1509–1518.
- Kouno, M., Kondoh, G., Horie, K., Komazawa, N., Ishii, N., Takahashi, Y., Takeda, J., and Hashimoto, T. (2004). Ahnak/desmoyokin is dispensable for proliferation, differentiation, and maintenance of integrity in mouse epidermis. J. Invest. Dermatol. 123, 700–707.
- Kowalczyk, A. P., Borgwardt, J. E., and Green, K. J. (1996). Analysis of desmosomal cadherin-adhesive function and stoichiometry of desmosomal cadherin-plakoglobin complexes. J. Invest. Dermatol. 107, 293–300.
- Kowalczyk, A. P., Bornslaeger, E. A., Borgwardt, J. E., Palka, H. L., Dhaliwal, A. S., Corcoran, C. M., Denning, M. F., and Green, K. J. (1997). The amino-terminal domain of desmoplakin binds to plakoglobin and clusters desmosomal cadherin-plakoglobin complexes. J. Cell Biol. 139, 773–784.
- Kowalczyk, A. P., Bornslaeger, E. A., Norvell, S. M., Palka, H. L., and Green, K. J. (1999a). Desmosomes: Intercellular adhesive junctions specialized for attachment of intermediate filaments. *Int. Rev. Cytol.* **185**, 237–302.
- Kowalczyk, A. P., Hatzfeld, M., Bornslaeger, E. A., Kopp, D. S., Borgwardt, J. E., Corcoran, C. M., Settler, A., and Green, K. J. (1999b). The head domain of plakophilin-1 binds to desmoplakin and enhances its recruitment to desmosomes. Implications for cutaneous disease. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 18145–18148.
- Kozlowska, A., Hashimoto, T., Jarzabek-Chorzelska, M., Amagai, A., Nagata, Y., Strasz, Z., and Jablonska, S. (2003). Pemphigus herpetiformis with IgA and IgG antibodies to desmoglein 1 and IgG antibodies to desmocollin 3. J. Am. Acad. Dermatol. 48, 117–122.
- Krunic, A. L., Garrod, D. R., Madani, S., Buchanan, M. D., and Clark, R. E. (1998). Immunohistochemical staining for desmogleins 1 and 2 in keratinocytic neoplasms with squamous phenotype: Actinic keratosis, keratoacanthoma and squamous cell carcinoma of the skin. Br. J. Cancer 77, 1275–1279.
- Kurzen, H., Moll, I., Moll, R., Schafer, S., Simics, E., Amagai, M., Wheelock, M. J., and Franke, W. W. (1998). Compositionally different desmosomes in the various compartments of the human hair follicle. *Differentiation* 63, 295–304.
- Kurzen, H., Munzing, I., and Hartschuh, W. (2003). Expression of desmosomal proteins in squamous cell carcinomas of the skin. J. Cutan. Pathol. 30, 621–630.
- Lapouge, K., Fontao, L., Champliaud, M. F., Jaunin, F., Frias, M. A., Favre, B., Paulin, D., Green, K. J., and Borradori, L. (2006). New insights into the molecular basis of desmoplakin and desmin-related cardiomyopathies. J. Cell Sci. 119, 4974–4985.
- Lechler, T., and Fuchs, E. (2007). Desmoplakin: An unexpected regulator of microtubule organization in the epidermis. *J. Cell Biol.* **176**, 147–154.
- Lee, S., Harris, K. L., Whitington, P. M., and Kolodziej, P. A. (2000). Short stop is allelic to kakapo, and encodes rod-like cytoskeletal-associated proteins required for axon extension. J. Neurosci. 20, 1096–1108.
- Legan, P. K., Yue, K. K., Chidgey, M. A., Holton, J. L., Wilkinson, R. W., and Garrod, D. R. (1994). The bovine desmocollin family: A new gene and expression patterns reflecting epithelial cell proliferation and differentiation. J. Cell Biol. 126, 507–518.
- Lenox, J. M., Koch, P. J., Mahoney, M. G., Lieberman, M., Stanley, J. R., and Radice, G. L. (2000). Postnatal lethality of P-cadherin/desmoglein 3 double knockout mice: Demonstration of a cooperative effect of these cell adhesion molecules in tissue homeostasis of stratified squamous epithelia. J. Invest. Dermatol. 114, 948–952.

- Lentz, T. L., and Trinkaus, J. P. (1971). Differentiation of the junctional complex of surface cells in the developing Fundulus blastoderm. J. Cell Biol. 48, 455–472.
- Leung, C. L., Green, K. J., and Liem, R. K. (2002). Plakins: A family of versatile cytolinker proteins. *Trends Cell Biol.* 12, 37–45.
- Levy-Nissenbaum, E., Betz, R. C., Frydman, M., Simon, M., Lahat, H., Bakhan, T., Goldman, B., Bygum, A., Pierick, M., Hillmer, A. M., Jonca, N., Toribio, J., et al. (2003). Hypotrichosis simplex of the scalp is associated with nonsense mutations in CDSN encoding corneodesmosin. Nat. Genet. 34, 151–153.
- Lewis, J. E., Jensen, P. J., and Wheelock, M. J. (1994). Cadherin function is required for human keratinocytes to assemble desmosomes and stratify in response to calcium. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* **102**, 870–877.
- Lewis, J. E., Wahl, J. K., 3rd, Sass, K. M., Jensen, P. J., Johnson, K. R., and Wheelock, M. J. (1997). Cross-talk between adherens junctions and desmosomes depends on plakoglobin. J. Cell Biol. 136, 919–934.
- Li, Y., Yu, W. H., Ren, J., Chen, W., Huang, L., Kharbanda, S., Loda, M., and Kufe, D. (2003). Heregulin targets gamma-catenin to the nucleolus by a mechanism dependent on the DF3/MUC1 oncoprotein. *Mol. Cancer Res.* 1, 765–775.
- Litjens, S. H., de Pereda, J. M., and Sonnenberg, A. (2006). Current insights into the formation and breakdown of hemidesmosomes. *Trends Cell Biol.* 16, 376–383.
- Loranger, A., Gilbert, S., Brouard, J. S., Magin, T. M., and Marceau, N. (2006). Keratin 8 modulation of desmoplakin deposition at desmosomes in hepatocytes. *Exp. Cell Res.* 312, 4108–4119.
- Lorch, J. H., Klessner, J., Park, J. K., Getsios, S., Wu, Y. L., Stack, M. S., and Green, K. J. (2004). Epidermal growth factor receptor inhibition promotes desmosome assembly and strengthens intercellular adhesion in squamous cell carcinoma cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 37191–37200.
- Lorimer, J. E., Hall, L. S., Clarke, J. P., Collins, J. E., Fleming, T. P., and Garrod, D. R. (1994). Cloning, sequence analysis and expression pattern of mouse desmocollin 2 (DSC2), a cadherin-like adhesion molecule. *Mol. Membr. Biol.* **11**, 229–236.
- Maatta, A., DiColandrea, T., Groot, K., and Watt, F. M. (2001). Gene targeting of envoplakin, a cytoskeletal linker protein and precursor of the epidermal cornified envelope. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 21, 7047–7053.
- Maeda, O., Usami, N., Kondo, M., Takahashi, M., Goto, H., Shimokata, K., Kusugami, K., and Sekido, Y. (2004). Plakoglobin (gamma-catenin) has TCF/LEF family-dependent transcriptional activity in beta-catenin-deficient cell line. Oncogene 23, 964–972.
- Magin, T. M., Schroder, R., Leitgeb, S., Wanninger, F., Zatloukal, K., Grund, C., and Melton, D. W. (1998). Lessons from keratin 18 knockout mice: Formation of novel keratin filaments, secondary loss of keratin 7 and accumulation of liver-specific keratin 8-positive aggregates. J. Cell Biol. 140, 1441–1451.
- Mahoney, M. G., Wang, Z., Rothenberger, K., Koch, P. J., Amagai, M., and Stanley, J. R. (1999). Explanations for the clinical and microscopic localization of lesions in pemphigus foliaceus and vulgaris. J. Clin. Invest. 103, 461–468.
- Mahoney, M. G., Simpson, A., Aho, S., Uitto, J., and Pulkkinen, L. (2002). Interspecies conservation and differential expression of mouse desmoglein gene family. *Exp. Dermatol.* 11, 115–125.
- Mahoney, M. G., Hu, Y., Brennan, D., Bazzi, H., Christiano, A. M., and Wahl, J. K.3rd. (2006). Delineation of diversified desmoglein distribution in stratified squamous epithelia: Implications in diseases. *Exp. Dermatol.* 15, 101–109.
- Marcozzi, C., Burdett, I. D., Buxton, R. S., and Magee, A. I. (1998). Coexpression of both types of desmosomal cadherin and plakoglobin confers strong intercellular adhesion. J. Cell Sci. 111, 495–509.

- Marsden, M. D., Collins, J. E., Greenwood, M. D., Adams, M. J., Fleming, T. P., Magee, A. I., and Buxton, R. S. (1997). Cloning and transcriptional analysis of the promoter of the human type 2 desmocollin gene (DSC2). *Gene* 186, 237–247.
- Martin, E. D., and Grealy, M. (2004). Plakoglobin expression and localization in zebrafish embryo development. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 32, 797–798.
- Masunaga, T., Shimizu, H., Ishiko, A., Fujiwara, T., Hashimoto, T., and Nishikawa, T. (1995). Desmoyokin/AHNAK protein localizes to the non-desmosomal keratinocyte cell surface of human epidermis. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* **104**, 941–945.
- Mathur, M., Goodwin, L., and Cowin, P. (1994). Interactions of the cytoplasmic domain of the desmosomal cadherin Dsg1 with plakoglobin. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 14075–14080.
- Mattey, D. L., and Garrod, D. R. (1986). Splitting and internalization of the desmosomes of cultured kidney epithelial cells by reduction in calcium concentration. J. Cell Sci. 85, 113–124.
- McGrath, J. A. (2005). Inherited disorders of desmosomes. Australas. J. Dermatol. 46, 221-229.
- McGrath, J. A., and Wessagowit, V. (2005). Human hair abnormalities resulting from inherited desmosome gene mutations. *Keio J. Med.* 54, 72–79.
- McGrath, J. A., McMillan, J. R., Shemanko, C. S., Runswick, S. K., Leigh, I. M., Lane, E. B., Garrod, D. R., and Eady, R. A. (1997). Mutations in the plakophilin 1 gene result in ectodermal dysplasia/skin fragility syndrome. *Nat. Genet.* **17**, 240–244.
- McKoy, G., Protonotarios, N., Crosby, A., Tsatsopoulou, A., Anastasakis, A., Coonar, A., Norman, M., Baboonian, C., Jeffery, S., and McKenna, W. J. (2000). Identification of a deletion in plakoglobin in arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy with palmoplantar keratoderma and woolly hair (Naxos disease). *Lancet* 355, 2119–2124.
- McLean, W. H., Pulkkinen, L., Smith, F. J., Rugg, E. L., Lane, E. B., Bullrich, F., Burgeson, R. E., Amano, S., Hudson, D. L., Owaribe, K., McGrath, J. A., McMillan, J. R., et al. (1996). Loss of plectin causes epidermolysis bullosa with muscular dystrophy: cDNA cloning and genomic organization. *Genes Dev.* **10**, 1724–1735.
- McMillan, J. R., Haftek, M., Akiyama, M., South, A. P., Perrot, H., McGrath, J. A., Eady, R. A., and Shimizu, H. (2003). Alterations in desmosome size and number coincide with the loss of keratinocyte cohesion in skin with homozygous and heterozygous defects in the desmosomal protein plakophilin 1. J. Invest. Dermatol. 121, 96–103.
- Memar, O. M., Rajaraman, S., Thotakura, R., Tyring, S. K., Fan, J. L., Seetharamaiah, G. S., Lopez, A., Jordon, R. E., and Prabhakar, B. S. (1996). Recombinant desmoglein 3 has the necessary epitopes to adsorb and induce blister-causing antibodies. J. Invest. Dermatol. 106, 261–268.
- Meng, J. J., Bornslaeger, E. A., Green, K. J., Steinert, P. M., and Ip, W. (1997). Two-hybrid analysis reveals fundamental differences in direct interactions between desmoplakin and cell type-specific intermediate filaments. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 21495–21503.
- Merritt, A. J., Berika, M. Y., Zhai, W., Kirk, S. E., Ji, B., Hardman, M. J., and Garrod, D. R. (2002). Suprabasal desmoglein 3 expression in the epidermis of transgenic mice results in hyperproliferation and abnormal differentiation. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 22, 5846–5858.
- Mertens, C., Kuhn, C., and Franke, W. W. (1996). Plakophilins 2a and 2b: Constitutive proteins of dual location in the karyoplasm and the desmosomal plaque. J. Cell Biol. 135, 1009–1025.
- Mertens, C., Kuhn, C., Moll, R., Schwetlick, I., and Franke, W. W. (1999). Desmosomal plakophilin 2 as a differentiation marker in normal and malignant tissues. *Differentiation* 64, 277–290.
- Mertens, C., Hofmann, I., Wang, Z., Teichmann, M., Sepehri Chong, S., Schnolzer, M., and Franke, W. W. (2001). Nuclear particles containing RNA polymerase III complexes associated with the junctional plaque protein plakophilin 2. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 98, 7795–7800.

- Messent, A. J., Blissett, M. J., Smith, G. L., North, A. J., Magee, A., Foreman, D., Garrod, D. R., and Boulton, M. (2000). Expression of a single pair of desmosomal glycoproteins renders the corneal epithelium unique amongst stratified epithelia. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **41**, 8–15.
- Meyer, B., Bazzi, H., Zidek, V., Musilova, A., Pravenec, M., Kurtz, T. W., Nurnberg, P., and Christiano, A. M. (2004). A spontaneous mutation in the desmoglein 4 gene underlies hypotrichosis in a new lanceolate hair rat model. *Differentiation* 72, 541–547.
- Michaux, G., Legouis, R., and Labouesse, M. (2001). Epithelial biology: Lessons from Caenorhabditis elegans. Gene 277, 83–100.
- Milingou, M., Wood, P., Masouye, I., McLean, W. H., and Borradori, L. (2006). Focal palmoplantar keratoderma caused by an autosomal dominant inherited mutation in the desmoglein 1 gene. *Dermatology* **212**, 117–122.
- Miranda, K. C., Joseph, S. R., Yap, A. S., Teasdale, R. D., and Stow, J. L. (2003). Contextual binding of p120ctn to E-cadherin at the basolateral plasma membrane in polarized epithelia. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 43480–43488.
- Miravet, S., Piedra, J., Miro, F., Itarte, E., Garcia de Herreros, A., and Dunach, M. (2002). The transcriptional factor Tcf-4 contains different binding sites for beta-catenin and plakoglobin. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 1884–1891.
- Miravet, S., Piedra, J., Castano, J., Raurell, I., Franci, C., Dunach, M., and Garcia de Herreros, A. (2003). Tyrosine phosphorylation of plakoglobin causes contrary effects on its association with desmosomes and adherens junction components and modulates betacatenin-mediated transcription. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 23, 7391–7402.
- Moll, I., Kurzen, H., Langbein, L., and Franke, W. W. (1997). The distribution of the desmosomal protein, plakophilin 1, in human skin and skin tumors. J. Invest. Dermatol. 108, 139–146.
- Moll, R., Cowin, P., Kapprell, H. P., and Franke, W. W. (1986). Desmosomal proteins: New markers for identification and classification of tumors. *Lab. Invest.* 54, 4–25.
- Montagutelli, X., Lalouette, A., Boulouis, H. J., Guenet, J. L., and Sundberg, J. P. (1997). Vesicle formation and follicular root sheath separation in mice homozygous for deleterious alleles at the balding (bal) locus. J. Invest. Dermatol. 109, 324–328.
- Moss, C., Martinez-Mir, A., Lam, H., Tadin-Strapps, M., Kljuic, A., and Christiano, A. M. (2004). A recurrent intragenic deletion in the desmoglein 4 gene underlies localized autosomal recessive hypotrichosis. J. Invest. Dermatol. 123, 607–610.
- Muller, J., Ritt, D. A., Copeland, T. D., and Morrison, D. K. (2003). Functional analysis of C-TAK1 substrate binding and identification of PKP2 as a new C-TAK1 substrate. *EMBO J.* 22, 4431–4442.
- Muller, T., Choidas, A., Reichmann, E., and Ullrich, A. (1999). Phosphorylation and free pool of beta-catenin are regulated by tyrosine kinases and tyrosine phosphatases during epithelial cell migration. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 10173–10183.
- Muller-Hermelink, H. K., and Caesar, R. (1969). [Electron microscopic study of the germinal centers in human tonsils]. Z. Zellforsch. Mikrosk. Anat. 96, 521–547.
- Nakanishi, Y., Ochiai, A., Akimoto, S., Kato, H., Watanabe, H., Tachimori, Y., Yamamoto, S., and Hirohashi, S. (1997). Expression of E-cadherin, alpha-catenin, beta-catenin and plakoglobin in esophageal carcinomas and its prognostic significance: Immunohistochemical analysis of 96 lesions. Oncology 54, 158–165.
- Natsugoe, S., Mueller, J., Kijima, F., Aridome, K., Shimada, M., Shirao, K., Kusano, C., Baba, M., Yoshinaka, H., Fukumoto, T., and Aikou, T. (1997). Extranodal connective tissue invasion and the expression of desmosomal glycoprotein 1 in squamous cell carcinoma of the oesophagus. *Br. J. Cancer* **75**, 892–897.
- Nguyen, V. T., Ndoye, A., and Grando, S. A. (2000). Novel human alpha9 acetylcholine receptor regulating keratinocyte adhesion is targeted by pemphigus vulgaris autoimmunity. *Am. J. Pathol.* **157**, 1377–1391.

- Nguyen, V. T., Arredondo, J., Chernyavsky, A. I., Kitajima, Y., Pittelkow, M., and Grando, S. A. (2004). Pemphigus vulgaris IgG and methylprednisolone exhibit reciprocal effects on keratinocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 2135–2146.
- Nikolic, B., Mac Nulty, E., Mir, B., and Wiche, G. (1996). Basic amino acid residue cluster within nuclear targeting sequence motif is essential for cytoplasmic plectin-vimentin network junctions. J. Cell Biol. 134, 1455–1467.
- Nollet, F., Kools, P., and van Roy, F. (2000). Phylogenetic analysis of the cadherin superfamily allows identification of six major subfamilies besides several solitary members. J. Mol. Biol. 299, 551–572.
- Norgett, E. E., Hatsell, S. J., Carvajal-Huerta, L., Cabezas, J. C., Common, J., Purkis, P. E., Whittock, N., Leigh, I. M., Stevens, H. P., and Kelsell, D. P. (2000). Recessive mutation in desmoplakin disrupts desmoplakin-intermediate filament interactions and causes dilated cardiomyopathy, woolly hair and keratoderma. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 9, 2761–2766.
- North, A. J., Chidgey, M. A., Clarke, J. P., Bardsley, W. G., and Garrod, D. R. (1996). Distinct desmocollin isoforms occur in the same desmosomes and show reciprocally graded distributions in bovine nasal epidermis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 93, 7701–7705.
- North, A. J., Bardsley, W. G., Hyam, J., Bornslaeger, E. A., Cordingley, H. C., Trinnaman, B., Hatzfeld, M., Green, K. J., Magee, A. I., and Garrod, D. R. (1999). Molecular map of the desmosomal plaque. J. Cell Sci. 112, 4325–4336.
- Norvell, S. M., and Green, K. J. (1998). Contributions of extracellular and intracellular domains of full length and chimeric cadherin molecules to junction assembly in epithelial cells. J. Cell Sci. 111, 1305–1318.
- Nuber, U. A., Schafer, S., Schmidt, A., Koch, P. J., and Franke, W. W. (1995). The widespread human desmocollin Dsc2 and tissue-specific patterns of synthesis of various desmocollin subtypes. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 66, 69–74.
- Nuber, U. A., Schafer, S., Stehr, S., Rackwitz, H. R., and Franke, W. W. (1996). Patterns of desmocollin synthesis in human epithelia: Immunolocalization of desmocollins 1 and 3 in special epithelia and in cultured cells. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* **71**, 1–13.
- Odland, G. F. (1958). The fine structure of the interrelationship of cells in the human epidermis. J. Biophys. Biochem. Cytol. 4, 529–557.
- Ohga, R., Shida, M., and Shida, H. (2004). Isolation of desmosomes from the epidermis of Xenopus laevis and immunochemical characterization of the *Xenopus* desmosomal cadherins. *Cell Struct. Funct.* 29, 17–26.
- O'Keefe, E. J., Erickson, H. P., and Bennett, V. (1989). Desmoplakin I and desmoplakin II. Purification and characterization. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 8310–8318.
- Olague-Alcala, M., Giudice, G. J., and Diaz, L. A. (1994). Pemphigus foliaceus sera recognize an N-terminal fragment of bovine desmoglein 1. J. Invest. Dermatol. 102, 882–885.
- Oliveira Crema, V., Antunes Teixeira Vde, P., Reis, M. G., Marinho Ede, O., and Dos Santos, V. M. (2005). Morphometric study of desmosomes from oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Ultrastruct. Pathol.* 29, 349–355.
- Osada, K., Seishima, M., and Kitajima, Y. (1997). Pemphigus IgG activates and translocates protein kinase C from the cytosol to the particulate/cytoskeleton fractions in human keratinocytes. J. Invest. Dermatol. 108, 482–487.
- Oshiro, M. M., Watts, G. S., Wozniak, R. J., Junk, D. J., Munoz-Rodriguez, J. L., Domann, F. E., and Futscher, B. W. (2003). Mutant p53 and aberrant cytosine methylation cooperate to silence gene expression. *Oncogene* 22, 3624–3634.
- Ouyang, P., and Sugrue, S. P. (1992). Identification of an epithelial protein related to the desmosome and intermediate filament network. J. Cell Biol. **118**, 1477–1488.
- Ouyang, P., and Sugrue, S. P. (1996). Characterization of pinin, a novel protein associated with the desmosome-intermediate filament complex. J. Cell Biol. 135, 1027–1042.

- Overduin, M., Harvey, T. S., Bagby, S., Tong, K. I., Yau, P., Takeichi, M., and Ikura, M. (1995). Solution structure of the epithelial cadherin domain responsible for selective cell adhesion. *Science* **267**, 386–389.
- Ozawa, M., Terada, H., and Pedraza, C. (1995). The fourth armadillo repeat of plakoglobin (gamma-catenin) is required for its high affinity binding to the cytoplasmic domains of E-cadherin and desmosomal cadherin Dsg2, and the tumor suppressor APC protein. *J. Biochem. (Tokyo)* **118**, 1077–1082.
- Paffenholz, R., Kuhn, C., Grund, C., Stehr, S., and Franke, W. W. (1999). The arm-repeat protein NPRAP (neurojungin) is a constituent of the plaques of the outer limiting zone in the retina, defining a novel type of adhering junction. *Exp. Cell Res.* 250, 452–464.
- Palka, H. L., and Green, K. J. (1997). Roles of plakoglobin end domains in desmosome assembly. J. Cell Sci. 110, 2359–2371.
- Papagerakis, S., Shabana, A. H., Depondt, J., Gehanno, P., and Forest, N. (2003). Immunohistochemical localization of plakophilins (PKP1, PKP2, PKP3, and p0071) in primary oropharyngeal tumors: Correlation with clinical parameters. *Hum. Pathol.* 34, 565–572.
- Parker, H. R., Li, Z., Sheinin, H., Lauzon, G., and Pasdar, M. (1998). Plakoglobin induces desmosome formation and epidermoid phenotype in N-cadherin-expressing squamous carcinoma cells deficient in plakoglobin and E-cadherin. *Cell Motil. Cytoskel.* 40, 87–100.
- Pasdar, M., and Li, Z. (1993). Disorganization of microfilaments and intermediate filaments interferes with the assembly and stability of desmosomes in MDCK epithelial cells. *Cell Motil. Cytoskel.* 26, 163–180.
- Pasdar, M., and Nelson, W. J. (1988a). Kinetics of desmosome assembly in Madin-Darby canine kidney epithelial cells: Temporal and spatial regulation of desmoplakin organization and stabilization upon cell-cell contact. I. Biochemical analysis. J. Cell Biol. 106, 677–685.
- Pasdar, M., and Nelson, W. J. (1988b). Kinetics of desmosome assembly in Madin–Darby canine kidney epithelial cells: Temporal and spatial regulation of desmoplakin organization and stabilization upon cell-cell contact. II. Morphological analysis. J. Cell Biol. 106, 687–695.
- Pasdar, M., and Nelson, W. J. (1989). Regulation of desmosome assembly in epithelial cells: Kinetics of synthesis, transport, and stabilization of desmoglein I, a major protein of the membrane core domain. J. Cell Biol. 109, 163–177.
- Pasdar, M., Krzeminski, K. A., and Nelson, W. J. (1991). Regulation of desmosome assembly in MDCK epithelial cells: Coordination of membrane core and cytoplasmic plaque domain assembly at the plasma membrane. J. Cell Biol. 113, 645–655.
- Pasdar, M., Li, Z., and Krzeminski, K. A. (1992). Desmosome assembly in MDCK epithelial cells does not require the presence of functional microtubules. *Cell Motil. Cytoskel.* 23, 201–212.
- Pasdar, M., Li, Z., and Chan, H. (1995a). Desmosome assembly and disassembly are regulated by reversible protein phosphorylation in cultured epithelial cells. *Cell Motil. Cytoskel.* **30**, 108–121.
- Pasdar, M., Li, Z., and Chlumecky, V. (1995b). Plakoglobin: Kinetics of synthesis, phosphorylation, stability, and interactions with desmoglein and E-cadherin. *Cell Motil. Cytoskel.* 32, 258–272.
- Patel, S. D., Ciatto, C., Chen, C. P., Bahna, F., Rajebhosale, M., Arkus, N., Schieren, I., Jessell, T. M., Honig, B., Price, S. R., and Shapiro, L. (2006). Type II cadherin ectodomain structures: Implications for classical cadherin specificity. *Cell* 124, 1255–1268.
- Payne, A. S., Hanakawa, Y., Amagai, M., and Stanley, J. R. (2004). Desmosomes and disease: Pemphigus and bullous impetigo. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 16, 536–543.

- Peifer, M., and Wieschaus, E. (1990). The segment polarity gene armadillo encodes a functionally modular protein that is the *Drosophila* homolog of human plakoglobin. *Cell* 63, 1167–1176.
- Penn, E. J., Burdett, I. D., Hobson, C., Magee, A. I., and Rees, D. A. (1987). Structure and assembly of desmosome junctions: Biosynthesis and turnover of the major desmosome components of Madin-Darby canine kidney cells in low calcium medium. *J. Cell Biol.* 105, 2327–2334.
- Pfendner, E., Rouan, F., and Uitto, J. (2005). Progress in epidermolysis bullosa: The phenotypic spectrum of plectin mutations. *Exp. Dermatol.* 14, 241–249.
- Pilichou, K., Nava, A., Basso, C., Beffagna, G., Bauce, B., Lorenzon, A., Frigo, G., Vettori, A., Valente, M., Towbin, J., Thiene, G., Danieli, G. A., et al. (2006). Mutations in desmoglein-2 gene are associated with arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. Circulation 113, 1171–1179.
- Porter, K. R. (1956). "Observation on the Fine Structure of Animal Epidermis." Tavistock House South, London.
- Potter, E., Braun, S., Lehmann, U., and Brabant, G. (2001). Molecular cloning of a functional promoter of the human plakoglobin gene. *Eur. J. Endocrinol.* **145**, 625–633.
- Prokop, A., Uhler, J., Roote, J., and Bate, M. (1998). The kakapo mutation affects terminal arborization and central dendritic sprouting of Drosophila motorneurons. *J. Cell Biol.* 143, 1283–1294.
- Protonotarios, N., Tsatsopoulou, A., Patsourakos, P., Alexopoulos, D., Gezerlis, P., Simitsis, S., and Scampardonis, G. (1986). Cardiac abnormalities in familial palmoplantar keratosis. Br. Heart J. 56, 321–326.
- Protonotarios, N., Tsatsopoulou, A., and Fontaine, G. (2001). Naxos disease: Keratoderma, scalp modifications, and cardiomyopathy. J. Am. Acad. Dermatol. 44, 309–311.
- Protonotarios, N. I., Tsatsopoulou, A. A., and Gatzoulis, K. A. (2002). Arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy caused by a deletion in plakoglobin (Naxos disease). *Card. Electrophysiol. Rev.* 6, 72–80.
- Pulkkinen, L., Choi, Y. W., Simpson, A., Montagutelli, X., Sundberg, J., Uitto, J., and Mahoney, M. G. (2002). Loss of cell adhesion in Dsg3bal-Pas mice with homozygous deletion mutation (2079del14) in the desmoglein 3 gene. J. Invest. Dermatol. 119, 1237–1243.
- Pulkkinen, L., Choi, Y. W., Kljuic, A., Uitto, J., and Mahoney, M. G. (2003). Novel member of the mouse desmoglein gene family: Dsg1-beta. *Exp. Dermatol.* 12, 11–19.
- Rampazzo, A., Nava, A., Malacrida, S., Beffagna, G., Bauce, B., Rossi, V., Zimbello, R., Simionati, B., Basso, C., Thiene, G., Towbin, J. A., Danieli, G. A., *et al.* (2002). Mutation in human desmoplakin domain binding to plakoglobin causes a dominant form of arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* **71**, 1200–1206.
- Rayns, D. G., Simpson, F. O., and Ledingham, J. M. (1969). Ultrastructure of desmosomes in mammalian intercalated disc; appearances after lanthanum treatment. J. Cell Biol. 42, 322–326.
- Rickman, L., Simrak, D., Stevens, H. P., Hunt, D. M., King, I. A., Bryant, S. P., Eady, R. A., Leigh, I. M., Arnemann, J., Magee, A. I., Kelsell, D. P., Buxton, R. S., *et al.* (1999).
  N-terminal deletion in a desmosomal cadherin causes the autosomal dominant skin disease striate palmoplantar keratoderma. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 8, 971–976.
- Riggleman, B., Wieschaus, E., and Schedl, P. (1989). Molecular analysis of the armadillo locus: Uniformly distributed transcripts and a protein with novel internal repeats are associated with a *Drosophila* segment polarity gene. *Genes Dev.* **3**, 96–113.
- Rock, B., Martins, C. R., Theofilopoulos, A. N., Balderas, R. S., Anhalt, G. J., Labib, R. S., Futamura, S., Rivitti, E. A., and Diaz, L. A. (1989). The pathogenic effect of IgG4 autoantibodies in endemic pemphigus foliaceus (fogo selvagem). *N. Engl. J. Med.* 320, 1463–1469.

- Roh, J. Y., and Stanley, J. R. (1995). Plakoglobin binding by human Dsg3 (pemphigus vulgaris antigen) in keratinocytes requires the cadherin-like intracytoplasmic segment. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* **104**, 720–724.
- Rose, O., Grund, C., Reinhardt, S., Starzinski-Powitz, A., and Franke, W. W. (1995). Contactus adherens, a special type of plaque-bearing adhering junction containing M-cadherin, in the granule cell layer of the cerebellar glomerulus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 92, 6022–6026.
- Rubinfeld, B., Souza, B., Albert, I., Munemitsu, S., and Polakis, P. (1995). The APC protein and E-cadherin form similar but independent complexes with alpha-catenin, beta-catenin, and plakoglobin. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 5549–5555.
- Ruhrberg, C., and Watt, F. M. (1997). The plakin family: Versatile organizers of cytoskeletal architecture. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 7, 392–397.
- Ruhrberg, C., Hajibagheri, M. A., Simon, M., Dooley, T. P., and Watt, F. M. (1996). Envoplakin, a novel precursor of the cornified envelope that has homology to desmoplakin. *J. Cell Biol.* **134**, 715–729.
- Ruhrberg, C., Hajibagheri, M. A., Parry, D. A., and Watt, F. M. (1997). Periplakin, a novel component of cornified envelopes and desmosomes that belongs to the plakin family and forms complexes with envoplakin. J. Cell Biol. 139, 1835–1849.
- Ruiz, P., Brinkmann, V., Ledermann, B., Behrend, M., Grund, C., Thalhammer, C., Vogel, F., Birchmeier, C., Gunthert, U., Franke, W. W., and Birchmeier, W. (1996). Targeted mutation of plakoglobin in mice reveals essential functions of desmosomes in the embryonic heart. J. Cell Biol. 135, 215–225.
- Runswick, S. K., O'Hare, M. J., Jones, L., Streuli, C. H., and Garrod, D. R. (2001). Desmosomal adhesion regulates epithelial morphogenesis and cell positioning. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 3, 823–830.
- Sacco, P. A., McGranahan, T. M., Wheelock, M. J., and Johnson, K. R. (1995). Identification of plakoglobin domains required for association with N-cadherin and alpha-catenin. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270, 20201–20206.
- Sadot, E., Simcha, I., Iwai, K., Ciechanover, A., Geiger, B., and Ben-Ze'ev, A. (2000). Differential interaction of plakoglobin and beta-catenin with the ubiquitin-proteasome system. Oncogene 19, 1992–2001.
- Sato, M., Aoyama, Y., and Kitajima, Y. (2000). Assembly pathway of desmoglein 3 to desmosomes and its perturbation by pemphigus vulgaris-IgG in cultured keratinocytes, as revealed by time-lapsed labeling immunoelectron microscopy. *Lab. Invest.* 80, 1583–1592.
- Savagner, P., Yamada, K. M., and Thiery, J. P. (1997). The zinc-finger protein slug causes desmosome dissociation, an initial and necessary step for growth factor-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J. Cell Biol. 137, 1403–1419.
- Savagner, P., Kusewitt, D. F., Carver, E. A., Magnino, F., Choi, C., Gridley, T., and Hudson, L. G. (2005). Developmental transcription factor slug is required for effective re-epithelialization by adult keratinocytes. J. Am. Acad. 202, 858–866.
- Sawa, Y., Kuroshima, S., Yamaoka, Y., and Yoshida, S. (2005). Intracellular distribution of desmoplakin in human odontoblasts. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 53, 1099–1108.
- Schafer, S., Koch, P. J., and Franke, W. W. (1994). Identification of the ubiquitous human desmoglein, Dsg2, and the expression catalogue of the desmoglein subfamily of desmosomal cadherins. *Exp. Cell Res.* 211, 391–399.
- Schaffer, J. (1920). Vorlesungen über Histologie und Histogenese. Leipzig, Germany: W. Engelmann, 69.
- Schaffer, J. V., Bazzi, H., Vitebsky, A., Witkiewicz, A., Kovich, O. I., Kamino, H., Shapiro, L. S., Amin, S. P., Orlow, S. J., and Christiano, A. M. (2006). Mutations in the desmoglein 4 gene underlie localized autosomal recessive hypotrichosis with monilethrix hairs and congenital scalp erosions. J. Invest. Dermatol. 126, 1286–1291.

- Schenk, P. (1975). [Desmosomal structures in the cytoplasm of normal and abnormal keratinocytes (author's transl)]. Arch. Dermatol. Res. 253, 23–42.
- Schmelz, M., and Franke, W. W. (1993). Complexus adhaerentes, a new group of desmoplakin-containing junctions in endothelial cells: The syndesmos connecting retothelial cells of lymph nodes. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* **61**, 274–289.
- Schmelz, M., Moll, R., Kuhn, C., and Franke, W. W. (1994). Complexus adhaerentes, a new group of desmoplakin-containing junctions in endothelial cells: II. Different types of lymphatic vessels. *Differentiation* 57, 97–117.
- Schmidt, A., and Jager, S. (2005). Plakophilins—hard work in the desmosome, recreation in the nucleus? *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 84, 189–204.
- Schmidt, A., Langbein, L., Rode, M., Pratzel, S., Zimbelmann, R., and Franke, W. W. (1997). Plakophilins 1a and 1b: Widespread nuclear proteins recruited in specific epithelial cells as desmosomal plaque components. *Cell Tissue Res.* 290, 481–499.
- Schmidt, A., Langbein, L., Pratzel, S., Rode, M., Rackwitz, H. R., and Franke, W. W. (1999). Plakophilin 3—a novel cell-type-specific desmosomal plaque protein. *Differentiation* 64, 291–306.
- Schrön, O. (1865). Über die Porenkanäle in der Membran der Zellen des Rete Malpighii beim Menschen. Moleschotts Untersuch. Naturlehre 9.
- Schwarz, J., Ayim, A., Schmidt, A., Jager, S., Koch, S., Baumann, R., Dunne, A. A., and Moll, R. (2006). Differential expression of desmosomal plakophilins in various types of carcinomas: Correlation with cell type and differentiation. *Hum. Pathol.* **37**, 613–622.
- Seishima, M., Esaki, C., Osada, K., Mori, S., Hashimoto, T., and Kitajima, Y. (1995). Pemphigus IgG, but not bullous pemphigoid IgG, causes a transient increase in intracellular calcium and inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate in DJM-1 cells, a squamous cell carcinoma line. J. Invest. Dermatol. 104, 33–37.
- Setzer, S. V., Calkins, C. C., Garner, J., Summers, S., Green, K. J., and Kowalczyk, A. P. (2004). Comparative analysis of armadillo family proteins in the regulation of A431 epithelial cell junction assembly, adhesion and migration. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* **123**, 426–433.
- Shabana, A. H., Florescu, Z., Lecolle, S., Goldberg, M., and Forest, N. (1998). H-7 stimulates desmosome formation and inhibits growth in KB oral carcinoma cells. *Microsc. Res. Tech.* 43, 233–241.
- Shapiro, L., Fannon, A. M., Kwong, P. D., Thompson, A., Lehmann, M. S., Grubel, G., Legrand, J. F., Als-Nielsen, J., Colman, D. R., and Hendrickson, W. A. (1995). Structural basis of cell-cell adhesion by cadherins. *Nature* 374, 327–337.
- Sheu, H. M., Kitajima, Y., and Yaoita, H. (1989). Involvement of protein kinase C in translocation of desmoplakins from cytosol to plasma membrane during desmosome formation in human squamous cell carcinoma cells grown in low to normal calcium concentration. *Exp. Cell Res.* 185, 176–190.
- Shi, J., and Sugrue, S. P. (2000). Dissection of protein linkage between keratins and pinin, a protein with dual location at desmosome-intermediate filament complex and in the nucleus. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 14910–14915.
- Shibamoto, S., Hayakawa, M., Takeuchi, K., Hori, T., Oku, N., Miyazawa, K., Kitamura, N., Takeichi, M., and Ito, F. (1994). Tyrosine phosphorylation of betacatenin and plakoglobin enhanced by hepatocyte growth factor and epidermal growth factor in human carcinoma cells. *Cell Adhes. Commun.* 1, 295–305.
- Shiina, H., Breault, J. E., Basset, W. W., Enokida, H., Urakami, S., Li, L. C., Okino, S. T., Deguchi, M., Kaneuchi, M., Terashima, M., Yoneda, T., Shigeno, K., *et al.* (2005). Functional loss of the gamma-catenin gene through epigenetic and genetic pathways in human prostate cancer. *Cancer Res.* 65, 2130–2138.
- Shimizu, A., Ishiko, A., Ota, T., Tsunoda, K., Amagai, M., and Nishikawa, T. (2004). IgG binds to desmoglein 3 in desmosomes and causes a desmosomal split without keratin retraction in a pemphigus mouse model. J. Invest. Dermatol. 122, 1145–1153.

- Shimizu, S., Yamada, N., Sawada, T., Ikeda, K., Nakatani, K., Seki, S., Kaneda, K., and Hirakawa, K. (2000). Ultrastructure of early phase hepatic metastasis of human colon carcinoma cells with special reference to desmosomal junctions with hepatocytes. *Pathol. Int.* 50, 953–959.
- Shinohara, M., Hiraki, A., Ikebe, T., Nakamura, S., Kurahara, S., Shirasuna, K., and Garrod, D. R. (1998). Immunohistochemical study of desmosomes in oral squamous cell carcinoma: Correlation with cytokeratin and E-cadherin staining, and with tumour behaviour. J. Pathol. 184, 369–381.
- Shtivelman, E., Cohen, F. E., and Bishop, J. M. (1992). A human gene (AHNAK) encoding an unusually large protein with a 1.2-microns polyionic rod structure. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89, 5472–5476.
- Simcha, I., Geiger, B., Yehuda-Levenberg, S., Salomon, D., and Ben-Ze'ev, A. (1996). Suppression of tumorigenicity by plakoglobin: An augmenting effect of N-cadherin. J. Cell Biol. 133, 199–209.
- Simcha, I., Shtutman, M., Salomon, D., Zhurinsky, J., Sadot, E., Geiger, B., and Ben-Ze'ev, A. (1998). Differential nuclear translocation and transactivation potential of betacatenin and plakoglobin. J. Cell Biol. 141, 1433–1448.
- Simon, M., Montezin, M., Guerrin, M., Durieux, J. J., and Serre, G. (1997). Characterization and purification of human corneodesmosin, an epidermal basic glycoprotein associated with corneocyte-specific modified desmosomes. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 31770–31776.
- Simon, M., Jonca, N., Guerrin, M., Haftek, M., Bernard, D., Caubet, C., Egelrud, T., Schmidt, R., and Serre, G. (2001). Refined characterization of corneodesmosin proteolysis during terminal differentiation of human epidermis and its relationship to desquamation. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 20292–20299.
- Sjostrand, F. S., Andersson-Cedergren, E., and Dewey, M. M. (1958). The ultrastructure of the intercalated discs of frog, mouse and guinea pig cardiac muscle. J. Ultrastruct. Res. 1, 271–287.
- Skerrow, C. J., Clelland, D. G., and Skerrow, D. (1989). Changes to desmosomal antigens and lectin-binding sites during differentiation in normal human epidermis: A quantitative ultrastructural study. J. Cell Sci. 92, 667–677.
- Smith, C., Zhu, K., Merritt, A., Picton, R., Youngs, D., Garrod, D., and Chidgey, M. (2004). Regulation of desmocollin gene expression in the epidermis: CCAAT/enhancerbinding proteins modulate early and late events in keratinocyte differentiation. *Biochem. J.* 380, 757–765.
- Smith, E. A., and Fuchs, E. (1998). Defining the interactions between intermediate filaments and desmosomes. J. Cell Biol. 141, 1229–1241.
- Smith, F. J., Eady, R. A., Leigh, I. M., McMillan, J. R., Rugg, E. L., Kelsell, D. P., Bryant, S. P., Spurr, N. K., Geddes, J. F., Kirtschig, G., Milana, G., de Bono, A. G., et al. (1996). Plectin deficiency results in muscular dystrophy with epidermolysis bullosa. Nat. Genet. 13, 450–457.
- Sobolik-Delmaire, T., Katafiasz, D., and Wahl, J. K., 3rd (2006). Carboxyl terminus of plakophilin-1 recruits it to plasma membrane, whereas amino terminus recruits desmoplakin and promotes desmosome assembly. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 16962–16970.
- Solanas, G., Miravet, S., Casagolda, D., Castano, J., Raurell, I., Corrionero, A., de Herreros, A. G., and Dunach, M. (2004). beta-Catenin and plakoglobin N- and C-tails determine ligand specificity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 49849–49856.
- South, A. P. (2004). Plakophilin 1: An important stabilizer of desmosomes. Clin. Exp. Dermatol. 29, 161–167.
- South, A. P., Wan, H., Stone, M. G., Dopping-Hepenstal, P. J., Purkis, P. E., Marshall, J. F., Leigh, I. M., Eady, R. A., Hart, I. R., and McGrath, J. A. (2003). Lack of plakophilin 1

increases keratinocyte migration and reduces desmosome stability. J. Cell Sci. 116, 3303–3314.

- Sprecher, E., Molho-Pessach, V., Ingber, A., Sagi, E., Indelman, M., and Bergman, R. (2004). Homozygous splice site mutations in PKP1 result in loss of epidermal plakophilin 1 expression and underlie ectodermal dysplasia/skin fragility syndrome in two consanguineous families. J. Invest. Dermatol. 122, 647–651.
- Staehelin, L. A. (1974). Structure and function of intercellular junctions. Int. Rev. Cytol. 39, 191–283.
- Stanley, J. R., Koulu, L., Klaus-Kovtun, V., and Steinberg, M. S. (1986). A monoclonal antibody to the desmosomal glycoprotein desmoglein I binds the same polypeptide as human autoantibodies in pemphigus foliaceus. J. Immunol. 136, 1227–1230.
- Stappenbeck, T. S., and Green, K. J. (1992). The desmoplakin carboxyl terminus coaligns with and specifically disrupts intermediate filament networks when expressed in cultured cells. J. Cell Biol. 116, 1197–1209.
- Stappenbeck, T. S., Bornslaeger, E. A., Corcoran, C. M., Luu, H. H., Virata, M. L., and Green, K. J. (1993). Functional analysis of desmoplakin domains: Specification of the interaction with keratin versus vimentin intermediate filament networks. *J. Cell Biol.* 123, 691–705.
- Stappenbeck, T. S., Lamb, J. A., Corcoran, C. M., and Green, K. J. (1994). Phosphorylation of the desmoplakin COOH terminus negatively regulates its interaction with keratin intermediate filament networks. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 29351–29354.
- Straub, B. K., Boda, J., Kuhn, C., Schnoelzer, M., Korf, U., Kempf, T., Spring, H., Hatzfeld, M., and Franke, W. W. (2003). A novel cell-cell junction system: The cortex adhaerens mosaic of lens fiber cells. J. Cell Sci. 116, 4985–4995.
- Strnad, P., Windoffer, R., and Leube, R. E. (2001). In vivo detection of cytokeratin filament network breakdown in cells treated with the phosphatase inhibitor okadaic acid. Cell Tissue Res. 306, 277–293.
- Strnad, P., Windoffer, R., and Leube, R. E. (2002). Induction of rapid and reversible cytokeratin filament network remodeling by inhibition of tyrosine phosphatases. J. Cell Sci. 115, 4133–4148.
- Suzuki, S. T. (1996). Structural and functional diversity of cadherin superfamily: Are new members of cadherin superfamily involved in signal transduction pathway? J. Cell. Biochem. 61, 531–542.
- Swartzendruber, D. C. (1965). Desmosomes in germinal centers of mouse spleen. Exp. Cell Res. 40, 429–432.
- Syed, S. E., Trinnaman, B., Martin, S., Major, S., Hutchinson, J., and Magee, A. I. (2002). Molecular interactions between desmosomal cadherins. *Biochem. J.* 362, 317–327.
- Syrris, P., Ward, D., Evans, A., Asimaki, A., Gandjbakhch, E., Sen-Chowdhry, S., and McKenna, W. J. (2006). Arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia/cardiomyopathy associated with mutations in the desmosomal gene desmocollin-2. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 79, 978–984.
- Tada, H., Hatoko, M., Tanaka, A., Kuwahara, M., and Muramatsu, T. (2000). Expression of desmoglein I and plakoglobin in skin carcinomas. J. Cutan. Pathol. 27, 24–29.
- Tamarin, A., and Sreebny, L. M. (1963). An analysis of desmosome shape, size, and orientation by the use of histometric and densitometric methods with electron microscopy. J. Cell Biol. 18, 125–134.
- Theis, D. G., Koch, P. J., and Franke, W. W. (1993). Differential synthesis of type 1 and type 2 desmocollin mRNAs in human stratified epithelia. *Int. J. Dev. Biol.* **37**, 101–110.
- Troyanovsky, R. B., Chitaev, N. A., and Troyanovsky, S. M. (1996). Cadherin binding sites of plakoglobin: Localization, specificity and role in targeting to adhering junctions. J. Cell Sci. 109, 3069–3078.

- Troyanovsky, R. B., Klingelhofer, J., and Troyanovsky, S. (1999). Removal of calcium ions triggers a novel type of intercadherin interaction. J. Cell Sci. 112, 4379–4387.
- Troyanovsky, R. B., Sokolov, E. P., and Troyanovsky, S. M. (2006). Endocytosis of cadherin from intracellular junctions is the driving force for cadherin adhesive dimer disassembly. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 17, 3484–3493.
- Troyanovsky, S. (2005). Cadherin dimers in cell-cell adhesion. Eur. J. Cell Biol. 84, 225–233.
- Troyanovsky, S. M., Eshkind, L. G., Troyanovsky, R. B., Leube, R. E., and Franke, W. W. (1993). Contributions of cytoplasmic domains of desmosomal cadherins to desmosome assembly and intermediate filament anchorage. *Cell* 72, 561–574.
- Troyanovsky, S. M., Troyanovsky, R. B., Eshkind, L. G., Krutovskikh, V. A., Leube, R. E., and Franke, W. W. (1994a). Identification of the plakoglobin-binding domain in desmoglein and its role in plaque assembly and intermediate filament anchorage. *J. Cell Biol.* 127, 151–160.
- Troyanovsky, S. M., Troyanovsky, R. B., Eshkind, L. G., Leube, R. E., and Franke, W. W. (1994b). Identification of amino acid sequence motifs in desmocollin, a desmosomal glycoprotein, that are required for plakoglobin binding and plaque formation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **91**, 10790–10794.
- Tsatsopoulou, A. A., Protonotarios, N. I., and McKenna, W. J. (2006). Arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia, a cell-adhesion cardiomyopathy: Insights into disease pathogenesis from preliminary genotype-phenotype assessment. *Heart* 92, 1720–1723.
- Tselepis, C., Chidgey, M., North, A., and Garrod, D. (1998). Desmosomal adhesion inhibits invasive behavior. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 95, 8064–8069.
- Tsukita, S. (1985). Desmocalmin: A calmodulin-binding high molecular weight protein isolated from desmosomes. J. Cell Biol. 101, 2070–2080.
- Tsunoda, K., Ota, T., Aoki, M., Yamada, T., Nagai, T., Nakagawa, T., Koyasu, S., Nishikawa, T., and Amagai, M. (2003). Induction of pemphigus phenotype by a mouse monoclonal antibody against the amino-terminal adhesive interface of desmoglein 3. *J. Immunol.* **170**, 2170–2178.
- Valiron, O., Chevrier, V., Usson, Y., Breviario, F., Job, D., and Dejana, E. (1996). Desmoplakin expression and organization at human umbilical vein endothelial cell-tocell junctions. J. Cell Sci. 109, 2141–2149.
- van Hengel, J., Gohon, L., Bruyneel, E., Vermeulen, S., Cornelissen, M., Mareel, M., and von Roy, F. (1997). Protein kinase C activation upregulates intercellular adhesion of alpha-catenin-negative human colon cancer cell variants via induction of desmosomes. *J. Cell Biol.* 137, 1103–1116.
- Vasioukhin, V., Bauer, C., Yin, M., and Fuchs, E. (2000). Directed actin polymerization is the driving force for epithelial cell-cell adhesion. *Cell* 100, 209–219.
- Vasioukhin, V., Bowers, E., Bauer, C., Degenstein, L., and Fuchs, E. (2001). Desmoplakin is essential in epidermal sheet formation. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 3, 1076–1085.
- Wacker, I. U., Rickard, J. E., De Mey, J. R., and Kreis, T. E. (1992). Accumulation of a microtubule-binding protein, pp170, at desmosomal plaques. J. Cell Biol. 117, 813–824.
- Wahl, J. K., 3rd (2005). A role for plakophilin-1 in the initiation of desmosome assembly. J. Cell. Biochem. 96, 390–403.
- Wahl, J. K., Sacco, P. A., 3rd, McGranahan-Sadler, T. M., Sauppe, L. M., Wheelock, M. J., and Johnson, K. R. (1996). Plakoglobin domains that define its association with the desmosomal cadherins and the classical cadherins: Identification of unique and shared domains. J. Cell Sci. 109, 1143–1154.
- Wahl, J. K., Nieset, J. E., 3rd, Sacco-Bubulya, P. A., Sadler, T. M., Johnson, K. R., and Wheelock, M. J. (2000). The amino- and carboxyl-terminal tails of (beta)-catenin reduce its affinity for desmoglein 2. J. Cell Sci. 113, 1737–1745.

- Wallis, S., Lloyd, S., Wise, I., Ireland, G., Fleming, T. P., and Garrod, D. (2000). The alpha isoform of protein kinase C is involved in signaling the response of desmosomes to wounding in cultured epithelial cells. *Mol. Biol. Cell* **11**, 1077–1092.
- Wan, H., Stone, M. G., Simpson, C., Reynolds, L. E., Marshall, J. F., Hart, I. R., Hodivala-Dilke, K. M., and Eady, R. A. (2003). Desmosomal proteins, including desmoglein 3, serve as novel negative markers for epidermal stem cell-containing population of keratinocytes. J. Cell Sci. 116, 4239–4248.
- Wan, H., Dopping-Hepenstal, P. J., Gratian, M. J., Stone, M. G., Zhu, G., Purkis, P. E., South, A. P., Keane, F., Armstrong, D. K., Buxton, R. S., McGrath, J. A., Eady, R. A., *et al.* (2004). Striate palmoplantar keratoderma arising from desmoplakin and desmoglein 1 mutations is associated with contrasting perturbations of desmosomes and the keratin filament network. *Br. J. Dermatol.* **150**, 878–891.
- Wang, X., Bregegere, F., Frusic-Zlotkin, M., Feinmesser, M., Michel, B., and Milner, Y. (2004). Possible apoptotic mechanism in epidermal cell acantholysis induced by pemphigus vulgaris autoimmunoglobulins. *Apoptosis* 9, 131–143.
- Waschke, J., Bruggeman, P., Baumgartner, W., Zillikens, D., and Drenckhahn, D. (2005). Pemphigus foliaceus IgG causes dissociation of desmoglein 1-containing junctions without blocking desmoglein 1 transinteraction. J. Clin. Invest. 115, 3157–3165.
- Waschke, J., Spindler, V., Bruggeman, P., Zillikens, D., Schmidt, G., and Drenckhahn, D. (2006). Inhibition of Rho A activity causes pemphigus skin blistering. J. Cell Biol. 175, 721–727.
- Watt, F. M., Mattey, D. L., and Garrod, D. R. (1984). Calcium-induced reorganization of desmosomal components in cultured human keratinocytes. J. Cell Biol. 99, 2211–2215.
- Weiske, J., and Huber, O. (2005). Fate of desmosomal proteins in apoptotic epidermal cells. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 289, 175–192.
- Weiske, J., Schoneberg, T., Schroder, W., Hatzfeld, M., Tauber, R., and Huber, O. (2001). The fate of desmosomal proteins in apoptotic cells. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 41175–41181.
- Wheelock, M. J., and Jensen, P. J. (1992). Regulation of keratinocyte intercellular junction organization and epidermal morphogenesis by E-cadherin. J. Cell Biol. 117, 415–425.
- Whittock, N. V. (2003). Genomic sequence analysis of the mouse desmoglein cluster reveals evidence for six distinct genes: Characterization of mouse DSG4, DSG5, and DSG6. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* **120**, 970–980.
- Whittock, N. V., and Bower, C. (2003). Genetic evidence for a novel human desmosomal cadherin desmoglein 4. J. Invest. Dermatol. 120, 523–530.
- Whittock, N. V., Ashton, G. H., Dopping-Hepenstal, P. J., Gratian, M. J., Keane, F. M., Eady, R. A., and McGrath, J. A. (1999). Striate palmoplantar keratoderma resulting from desmoplakin haploinsufficiency. J. Invest. Dermatol. 113, 940–946.
- Whittock, N. V., Haftek, M., Angoulvant, N., Wolf, F., Perrot, H., Eady, R. A., and McGrath, J. A. (2000). Genomic amplification of the human plakophilin 1 gene and detection of a new mutation in ectodermal dysplasia/skin fragility syndrome. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 115, 368–374.
- Wiche, G., Krepler, R., Artlieb, U., Pytela, R., and Denk, H. (1983). Occurrence and immunolocalization of plectin in tissues. J. Cell Biol. 97, 887–901.
- Williams, B. O., Barish, G. D., Klymkowsky, M. W., and Varmus, H. E. (2000). A comparative evaluation of beta-catenin and plakoglobin signaling activity. Oncogene 19, 5720–5728.
- Williamson, L., Raess, N. A., Caldelari, R., Zakher, A., de Bruin, A., Posthaus, H., Bolli, R., Hunziker, T., Suter, M. M., and Muller, E. J. (2006). Pemphigus vulgaris identifies plakoglobin as key suppressor of c-Myc in the skin. *EMBO J.* 25, 3298–3309.
- Windoffer, R., Borchert-Stuhltrager, M., and Leube, R. E. (2002). Desmosomes: Interconnected calcium-dependent structures of remarkable stability with significant integral membrane protein turnover. J. Cell Sci. 115, 1717–1732.

- Windoffer, R., Woll, S., Strnad, P., and Leube, R. E. (2004). Identification of novel principles of keratin filament network turnover in living cells. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 15, 2436–2448.
- Winn, R. A., Bremnes, R. M., Bemis, L., Franklin, W. A., Miller, Y. E., Cool, C., and Heasley, L. E. (2002). gamma-Catenin expression is reduced or absent in a subset of human lung cancers and re-expression inhibits transformed cell growth. *Oncogene* 21, 7497–7506.
- Wolf, A., Keil, R., Gotzl, O., Mun, A., Schwarze, K., Lederer, M., Huttelmaier, S., and Hatzfeld, M. (2006). The armadillo protein p0071 regulates Rho signalling during cytokinesis. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 8, 1432–1440.
- Wu, H., Stanley, J. R., and Cotsarelis, G. (2003). Desmoglein isotype expression in the hair follicle and its cysts correlates with type of keratinization and degree of differentition. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* **120**, 1052–1057.
- Yamamoto, M., Bharti, A., Li, Y., and Kufe, D. (1997). Interaction of the DF3/MUC1 breast carcinoma-associated antigen and beta-catenin in cell adhesion. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 12492–12494.
- Yang, Z., Bowles, N. E., Scherer, S. E., Taylor, M. D., Kearney, D. L., Ge, S., Nadvoretskiy, V. V., DeFreitas, G., Carabello, B., Brandon, L. I., Godsel, L. M., Green, K. J., et al. (2006). Desmosomal dysfunction due to mutations in desmoplakin causes arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia/cardiomyopathy. Circ. Res. 99, 646–655.
- Yashiro, M., Nishioka, N., and Hirakawa, K. (2006). Decreased expression of the adhesion molecule desmoglein-2 is associated with diffuse-type gastric carcinoma. *Eur. J. Cancer* 42, 2397–2403.
- Yin, T., and Green, K. J. (2004). Regulation of desmosome assembly and adhesion. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 15, 665–677.
- Yin, T., Getsios, S., Caldelari, R., Godsel, L. M., Kowalczyk, A. P., Muller, E. J., and Green, K. J. (2005). Mechanisms of plakoglobin-dependent adhesion: Desmosomespecific functions in assembly and regulation by epidermal growth factor receptor. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 40355–40363.
- Yue, K. K., Holton, J. L., Clarke, J. P., Hyam, J. L., Hashimoto, T., Chidgey, M. A., and Garrod, D. R. (1995). Characterisation of a desmocollin isoform (bovine DSC3) exclusively expressed in lower layers of stratified epithelia. J. Cell. Sci. 108, 2163–2173.
- Zhou, J., Qu, J., Yi, X. P., Graber, K., Huber, L., Wang, X., Gerdes, A. M., and Li, F. (2007). Upregulation of gamma-catenin compensates for the loss of beta-catenin in adult cardiomyocytes. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* **292**, H270–H276.
- Zhou, X., Stuart, A., Dettin, L. E., Rodriguez, G., Hoel, B., and Gallicano, G. I. (2004). Desmoplakin is required for microvascular tube formation in culture. *J. Cell Sci.* **117**, 3129–3140.
- Zhurinsky, J., Shtutman, M., and Ben-Ze'ev, A. (2000). Plakoglobin and beta-catenin: Protein interactions, regulation and biological roles. J. Cell Sci. **113**, 3127–3139.
- Zlotogorski, A., Marek, D., Horev, L., Abu, A., Ben-Amitai, D., Gerad, L., Ingber, A., Frydman, M., Reznik-Wolf, H., Vardy, D. A., and Pras, E. (2006). An autosomal recessive form of monilethrix is caused by mutations in DSG4: Clinical overlap with localized autosomal recessive hypotrichosis. J. Invest. Dermatol. 126, 1292–1296.